#### Université Paris Dauphine

#### Paris Sciences et Lettres

Mémoire Intitulé

# Game theory and practice: models, axioms and algorithms

 $pr \acuteesent \acutee\ par$ 

Stefano Moretti

pour l'obtention du diplôme

#### Habilitation à Diriger des Recherches

COORDINATEUR:

Rida LARAKI, Directeur de Recherche au CNRS, Université Paris-Dauphine, France.

RAPPORTEURS:

Francsico J. ESTEBAN, Professeur à l'Université de Jaén, Espagne.

Martin HOEFER, Directeur de Recherche au Max-Planck-Institut für Informatik, Saarbrücken, Allemagne. Hervé MOULIN, Professeur à l'Université de Glasgow, Royaume-Uni.

EXAMINATEURS:

Christoph DÜRR, Directeur de Recherche au CNRS, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris, France. Michel GRABISCH, Professeur à l'Université Paris 1 Panthéon-Sorbonne, France. Pierre MARQUIS, Professeur à l'Université d'Artois, Lens, France.

### Preface

In this monograph I provide a summary of my recent research activity, with a particular emphasis on the results published after my arrival at Paris Dauphine University, where I work since 2010 as an associate scientist of the French National Centre for Scientific Research (French: *Centre national de la recherche scientifique*, CNRS).

The HDR (French: Habilitation à Diriger des Recherches) is a French degree which accredits to supervise PhD students, but it is also the opportunity to look at the past research and to plan the future. To make projects for the future is a good practice in every human activity, so it is the same in research. But we live in an uncertain world, and research is not spared from this reality. When we try to formulate models, axioms and algorithms to solve practical problems, we end up in theories. And theories can be generalized or particularized: this process may lead us to consider other practical problems, not even imagined before. This is the the strong interplay between theory and practice, a process that can be hardly predicted and that generates new models, axioms and algorithms, which are the basic ingredients of my research activity. This kind of "constructive" uncertainty, that I experienced several times during my past research work, led me to study problems that are quite different in their nature, and yet are characterized by a common pattern in their conceptualisation.

But what models, axioms and algorithms are? Avoiding an epistemic debate about these abstract objects (well away from the goals of this monograph and from my competences!) I would like to give here some intuitions based on common sense and real life examples.

Models are abstract and hyper-simplified representations of reality. For instance, we use models to teach to our children how to behave well in a society, or to predict at what time we need to wake up in order to catch the train that tomorrow will bring us to an important meeting. On the other hand, our computational resources are limited, we cannot process too much information in our models and, most important, we need to select the relevant parameters. Axioms may drive us to the selection of the "right" model and help us to characterize appropriate "solutions". For example, the problem of purchase a good car or a nice apartment, or the choice of a loyal mate, can be "solved" specifying the axioms that a car, an apartment or a mate should satisfy to be considered good, nice and loyal, respectively. Finally, algorithms are efficient procedures that allow to compute solutions are right and, if needed, to update and correct our models (e.g., like improving a receipt to prepare a good dish of pasta through repeated trials over the ingredients' proportions).

In these few lines all terms of the title have been shortly introduced except the first one: game. Games are in fact the main subjects of this monograph, and I invite the interested reader to go further in the text to discover the role played by games in my work. After all, once again, in real life as well as in doing research, we need to have fun...

Stefano Moretti Paris, April 2016

### Acknowledgements

Throughout my career I had the honour to interact with many exceptionally intelligent and talented people who deeply influenced my approach to research and, often, also to life. My gratitude to these persons remains intact over the time.

Among these persons, here I wish to thank all the members of my committee, for the precious time they spent to evaluate my work, and for being inspiring examples of scientists.

I am grateful to all my co-authors, for their fundamental contributions to the papers described in this dissertation, but also for the nice time spent enjoying their company. I have learned precious lessons from all of them.

I am also indebted with all my colleagues at LAMSADE, for creating a stimulating intellectual environment and generating the conditions for a pleasant everyday professional activity.

Many of these brilliant people are also my friends, and I am grateful to them also for this.

Last but not least, I express all my gratitude to the members of my family for their unceasing support: my gratitude for their love cannot be constrained by the size of any text. This monograph is warmly dedicated to them.

# Contents

1	Introduction	5
	1.1 Overview	6
	1.1.1 Issues not discussed in this monograph	7
	1.2 Preliminaries and notations	7
	1.2.1 Basic definitions on binary relations and graphs	8
	1.2.2 Basic definitions on games	8
<b>2</b>	Transferable Utility (TU-)games	12
	2.1 Overview of the chapter	12
		13
	2.3 Generalized additive games	17
	2.4 Argumentation games	19
		22
3	Ordinal coalitional situations	<b>23</b>
-		$\overline{23}$
	3.2 Ordinal power	$\overline{24}$
	3.2.1 A game theoretic approach	$\overline{24}$
	3.2.2 A social choice approach	26
	3.3 Preference extensions	$29^{-0}$
	3.4 Future directions	31
4	Algorithmic game theory	33
		33
	4.2 Strategic games on connection situations	34
	4.3 Congestion games	36
	4.4 Games on social networks	
	4.5 Future directions	38
<b>5</b>	Power indices and their applications	39
	5.1 Overview of the chapter	39
	5.2 Green networking	40
	5.3 An application of the inverse Banzhaf index problem	41
	5.4 Social capital	45
	5.5 Future directions	45
6	Bioinformatics and statistical analysis of biological data	47
	6.1 Overview of the chapter	
	6.2 Microarray games	47
	6.3 Game centrality on biological networks	49
	6.4 Statistical analysis of biological data	51
	6.5 Future directions	52
в	bliography	52
ום	Contributed papers	5⊿ 53
	Other papers	
	Outer papers a construction of the constructio	01

# Chapter 1 Introductio

### Introduction

In Game Theory it is usual to divide interaction situations into two main groups: *cooperative games*, where all kinds of agreements among the interacting agents (that are called *players*) are possible, and *non-cooperative games*, dealing with conflict situations where players cannot make binding agreements.

More precisely, in cooperative games, players may form *coalitions* with the objective to coordinate their actions and to obtain joint payoffs which exceed the sum of the individual payoffs. For example, cooperative games can be used to analyse cost allocation problems, where the players are willing to form coalitions in order to have extra monetary savings as an effect of cooperation. For instance, consider three nearby municipalities (namely, 1, 2 and 3) that must take the decision on whether to cooperate in order to implement a joint project, for instance, a Waste-water Treatment System (WTS). Suppose that each municipality 1, 2 and 3 could implement its own independent WTS at a cost of 5, 3 and 2 million euros, respectively. However, if they cooperate, they can reduce the cost of implementation thanks to a more efficient use of common facilities and resources. Suppose that the cost to implement a WTS is for each group of municipalities as follows (in million euros):  $c(\{1,2\}) = 7$ ,  $c(\{1,3\}) = 6$ ,  $c(\{2,3\}) = 4$  and  $c(\{1,2,3\}) = 8$  (the cost of a coalition of municipalities  $S \subseteq \{1,2,3\}$  is intended as the cost to implement a WTS serving the total area of municiplities in S). Together with the individual costs  $c(\{1\}) = 5, c(\{2\}) = 3, c(\{3\}) = 2$ , the map c, assigning to each coalition  $S \subseteq \{1, 2, 3\}$  the cost of implementing a WTS on S, is called *characteristic function* (see Section 1.2.2 for a formal definition of games in *characteristic* function form, also known as Transferable Utility (TU) games). Looking at the characteristic function c, it seems quite clear that cooperating and forming larger coalitions yields extra savings (in particular, we notice that the map c is sub-additive, i.e., the cost  $c(S \cup T)$  of the union of each pair of disjoint coalitions S and T is lower than the sum c(S) + c(T)). On the other hand, the opportunity to have extra savings is only a necessary condition to guarantee the cooperation! In fact, all the municipalities will coordinate their action only if they find an agreement on how to share the total cost of 8 million euros, corresponding to a WTS serving all the three municipalities. How to guarantee that coalition  $\{1, 2, 3\}$  forms? and which cost allocation will likely be adopted? These questions are the main issues in the analysis of TU games, and will be further discussed in Chapter 2.

The previous example illustrates an applications of cooperative games to a cost sharing problem. Sometimes, the outcome of a coalition of players does not represent an amount of money. Consider, for instance, three political parties, (again, 1, 2 and 3) that have 47%, 38%, and 15% of the seats of a parliament, respectively. A coalition of parties  $S \subseteq \{1, 2, 3\}$  is said to be winning if S is able to force the adoption of a decision in the parliament. For instance, suppose that decisions are taken using a simple majority rule (a voting requirement of more than half of all seats). So, only coalitions with more than one party will be a winning coalition. We can represent the parliament situation again as a cooperative game with characteristic function w such that  $w(\{1,2,3\}) = w(\{1,2\}) = w(\{1,3\}) = w(\{2,3\}) = 1$  and  $w(\{1\}) = w(\{2\}) = w(\{3\}) = w(\emptyset) = 0$ , where the value w(S) = 1 means that coalition S is winning, and w(S) = 0 means that S is losing. An important question, here, concerns the distribution of "power" among the players. Looking at the simple structure of winning and losing coalitions in the parliament example, we notice that, despite the differences in terms of number of seats, all the parties may form the same number of winning coalitions in a "symmetric" way (see Section 1.2.2 for more details). Consequently, we argue that they have the same opportunities to force the adoption of a decision. For more complex situations, classical game theoretical tools to measure the power of players are *power indices* [171, 86], that will be further discussed in Chapter 5.

As we already said, in non-cooperative games, players have not the possibility to sign an agreement and each player chooses to act in his own interest, keeping into account that the outcome of the game depends on the actions of all the players involved. Actions can be made simultaneously by players, as in the 'stone, paper, scissors' game or in 'matching pennies', or sequentially at several time moments, as in chess. A classical and illustrative example of non-cooperative (strategic) game with simultaneous actions is the "battle of sexes". The interaction situation involves a man and a woman who agreed to go out in the evening, either to a football match or to the opera. Unfortunately, they forgot which of the two special events they had agreed on. The man prefers the football match, the women prefers the opera, but both prefer being together to spending the night alone. They must decide simultaneously and they have no means to communicate <sup>1</sup>. We can represent this situation using the following table, where the available actions correspond to the choice of a row for the man, and to the choice of a column for the women, and the payoff at each combination of row and column must be read as follows: the first number is the payoff of the man, and the second one is the payoff of the woman <sup>2</sup>

	Football	Opera
Football	2, 1	0, 0
Opera	0, 0	1, 2

One of the main goals in the analysis of non-cooperative games is trying to predict the choice of the players. In the game of the battle of sexes, there is no clear indication of what is the best choice for the man and for the women. However the combination (Football, Football) and (Opera, Opera) are special, in the sense that the man and the woman's actions are "best replies" to each other: if the man chooses Football (Opera), then it is optimal for the woman to choose Opera (Football). A combination of actions of this type is called *Nash equilibrium* (for a formal definition see 1.2.2; see also Chapter 4 for some results on the existence of Nash equilibria for particular classes of games).

For a general introduction on cooperative situations we suggest the books [158, 151, 160, 148] and on noncooperative situations we suggest to look at [155, 152, 144, 82] (anyway, most of these readings deal with both cooperative and non-cooperative games).

#### 1.1 Overview

The structure of this monograph reflects the organization of my research activity around five main axes: (1) TU-games (Chapters 2), ordinal coalitional situations (Chapters 3), algorithmic game theory (Chapter 4), application of power indices (Chapters 5) and bioinformatics and statistical analysis of biological data (Chapter 6). The first three chapters mainly deal with game theoretical models, whereas the last two are more oriented to game practice and other applications.

An important part of my research activity focuses on the analysis of TU-games and their solutions, and is described in Chapter 2. To be more specific, in Section 2.2 we introduce cost sharing problems arising from connection situations, and, in particular, we discuss new cost allocation protocols for minimum cost spanning tree games [94] based on our contributions published in [10, 16, 22, 22, 23, 51, 26]. In Section 2.3, we describe the family of *generalized additive games*, a class of TU-games games recently introduced in [70] and [71] and where the worth of a coalition is evaluated as a sum over the "valuable" contributions of players involved in the cooperation. Section 2.4 deals with argumentation games, recently published in [43], where we proposed a method to evaluate the impact of arguments in a debate by merging the classical argumentation framework proposed in [111] into a game theoretic coalitional setting.

Chapter 3 focuses on models that we recently introduced to analyse coalitional situations where the strength of agents' interaction is characterized by a "qualitative" information. Section 3.2 focuses on the problem of how to generalize the notion of power index within an ordinal framework and is mainly based on the papers [5] and [72]. Section 3.3 is devoted to the problem of how to extend a ranking over single objects to another ranking over all possible collections of objects, taking into account the fact that objects grouped together can have mutual interaction. This part is mainly based on the articles [46, 3, 59].

Chapter 4 is devoted to algorithmic issues related to non-cooperative games, and in particular to problems arising from considering the dynamics of interaction among the players (e.g., better response dynamic). Section 4.2 is based on the article [47], where we analysed non-cooperative games based on connection situations, which are the counter-part of the cooperative framework considered in Section 2.2. In Section 4.3, we provide

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ Most of the classical introductory examples of games have been suggested at a time characterized by much less efficient communication facilities. Nowadays, we will assume that the mobile phones of the two players have run out of battery...

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Notice that the choice of the payoffs is purely ordinal: for instance, the payoff (2, 1) at position (Football, Football) compared to the payoff (1, 2) at combination (Opera, Opera) simply means that the men prefers the outcome (Football, Football) over (Opera, Opera), and the opposite for the woman; and both of them prefer being together to staying alone (payoff (0, 0))...

an overview of the main results recently published in [6], where we introduced a class of *congestion games* characterized by the fact that each resource is associated both with a capacity level, representing the maximum number of users that such a resource may simultaneously accommodate, and with an ordering on the users, prescribing the priority of accommodation of the users. Finally, Section 4.4, which is based on the paper [44], deals with games on social networks where the players interact only with their neighbours and the relationship between them can be modelled as simple two-player strategic games.

Chapter 5 deals with some recent contributions to the application of power indices to real-life situations. Section 5.2 is devoted to the problem of reducing the energy consumption over computer networks and is based on publications [49] and [48]. Section 5.3, is devoted to the discussion of a recent application of power indices presented in [54] to design a weighted majority voting system for the *Paris Science & Lettre* (PSL) Federal University. Finally, in Section 5.4 the problem of the measurement of "social capital", intended as the ability of individuals to gain benefits by utilizing their position in the society, is presented as an overview of the papers [4] and [8].

Chapter 6 is the last chapter of this monograph and is aimed at introducing and discussing our recent contributions on the application of coalitional games and their solutions to measure the importance of biological factors/variables in producing certain biological or epidemiological effects. We start in Section 6.2 with some results from publications [15, 37, 21, 17, 19, 14, 13, 50, 12, 9], where we introduced and applied alternative coalitional games to the analysis of large data-sets on gene expression. Then, Section 6.3, is focused on a recent approach described in our publication [11] to evaluate the "centrality" of genes in co-expression networks. Section 6.4 concludes with a very short presentation of recent results in the domain of the statistical analysis of biological data of human RNA (Ribonucleic acid) from publications [36, 38, 39, 40, 35], and, more recently, from [33, 31, 29, 32, 34, 30, 28, 27].

All chapters are provided with an introductory overview and a concluding section with future directions of research on the topics discussed in each chapter.

Finally, a list of bibliographic references is given at the end. The first part of the list collects the papers I contributed to (for most of them, the electronic version of this monograph is supplied with a link to the publication or to the journal website where it has been published). The second part (namely, section 'Other papers') lists the other publications cited in this monograph.

#### 1.1.1 Issues not discussed in this monograph

For space reasons (this monograph must not exceed fifty pages), I omit from this monograph the issues related to the following papers.

In [62], we developed a mathematical model for the analysis of a cost allocation problem in a consortium of municipalities for garbage collection. In [25], we studied a more general model of cost allocation (also inspired by a waste management problem) and taking into account the fact that collecting information on costs can be itself costly. In [20] we have analysed the role that social rules play in selecting an equilibrium in a contest of strategic interaction arising from (unexpected) states of the world. The results of this paper, which makes use of fuzzy logic and default reasoning, are applied to the context of Corporate Social Responsibility for the theoretical foundations of ethical codes. In [45] we considered Internet as composed of Autonomous Systems exchanging routes via the inter-domain routing protocol and we introduced an auction framework adapted to determine the price at which these routes can be sold. In [61], we have studied a cost allocation problem arising from water resource management in the framework of an irrigation project for the West Delta region, in Egypt. Within the same project framework, in [2] we introduced an application of cooperative game theory to a cost allocation problem taking into account the differences in the regional landscape of land sectors of the project area. In [50] we proposed an approach based on the framework of connection situations to represent the interactions between all possible pairs of genes from gene expression data. In [12] we have presented some contributions from the literature on the analysis of the behaviour of non-rational agents in the domain of computational biology, in particular using evolutionary games and coalitonal games.

For lack of space, I will neither discuss any further the research studies concerning the development of educational tools and learning models introduced in the papers [41, 42, 52, 53].

#### **1.2** Preliminaries and notations

In this section we introduce some basic definitions and notations that will be used in the following chapters.

#### **1.2.1** Basic definitions on binary relations and graphs

A binary relation R on a finite set  $N = \{1, \ldots, n\}$  is a collection of ordered pairs of elements of N, i.e.  $R \subseteq N \times N$ . For all elements  $x, y \in N$ , the more familiar notation xRy will be often used instead of the more formal one  $(x, y) \in R$ . We provide some standard properties for R. Reflexivity: for each  $x \in N$ , xRx; transitivity: for each  $x, y, z \in N$ , xRy and  $yRz \Rightarrow xRz$ ; totality: for each  $x, y \in N$ ,  $x \neq y \Rightarrow xRy$  or yRx; antisymmetry: for each  $x, y \in N$ , xRy and  $yRx \Rightarrow x = y$ . A reflexive and transitive binary relation is called preorder. A preorder that is also total is called total preorder. A total preorder that also satisfies antisymmetry is called linear order. The notation  $\neg(xRy)$  means that xRy is not true. We denote by  $2^N$  the power set of N and we use the notations  $\mathcal{T}^N$  and  $\mathcal{T}^{2^N}$  to denote the set of all total preorders on N and on  $2^N$ , respectively. Moreover, the cardinality of a set  $S \in 2^N$  is denoted by |S|.

Consider a total preorder  $\succcurlyeq \subseteq 2^N \times 2^N$  over the subsets of N. Often we will use the notation  $S \succ T$  to denote the fact that  $S \succcurlyeq T$  and  $\neg(T \succcurlyeq S)$  (in this case, we also say that the relation between S and T is 'strict'), and the notation  $S \sim T$  to denote the fact that  $S \succcurlyeq T$  and  $T \succcurlyeq S$ . For each  $i, j \in N, i \neq j$ , and all  $k = 1, \ldots, n-2$ , we denote by  $\sum_{ij}^k = \{S \in 2^{N \setminus \{ij\}} : |S| = k\}$  the set of all subsets of N not containing neither i nor j with k elements. Moreover, for each  $i, j \in N$ , we define the set  $D_{ij}^k(\succcurlyeq) = \{S \in \sum_{ij}^k : S \cup \{i\} \succcurlyeq S \cup \{j\}\}$  as the set of coalitions  $S \in 2^{N \setminus \{ij\}}$  of cardinality k such that  $S \cup \{i\}$  is in relation with  $S \cup \{j\}$ .

We provide now some basic definitions on graphs. An (undirected) graph is a pair  $\langle V, E \rangle$ , where V is a set of vertices or nodes and E is a set of edges e of the form  $\{i, j\}$  with  $i, j \in V, i \neq j$ . The complete graph on a set V of vertices is the graph  $\langle V, E_V \rangle$ , where  $E_V = \{\{i, j\} | i, j \in V \text{ and } i \neq j\}$ .

A path between i and j in a graph  $\langle V, E \rangle$  is a sequence of nodes  $(i_0, i_1, \ldots, i_k)$ , where  $i = i_0$  and  $j = i_k$ ,  $k \ge 1$ , such that  $\{i_s, i_{s+1}\} \in E$  for each  $s \in \{0, \ldots, k-1\}$  and such that all these edges are distinct. A cycle in  $\langle V, E \rangle$  is a path from i to i for some  $i \in V$ . A path  $(i_0, i_1, \ldots, i_k)$  is without cycles if there do not exist  $a, b \in \{0, 1, \ldots, k\}, a \ne b$ , such that  $i_a = i_b$ . Two nodes  $i, j \in V$  are connected in  $\langle V, E \rangle$  if i = j or if there exists a path between i and j in E. A connected component of V in  $\langle V, E \rangle$  is a maximal subset of V with the property that any two nodes in this subset are connected in  $\langle V, E \rangle$ .

For any set of edges  $E \subseteq E_V$ , let  $V(E) = \bigcup_{\{i,j\}\subseteq E}\{i,j\}$  be the set of vertices of edges in E and, for each  $T \subseteq V$ , let  $E(T) = \{\{i,j\}\in E: i,j\in T\}$  be the set of edges contained in T. Moreover, let  $G[T] = \langle T, E(T) \rangle$  be the subgraphs of  $\langle V, E \rangle$  induced by T.

A directed graph or digraph is a pair  $\langle V, A \rangle$ , where V is a set of vertices or nodes and A is a set of arcs a of the form (i, j) with  $i, j \in V$  and  $i \neq j$ , where arc (i, j) denotes the connection between i and j in the direction from i to j. The complete digraph on a set V of vertices is the graph  $\langle V, A_V \rangle$ , where  $A_V = V \times V$ . Given a digraph  $\langle V, A \rangle$ , we denote by  $A(S) \subseteq A$  the set of arcs in A whose vertices are in S, i.e.  $A(S) = \{(i, j) \in A | i, j \in S\}$ , for each  $S \subseteq V$ .

#### **1.2.2** Basic definitions on games

A Transferable Utility (TU) game (also referred to as coalitional game or game in characteristic function form) is a pair (N, v), where  $N = \{1, \ldots, n\}$  denotes the set of players and  $v : 2^N \to \mathbb{R}$  is the characteristic function, (by convention,  $v(\emptyset) = 0$ ). A group of players  $S \subseteq N$  is called *coalition* and v(S) is called the *value* or *worth* of the coalition S. If the set N of players is fixed, we identify a coalitional game (N, v) with its characteristic function v and we denote as  $\mathcal{C}^N$  the class of all coalitional games with N as the set of players.

A game (N, v) is said to be *monotonic* if it holds that  $v(S) \leq v(T)$  for all  $S, T \subseteq N$  such that  $S \subseteq T$  and it is said to be *superadditive* if it holds that

$$v(S \cup T) \ge v(S) + v(T)$$

for all  $S, T \subseteq N$  such that  $S \cap T = \emptyset$ .

Moreover, a game (N, v) is said to be *convex* or *supermodular* if it holds that

$$v(S \cup T) + v(S \cap T) \ge v(S) + v(T)$$

for all  $S, T \subseteq N$ . Equivalently, a game (N, v) is said to be convex if the marginal contribution of any player to any coalition is not strictly larger than his marginal contribution to a larger coalition, *i.e.* if it holds that

$$v(S \cup \{i\}) - v(S) \le v(T \cup \{i\}) - v(T)$$
(1.1)

for all  $i \in N$  and all  $S \subseteq T \subseteq N \setminus \{i\}$ .

The unanimity game  $(N, u_S)$  on  $S \subseteq N$  is the game described by  $u_S(T) = 1$  if  $S \subseteq T$  and  $u_S(T) = 0$ , otherwise, for each  $T \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ . Every coalitional game (N, v) can be written as a linear combination of unanimity games in a unique way, *i.e.*  $v = \sum_{S \subseteq N, S \neq \emptyset} \lambda_S(v) u_S$ . The coefficients  $\lambda_S(v)$ , for each  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , are called *unanimity coefficients* of the game (N, v). Given a coalitional game (N, v) and a non-empty coalition  $S \subseteq N$ , the subgame of v on S is defined as the game  $(S, v|_S)$  such that  $v|_S(T) = v(T)$  for all  $T \subseteq S$ .

An imputation of a game (N, v) is a vector  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $\sum_{i \in N} x_i = v(N)$  (efficiency) and  $x_i \ge v(\{i\})$  for all  $i \in N$  (individual rationality). An important subset of the set of the imputations is the *core*, which represents a classical solution concept for TU-games. The *core* C(v) of v is defined as the set of efficient payoff vectors for which no coalition has an incentive to leave the grand coalition N, precisely,

$$C(v) = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \sum_{i \in N} x_i = v(N), \sum_{i \in S} x_i \ge v(S) \quad \forall S \subset N \}.$$

A population monotonic allocation scheme or pmas [173] of the game (N, v) is a scheme  $x = \{x_{S,i}\}_{S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}, i \in S}$  with the properties

i) 
$$\sum_{i \in S} x_{S,i} = v(S)$$
 for all  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ ;  
ii)  $x_{S,i} \leq x_{T,i}$  for all  $S, T \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  and  $i \in N$  with  $i \in S \subset T^3$ .

A pmas provides an allocation vector for every coalition in a monotonic way, *i.e.* the value allocated to some player increase if the coalition to which he belongs becomes larger. It is easy to check that a pmas provides a core element for the game and all its subgames.

A one-point solution (or simply a solution) for a class  $\mathcal{C}^N$  of coalitional games with n players is a function  $\psi$  that assigns a payoff vector  $\psi(v)$  to every coalitional game in the class, that is  $\psi : \mathcal{C}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ .

An important family of solutions for TU-games are probabilistic values [179]. A probabilistic value (or probabilistic power index) for the game v is an n-vector  $\pi^p(v) = (\pi_1^p(v), \ldots, \pi_n^p(v))$ , such that

$$\pi_i^p(v) = \sum_{S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i\}}} p^i(S) m_i(S)$$
(1.2)

where  $m_i(S) = v(S \cup \{i\}) - v(S)$  is the marginal contribution of i to  $S \cup \{i\}$ , for each  $i \in N$  and  $S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i\}}$ , and  $p = (p^i : 2^{N \setminus \{i\}} \to \mathbb{R}^+)_{i \in N}$ , is a collection of non negative real-valued functions fulfilling the condition  $\sum_{S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i\}}} p^i(S) = 1$ . A probabilistic value  $\pi_i^p$  is called *regular* when all the coordinates of p are strictly positive functions. A particular interesting case is when the probabilistic value  $\pi^p$  is a semivalue [110], which means that non negative weights  $p_0, \ldots, p_{n-1}$  are given such that  $p^i(S) = p_s$ , whenever the cardinality of coalition Sis equal to s and  $i \in N^4$ ; furthermore, it is required that  $\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} p_k \binom{n-1}{k} = 1$ , in order to fulfil the condition  $\sum_{S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i\}} p_s = 1$ ; thus  $\mathbf{p} = (p_0, \ldots, p_{n-1})$  represents a probability distribution on the family of the subsets of N not containing i, and it is the same for all  $i \in N$ . We shall denote by  $\mathbf{p}$  a vector  $(p_0, \ldots, p_{n-1})$  as above, and, by a slight abuse of notation,  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}}$  is the semivalue engendered by the vector  $\mathbf{p}$ . Hence, for each  $i \in N$ 

$$\pi_i^{\mathbf{p}}(v) = \sum_{S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i\}}} p_s m_i(S).$$
(1.3)

We shall denote by S the set of all semivalues for the given fixed set N. The two most famous regular semivalues (i.e., with  $p_s > 0$ , for each  $s = 0, \ldots, n-1$ ) are the *Shapley value* [170]  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}^{\phi}}$ , with  $p_s^{\phi} = \frac{1}{n\binom{n-1}{s}}$ , and the *Banzhaf value* [86]  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}^{\beta}}$ , with  $p_s^{\beta} = \frac{1}{2^{n-1}}$ , for each  $s = 0, \ldots, n-1$ . Other regular semivalues are present in the literature [104, 102, 103, 120, 142]. In order to simplify notations, in the following we will often use the notation  $\phi(v)$  and  $\beta(v)$  to denote, respectively, the Shapley value and the Banzhaf value of game v.

We recall some nice properties of the Shapley value  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}^{\phi}}$  of a coalitional game (N, v): efficiency (EFF), i.e.  $\sum_{i \in N} \phi_i(v) = v(N)$ ; symmetry (SYM), i.e. if  $i, j \in N$  are such that  $v(S \cup \{i\}) = v(S \cup \{j\})$  for all  $S \subseteq N \setminus \{i, j\}$ , then  $\phi_i(v) = \phi_j(v)$ ; dummy player property (DPP), i.e. if  $i \in N$  is such that  $v(S \cup \{i\}) - v(S) = v(\{i\})$  for all  $S \subseteq N$ , then  $\phi_i(v) = v(\{i\})$ ; additivity (ADD), i.e.  $\phi(v) + \phi(w) = \phi(v + w)$  for each  $v, w \in \mathcal{C}^N$ . It is well known that the Shapley value is the only solution that satisfies these four properties on the class  $\mathcal{C}^N$  of all TU-games with N as the set of players [170].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Note that all the previous definitions hold for TU-games where v represents a gain, while the inequalities should be replaced with  $\leq$  when v is a cost function.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Observe:  $p_0 = p^i(\emptyset)$  for all  $i \in N$ .

The Shapley value  $\phi(v)$  of a game (N, v) is often introduced as the average of marginal vectors over all n! possible orders of players (we denote by  $S_N$  the set of all bijections  $\sigma : N \to N$ , where  $\sigma(i) = j$  means that with respect to  $\sigma$ , player j is in the *i*-th position). In formula

$$\phi_i(v) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} m_i^{\sigma}(v) \text{ for all } i \in N,$$
(1.4)

where for each  $\sigma \in S_N$ , the marginal vector  $m^{\sigma}(v)$  is defined by

$$m_i^{\sigma}(v) = v([i,\sigma]) - v((i,\sigma))$$
 for all  $i \in N$ ,

where  $[i,\sigma] = \{j \in N : \sigma^{-1}(j) \le \sigma^{-1}(i)\}$  is the set of predecessors of *i* with respect to  $\sigma$  including *i*, and  $(i,\sigma) = \{j \in N : \sigma^{-1}(j) < \sigma^{-1}(i)\}$  is the set of predecessors of *i* with respect to  $\sigma$  excluding *i*.

Basic combinatorial considerations on relation (1.4) lead to the equivalent definition (1.3) with  $p_s^{\phi} = \frac{1}{n\binom{n-1}{s}}$  for each  $s = 0, \ldots, n-1$ . A still alternative formulation of the Shapley value (that will be used in the following) is provided in terms of the unanimity coefficients  $(\lambda_S(v))_{S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}}$  of a game (N, v), that is:

$$\phi_i(v) = \sum_{S \subseteq N: i \in S} \frac{\lambda_S(v)}{|S|} \tag{1.5}$$

for each  $i \in N$ .

A coalitional game (N, v) such that  $v(S) \in \{0, 1\}$  (i.e., the worth of every coalition is either 0 or 1) for each  $S \in 2^N$  and v(N) = 1 is said a *simple game*. The standard interpretation for these games is to consider coalitions as "winning" (v(S) = 1) or "losing" (v(S) = 0). A particular class of simple games is the one of weighted majority games, where the players in N are associated to a vector of n = |N| weights  $(w_1, \ldots, w_n)$  and a majority quota q is given. A weighted majority game  $(N, v^w)$  on the weight w and the quota q is such that for each  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ :

$$v^{w}(S) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \sum_{i \in S} w_i > q, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1.6)

For a monotonic simple game (N, v) and a player  $i \in N$ , a coalition  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  with  $i \in S$  and such that v(S) = 1 and  $v(S \setminus \{i\}) = 0$  is said a *swing* for i (and player i is said *critical* for S) and we denote by  $s_i(v)$  the number of swings for player i in game v. It is easy to check that the *normalized* Banzhaf value  $\overline{\beta}(v)$  of v can be defined for monotonic simple games as follows:

$$\bar{\beta}_i(v) = \frac{\beta_i(v)}{\sum_{i \in N} \beta_i(v)} = \frac{s_i(v)}{\sum_{i \in N} s_i(v)},\tag{1.7}$$

for each  $i \in N$ .

Given a (communication) network  $\langle N, E \rangle$ , following the approach in [150], we define a new game  $(N, w_E^v)$ , where the value  $w_E^v(S)$  of a coalition  $S \subseteq N$  equals the sum of the values assigned by v to the connected components of the network restricted to this coalition S. The game  $w_E^v$  is called the graph-restricted game. Formally,

$$w_E^v(S) = \sum_{T \in C_{E(S)}} v(T)$$
(1.8)

for each  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , where, according to the notations of Section 1.2.1,  $E(S) = \{e \in E | e \subseteq S\}$  is the set of edges with vertices in S and  $C_{E(S)}$  is the set of all the connected components in the subgraph  $\langle S, E(S) \rangle$ , and with the convention  $w_E^v(\emptyset) = 0$ . The Shapley value of game  $w_E^v$  is known as the Myerson value [150] of the communication situation  $\langle N, v, E \rangle$  and denoted by  $\mu(v, E)$ .

We give now some basic definitions on strategic games. A strategic game is a tuple  $\langle N, (S_i)_{i \in N}, (u_i)_{i \in N} \rangle$ where  $N = \{1, \ldots, n\}$  is the set of players,  $S_i$  is a finite set of pure strategies or actions for player *i* and  $u_i : \prod_{j \in N} S_i \to \mathbb{R}$  is a payoff function specifying for each strategy profile or state  $s = (s_i)_{i \in N} \in \prod_{j \in N} S_i$  player *i*'s payoff  $u_i(s) \in \mathbb{R}$ , for each  $i \in N$ . Given a strategy profile  $s = (s_i)_{i \in N} \in \prod_{j \in N} S_i$ , in the following,  $s_{-i}$ will denote *s* from which the strategy of player *i* is removed, i.e.  $s_{-i} = (s_1, \ldots, s_{i-1}, s_{i+1}, s_n)$  and  $(x, s_{-i})$  will denote the strategy profile *s* from which  $s_i$  is replaced by  $x \in S_i$ , i.e.  $(x, s_{-i}) = (s_1, \ldots, s_{i-1}, x, s_{i+1}, s_n)$ . Given a strategic game  $\langle N, (S_i)_{i \in N}, (u_i)_{i \in N} \rangle$ , a pure strategy  $x \in S_i$  is a *better response* of player *i* with respect to the strategy profile  $s = (s_i)_{i \in N} \in \prod_{j \in N} S_i$  if  $u_i(x, s_{-i}) \ge u_i(s)$ ; we say that *x* is a *best response* to  $s_{-i}$  when  $u_i(x, s_{-i}) = \max_{y \in S_i} u_i(y, s_{-i})$ .

A state  $s = (s_i)_{i \in N} \in \prod_{j \in N} S_i$  is a *(pure) Nash equilibrium* of the strategic game  $\langle N, (S_i)_{i \in N}, (u_i)_{i \in N} \rangle$ , if for every player  $i \in N$ , it holds that  $s_i$  is a *best response* to  $s_{-i}$  for each  $i \in N$ .

A Better Response Dynamic (BRD, also called Nash dynamics) (associated with a strategic game  $\langle N, (S_i)_{i \in N}, (u_i)_{i \in N} \rangle$ ) is a sequence of states  $s^0, s^1, s^2, \ldots \in \prod_{j \in N} S_i$  such that each state  $s^k \in \prod_{j \in N} S_i$  (except  $s^0$ ) is resulted by a better response of some player from the state  $s^{k-1}$ . Note that if a better response dynamic reaches a Nash equilibrium after a finite number of states, then no further changes of strategies are expected (if we assume that a player changes his strategy only if he strictly prefers a different strategy).

Sometimes the payoff function  $u_i$ ,  $i \in N$ , will be replaced by a cots function  $c_i$ , for each player  $i \in N$ : in this case we will call the tuple  $\langle N, (S_i)_{i \in N}, (c_i)_{i \in N} \rangle$  a strategic cost game and the inequality in the definition of better response is replaced with  $\leq$ , and the max in the definition of best response is replaced with min.

### Chapter 2

## Transferable Utility (TU-)games

#### 2.1 Overview of the chapter

This chapter focuses on the property-driven design of solutions for TU-games that are robust against coalitional deviations in a dynamic framework, and on the generation of efficient algorithms for their computation.

In Section 2.2, we introduce and discuss cost sharing problems arising from connection situations [64]. A connection situation takes place in the presence of a group of agents, each of whom needs to be connected directly or via other agents to a source. Since links are costly, agents evaluate the opportunity of cooperating in order to reduce costs. If a group of agents decides to cooperate, a minimum cost spanning tree (mcst) (which minimizes the total cost of connection) is constructed and the total cost of the tree must be shared among the agents of the group. Examples of connection situation are the problem of building a telecommunication network connecting some users with a service provider: players are the users, the source is the service provider and the costs over the links may represent the communication costs of each pair of users, or of a user and the service provider. The problem of finding an most can be easily solved by means of alternative algorithms proposed in the literature (e.g. Kruskal's algorithm [136], Prim's algorithm [163], etc.). However, finding an most does not guarantee that it is going to be really implemented: players must still support the cost of the most and then a cost allocation problem must be addressed. This cost allocation problem was introduced in [106] and has been studied with the aid of cooperative game theory since the basic paper [94]. After this seminal paper, many cost allocation methods have been proposed in the literature on mcst games (see, for instance, [97, 115, 128, 92]). More recently, we introduced some alternative approaches aimed at considering connection situations in a dynamic framework [64]. In fact, in many applications the number of agents can vary in time, and also increasing or decreasing of connection costs may occur. In [16], we introduced a new family of cost allocation protocols for connection situations. As discussed in more details in Section 2.2, these allocation protocols charge the agents with 'fractions' of the cost of each edge constructed at each step of the Kruskal's algorithm. It turns out that a subclass of these cost allocation protocols coincides with the class of Obligations rules [22], which are cost monotonic and induce a population monotonic allocation scheme (pmas) (see Section 1.2.2 for a formal definition of pmas). Connection networks and coalitional games are also the main subjects of the joint-papers [24, 26, 23, 51, 25]. Connection situations where the costs on the edges are interval numbers have been introduced in [10] and are briefly discussed at the end of Section 2.2. On these situations, we generalized the approach introduced in [22, 16] to interval costs and we analyzed the monotonicity and other properties of mcst solutions.

Section 2.3 is devoted to another class of cooperative games, namely, the class of Generalized Additive Games (GAGs), recently introduced in  $[70]^1$ . In a GAG, the worth of a coalition  $S \subseteq N$  is evaluated by means of an interaction filter, that is a map  $\mathcal{M}$  which returns the valuable players involved in the cooperation among players in S. The paper starts from the consideration that in some cases the procedure used to assess the worth of a coalition  $S \subseteq N$  is strongly related to the sum of the individual values over another subset  $S \subseteq N$ , not necessarily included in S. Several examples from the literature fall into this category (for instance, the class of argumentation games introduced in [43] and discussed in Section 2.4, and many other operation research games[97]). Moreover, by making further hypothesis on the filter  $\mathcal{M}$ , our approach in [70] enables to classify existing games based on the properties of the map  $\mathcal{M}$ . In particular, in [70] we introduced and studied the class

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The results presented in the paper [70] originate from a collaboration with Giulia Cesari, student of a joint PhD program at *Paris Dauphine University*, under my supervision, and at *Politecnico di Milano*, in Italy, under the supervision of Roberto Lucchetti.

of basic GAGs, which is characterized by the fact that the valuable players in a coalition S are selected on the basis of the presence, among the players in S, of their *friends* and *enemies*: precisely, a player contributes to the value of S if and only if S contains at least one of his friends and none of his enemies is present. These situations seem to well represent an online social network where the players (e.g., the members of a social network) are provided with a utility value that may represent their individual activity in a social networking web site (for instance, measured in terms of the productive time spent in uploading content files), and the participation of each player to the global activity of the social network is based on a coalitional structure of friends and enemies that is determined by their social profiles. In [71], we provided formulas for the easy computation, under certain conditions, of several classical solutions from cooperative game theory on basic GAG (e.g., the semivalues and the core).

Finally, Section 2.4 deals with the family of argumentation games introduced in [43], where we proposed a method to compute the relative relevance of arguments by merging the classical argumentation framework proposed in [111] into a game theoretic coalitional setting, where the *worth* of a collection of arguments can be seen as the combination of the information concerning the defeat relation and the preferences over arguments of a "user". In fact, a central problem faced by agents in a multi-agent debate is that they have to put forward arguments taking into account their own goals, but also how the audience may react to their arguments and the rules of the debate. Consider, for instance, the attitude of politicians participating to public debates: their choice to embrace arguments often depends on factors like the popularity of the arguments, a degree of personnel satisfaction, the consensus generated by those arguments in an assembly or in a forum, the contiguity with a political position, etc. This results in a complex decision-making problem, where most of the parameters are likely to be uncertain: what are the arguments known by other agents? what are their own goals? The final goal of the study presented in [43], and shortly resumed in Section 2.4, is to measure the relative importance of arguments for an agent taking part in a debate, and keeping into account both her/his own preferences as represented by a utility function defined over the set of arguments - and the information provided by the attack relations among arguments. Following [43], we also provide an axiomatic characterization of the Shapley value for coalitional games defined over an argumentation framework, and we show that, for a large family of (coalitional) argumentation frameworks, the Shapley value can be easily computed.

#### 2.2 Minimum cost spanning tree games

A connection situation or minimum cost spanning tree (mcst) situation is represented by a set  $N = \{1, ..., n\}$ of agents that are willing to be connected as cheap as possible to a source (*i.e.* a supplier of a service) denoted by 0, based on a given weight (or cost) system of connection. In the sequel we use the notation  $S' = S \cup \{0\}$ , for each set  $S \subseteq N$ , and w for the weight function, *i.e.* a map which assigns to each edge or link of the form  $\{i, j\}$  (with  $i, j \in N', i \neq j$ ) a non-negative number  $w(\{i, j\})$  representing the weight or cost of edge  $\{i, j\}$ . We denote an mcst situation with set of users N, source 0, and weight function w by  $\langle N', w \rangle$  (or simply w). Further, we denote by  $W^{N'}$  the set of all mcst situations w with node set N'.

Let  $E_{S'} = \{\{i, j\} | i, j \in S' \text{ and } i \neq j\}$  be the set of all possible edges between elements in  $S', S \subseteq N, S \neq \emptyset$ . The cost of a *network*  $\langle S', \Gamma \rangle$  with  $\Gamma \subseteq E_{N'}$  is  $w(\Gamma) = \sum_{e \in \Gamma} w(e)$ . An indirected graph  $\langle S', \Gamma \rangle$  is a *spanning network* on  $S' \subseteq N'$  if for every  $e \in \Gamma$  we have  $e \in E_{S'}$  and for every  $i \in S$  there is a path in  $\langle S', \Gamma \rangle$  from *i* to the source. For any most situation  $w \in W^{N'}$  it is possible to determine at least one *spanning tree* on N', i.e. a spanning network without circuits on N', of minimum cost; each spanning tree of minimum cost is called an *most* for N' in *w* or, shorter, an most for *w*. In order to find a most, one can use the Kruskal algorithm [136] that works in the following way: in the first step an edge between two nodes in  $N \cup \{0\}$  of minimal cost is formed. In every subsequent step, a new edge of minimal cost is formed, under the constraint that no cycles are formed with the edges constructed at the previous steps. In summary, a sequence of edges is produced and after *n* steps an most appears. Since some edges may have the same cost, different mosts may be selected by the Kruskal algorithm, depending on the ordering of the edges with respect to their increasing costs which has been considered in the Kruskal algorithm.

**Example 1.** In this example (inspired by [24]) we consider a minimum cost spanning tree situation arising from the problem of car pooling. Suppose that three employees of a firm consider the possibility of car pooling in order to reduce their daily travel cost. The cost of driving a car from one employee to another or from one employee to the firm are given in Figure 2.1. Here the employees are denoted by 1, 2, and 3 and the firm by 0. To each edge  $e \in E_{\{0,1,2,3\}}$  is assigned a non-negative number w(e) representing the cost of edge e. A minimum cost spanning tree in this mest situation  $< \{0, 1, 2, 3\}, w > is$  the network  $\Gamma = \{\{0, 1\}, \{1, 2\}, \{1, 3\}\}$  with cost



Figure 2.1: An most situation  $\langle \{0, 1, 2, 3\}, w \rangle$  (left side) and a related most (right side).

 $w(\Gamma) = 48$ . This network  $\Gamma$  corresponds to the plan of car pooling in which employees 2 and 3 drive their car in solitude to employee 1 where all employees take one car in order to drive together to the firm.

Let  $\langle N', w \rangle$  be an most situation. The minimum cost spanning tree game  $(N, c_w)$  (or simply  $c_w$ ), corresponding to  $\langle N', w \rangle$ , is defined by

$$c_w(S) = \min\{w(\Gamma) | < S', \Gamma > \text{ is a spanning network on } S'\}$$

for every  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , with the convention that  $c_w(\emptyset) = 0$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{MCST}^N$  the class of all most games corresponding to most situations in  $\mathcal{W}^{N'}$ .

**Example 2.** Consider the mcst situation  $\langle N', w \rangle$  with  $N' = \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$  and w as depicted in Figure 2.1. If  $S = \{1, 2\}$  then a minimum cost spanning network for S is  $\Gamma = \{\{1, 2\}, \{0, 1\}\}$  with cost 36, whereas the minimum cost spanning network for  $S = \{3\}$  is  $\Gamma = \{\{0, 3\}\}$  with cost 26. Proceeding in this way we find that the mcst game  $(N, c_w)$ , corresponding to  $\langle N', w \rangle$ , is given by

$$c_w(123) = 48,$$
  
 $c_w(12) = 36,$   $c_w(13) = 36,$   $c_w(23) = 44,$   
 $c_w(1) = 24,$   $c_w(2) = 24,$   $c_w(3) = 26.$ 

Note that the allocation  $(x_1, x_2, x_3) = (24, 12, 12)$ , assigning to each player  $i \in N$  the cost of the link from i to its predecessor on the unique path from the source to i in the most of Figure 2.1, is in the core of game  $(N, c_w)$ .

Given a most situation  $\langle N', w \rangle$ , allocations provided by the procedure assigning to each player  $i \in N$  the cost of the link from i to its predecessor on the unique path from the source to i in an optimal tree is called *Bird allocation* [94], and is always in the core of the associated most  $c_w \in \mathcal{MCST}^N$  [94, 128]. Note that the allocation  $(x_1, x_2, x_3) = (24, 12, 12)$  is the Bird allocation associated to the most of Figure 2.1.

In [16, 22, 24] we have studied several solutions for mcst situations. Precisely, a *solution* is a map  $F : \mathcal{W}^{N'} \to \mathbb{R}^N$  assigning to every *mcst* situation  $w \in \mathcal{W}^{N'}$  a unique allocation in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . An interesting family of solutions is the class of *Obligation rules*, introduced in [22].

In order to provide a formal definition of Obligation rules we need some further notations. We define the set  $\Sigma_{E_{N'}}$  of *linear orders* on  $E_{N'}$  as the set of all bijections  $\sigma$  :  $\{1, \ldots, |E_{N'}|\} \to E_{N'}$ , where  $|E_{N'}|$ is the cardinality of the set  $E_{N'}$ . For each most situation  $\langle N', w \rangle$  there exists at least one linear order  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{E_{N'}}$  such that  $w(\sigma(1)) \leq w(\sigma(2)) \leq \ldots \leq w(\sigma(|E_{N'}|))$ . We denote by  $w^{\sigma}$  the column vector  $(w(\sigma(1)), w(\sigma(2)), \ldots, w(\sigma(|E_{N'}|)))^t$ .

For any  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{E_{N'}}$  we define the set

$$K^{\sigma} = \{ w \in \mathbb{R}^{E_{N'}}_+ \mid w(\sigma(1)) \le w(\sigma(2)) \le \ldots \le w(\sigma(|E_{N'}|)) \}.$$

The set  $K^{\sigma}$  is a cone in  $\mathbb{R}^{E_{N'}}_+$ , which we call the *Kruskal cone with respect to*  $\sigma$  (corresponding to the ordering of the edges considered according to the Kruskal algorithm). One can easily see that  $\bigcup_{\sigma \in \Sigma_{E_{N'}}} K^{\sigma} = \mathbb{R}^{E_{N'}}_+$ .

Let  $w \in \mathcal{W}^{N'}$  and let  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{E_{N'}}$  be such that  $w \in K^{\sigma}$ . We can consider a sequence of precisely  $|E_{N'}| + 1$  graphs  $\langle N', F^{\sigma,0} \rangle, \langle N', F^{\sigma,1} \rangle, \ldots, \langle N', F^{\sigma,|E_{N'}|} \rangle$  such that  $F^{\sigma,0} = \emptyset, F^{\sigma,k} = F^{\sigma,k-1} \cup \{\sigma(k)\}$  for each

 $k \in \{1, \ldots, |E_{N'}|\}$ . For each graph  $\langle N', F^{\sigma,k} \rangle$ , with  $k \in \{0, 1, \ldots, |E_{N'}|\}$ , let  $\pi^{\sigma,k}$  be the partition of N' consisting of the connected components of N' in  $\langle N', F^{\sigma,k} \rangle$ .

**Example 3.** Consider the most situation  $\langle N', w \rangle$  with  $N' = \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$  and w as depicted in Figure 2.1. Note that  $w \in K^{\sigma}$ , with  $\sigma(1) = \{1, 3\}$ ,  $\sigma(2) = \{1, 2\}$ ,  $\sigma(3) = \{2, 3\}$ ,  $\sigma(4) = \{0, 1\}$ ,  $\sigma(5) = \{0, 2\}$ ,  $\sigma(6) = \{0, 3\}$ . The sequence of seven graphs  $\langle N', F^{\sigma,k} \rangle$  and the corresponding sequence of partitions  $\pi^{\sigma,k}$  are shown in

k	$F^{\sigma,k}$	$\pi^{\sigma,k}$
0	$\{\emptyset\}$	$\{\{0\},\{1\},\{2\},\{3\}\}$
1	$\{\{1,3\}\}$	$\{\{0\},\{1,3\},\{2\}\}$
2	$\{\{1,3\},\{1,2\}\}$	$\{\{0\}, \{1, 2, 3\}\}$
3	$\{\{1,3\},\{1,2\},\{2,3\}\}$	$\{\{0\}, \{1, 2, 3\}\}$
4	$\{\{1,3\},\{1,2\},\{2,3\},\{0,1\}\}$	$\{N'\}$
5	$\{\{1,3\},\{1,2\},\{2,3\},\{0,1\},\{0,2\}\}$	$\{N'\}$
6	$\{\{1,3\},\{1,2\},\{2,3\},\{0,1\},\{0,2\},\{0,3\}\}$	$\{N'\}$

Now, let  $\Delta(N) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N_+ | \sum_{i \in N} x_i = 1\}$ . The sub-simplex  $\Delta(S)$  of  $\Delta(N)$  given by  $\Delta(S) = \{x \in \Delta(N) | \sum_{i \in S} x_i = 1\}$  is called, for reasons to be clarified later, the set of *obligation vectors* of S. An *obligation function* is a map  $o: 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\} \to \Delta(N)$  assigning to each  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  an obligation vector

$$o(S) \in \Delta(S) \tag{2.1}$$

in such a way that for each  $S, T \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  with  $S \subset T$  and for each  $i \in S$ 

$$o_i(S) \ge o_i(T). \tag{2.2}$$

Let  $\Theta(N')$  be the family of partitions of N'. Such an obligation function o on  $2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  induces an *obligation* map  $\hat{o} : \Theta(N') \to \mathbb{R}^N$ , where  $\Theta(N')$  is the family of partitions of N', and

$$\hat{o}(\theta) = \sum_{S \in \theta, 0 \notin S} o(S) \tag{2.3}$$

for each  $\theta \in \Theta(N')$ .

the following table

Note that if  $\theta = \{N'\}$ , then the resulting empty sum is assumed, by definition, to be the *n*-vector of zeroes:  $\hat{o}(\theta) = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ .

**Example 4.** Let  $o^* : 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\} \to \Delta(N)$  be defined by  $o^*(S) = \frac{e^S}{|S|}$  for each  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , where  $e^S$  is the n-vector such that  $e_i^S = 1$  if  $i \in S$  and  $e_i^S = 0$  if  $i \in N \setminus S$ . Then,  $o^*$  is an obligation function and the corresponding obligation map is

$$\hat{o}_i^*(\theta) = \begin{cases} |S(\theta, \{i\})|^{-1} & \text{if } 0 \notin S(\theta, \{i\}) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

$$(2.4)$$

for each  $\theta \in \Theta(N')$  and each  $i \in N$ . Here  $S(\theta, \{i\}) \in \theta$  is the partition element to which i belongs.

Note that  $o^*(S)$  is the barycenter of  $\Delta(S)$  and for  $N = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ ,  $\theta = \{\{1, 2\}, \{0, 3\}, \{4\}\}$  we have  $\hat{o}^*(\theta) = (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0, 1)$ .

A characteristic of Obligation rules is that they assign to an most situation a vector of cost contributions which can be obtained as a product of a contribution matrix with the cost vector of edges ordered according to  $\sigma$ .

**Definition 1.** Let  $\hat{o}$  be an obligation map on  $\Theta(N')$ . Let  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{E_{N'}}$ . The contribution matrix w.r.t  $\hat{o}$  and  $\sigma$  is the matrix  $D^{\sigma,\hat{o}} \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times |E_{N'}|}$  where

$$D_{ik}^{\sigma,\hat{o}} = \hat{o}_i(\pi^{\sigma,k-1}) - \hat{o}_i(\pi^{\sigma,k})$$

for each  $i \in N$  and each  $k \in \{1, \ldots, |E_{N'}|\}$ .

16

**Definition 2.** Let  $\hat{o}$  be an obligation map on  $\Theta(N')$ . Let  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{E_{N'}}$ . We define the map  $\phi^{\sigma,\hat{o}}: K^{\sigma} \to \mathbb{R}^N$  by

$$\phi^{\sigma,\hat{o}}(w) = D^{\sigma,\hat{o}}w^{\sigma},\tag{2.5}$$

for each most situation w in the cone  $K^{\sigma}$ .

Next proposition states that  $\phi^{\sigma,\hat{o}}$  does not depend on the choice of  $\sigma$  and makes it possible to define an Obligation rule with respect to an obligation map on  $\Theta(N')$  as a map on  $\mathcal{W}^{N'}$  (differently from the bird allocations, which depend on the selected optimal tree).

**Proposition 1** (from [22]). Let  $\hat{o}$  be an obligation map on  $\Theta(N')$ . If  $w \in K^{\sigma} \cap K^{\sigma'}$  with  $\sigma, \sigma' \in \Sigma_{E_{N'}}$ , then  $\phi^{\sigma, \hat{o}}(w) = \phi^{\sigma', \hat{o}}(w)$ .

A basic property of fairness for solutions is cost monotonicity, imposing that if some connection costs go down, then no agents will pay more. Formally, a solution F is a cost monotonic solution if for all mcst situations  $w, w' \in W^{N'}$  such that  $w(e) \leq w'(e)$  for each  $e \in E_{N'}$  it holds that  $F_i(w) \leq F_i(w')$  for each  $i \in N$ . Unfortunately, the Bird rule and many other solutions for mcst games are not cost monotonic. In [22] we proved the following result.

**Theorem 1** (from [22]). Obligation rules are cost monotonic.

As we formally defined in Section 1.2.2, a pmas provides a cost allocation vector for every coalition in a monotonic way. The following result has been proved in [22] too.

**Theorem 2** (from [22]). Let  $\hat{o}$  be an obligation map on  $\Theta(N')$ , let  $\phi^{\hat{o}}$  be the Obligation rule w.r.t  $\hat{o}$ , and let  $w \in \mathcal{W}^{N'}$ . Then, the table  $[\phi^{\hat{o}_S}(w_{|S'})]_{S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}}$  is a pmas for the mcst game  $(N, c_w)$ .

The obligation map of Example 4 defines a well known solution for most situations, that is the *Equal* Remaining Obligation rule, also called *P*-value [23, 92, 115].

**Definition 3.** The *P*-value is the map  $P: \mathcal{W}^{N'} \to \mathbb{R}^N$ , defined by

$$P(w) = \phi^{\hat{o}^*}(w)$$
 (2.6)

for each  $w \in \mathcal{W}^{N'}$  and where  $\phi^{\hat{o}^*}$  is the Obligation rule w.r.t. the obligation map  $\hat{o}^*$  of Example 4.

Example 5 provides an illustration of the *P*-value.

**Example 5.** Consider the most situation  $\langle N', w \rangle$  with  $N' = \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$  and w of Example 1. The contribution matrix  $D^{\sigma, \hat{o}^*}$  is

$$D^{\sigma,\hat{o}^*} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{6} & 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0\\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{6} & 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and  $w^{\sigma} = (12, 12, 20, 24, 24, 26)^t$ . Then,  $P(w) = \phi^{\hat{o}^*}(w) = D^{\sigma, \hat{o}^*} w^{\sigma} = (16, 16, 16)^t$ .

In [23] we also provided an axiomatic characterization of the *P*-value is provided, that is shortly introduced in the following. A solution for mcst situations is a map  $F: \mathcal{W}^{N'} \to \mathbb{R}^N$  assigning to every mcst situation w a unique cost allocation in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Some interesting properties for solutions for mcst situations are the following.

**Property 1.** The solution F is efficient (EFF) if for each  $w \in W^{N'}$ 

$$\sum_{i\in N} F_i(w) = w(\Gamma),$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a minimum cost spanning network on N'.

**Property 2.** The solution F has the Equal Treatment (ET) property if for each  $w \in W^{N'}$  and for each  $i, j \in N$  with  $C_i(w) = C_j(w)$ ,

$$F_i(w) = F_j(w).$$

**Property 3.** The solution F has the upper bounded contribution (UBC) property if for each  $w \in W^{N'}$  and every (w, N')-component  $C \neq \{0\}$ 

$$\sum_{i \in C \setminus \{0\}} F_i(w) \le \min_{i \in C \setminus \{0\}} w(\{i, 0\}).$$

**Property 4.** The solution F has the Cone-wise Positive Linearity (CPL) property if for each  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{E_{N'}}$ , for each pair of most situations  $w, \widehat{w} \in K^{\sigma}$  and for each pair  $\alpha, \widehat{\alpha} \ge 0$ , we have

$$F(\alpha w + \widehat{\alpha}\widehat{w}) = \alpha F(w) + \widehat{\alpha}F(\widehat{w})$$

**Theorem 3** (from [23]). The P-value is the unique solution which satisfies the properties EFF, ET, UBC and CPL on the class  $\mathcal{W}^{N'}$  of most situations.

We give now a short summary of other interesting results on connection situations provided in our papers [26, 24, 51, 16, 10]. In [26] we showed that, for variants of classical mcst games on directed graphs, a pmas does not necessarily exist. In particular, in [26] we provide a simple algorithm to obtain an mcst and to extend each core element a pmas and also to a bi-monotonic allocation scheme [101, 177]. In [24], we introduced the *Subtraction Algorithm* computing, for every mcst situation and each permutation on the set of players, a pmas. This algorithm is based on a decomposition theorem which guarantees that every mcst game can be written as a nonnegative combination of mcst games corresponding to 0-1 cost functions. In [51], we presented a new way to define the *irreducible core* [94], based on a non-Archimedean semimetric. The Bird core correspondence turns out to have interesting monotonicity and additivity properties, and each stable cost monotonic allocation rule for mcst situations is a selection of the Bird core correspondence. In [16], we studied the class of *Construct and Charge* (*CC*-) rules for mcst situations, that are defined starting from *charge systems*, and specify particular allocation protocols that are also rooted on the Kruskal algorithm for computing an mcst.

In [10] we introduced the model of minimum interval cost spanning tree (micst) situations, i.e. situations where agents of the set  $N = \{1, ..., n\}$  are willing to be connected as cheaply as possible to a source based on an interval-valued cost system of connection: to each edge  $e \in E_{N'}$  is assigned a closed interval in  $\mathbb{R}_+$  representing the uncertain cost of edge e (no probability distribution is assumed for edge costs). In [10] we focused on particular allocation protocols for micst situations that we called *extended obligation rules* generalizing the notion of obligation rule. In this setting, it turns out that cost monotonicity provides extra incentives in favour of a social agreement, where the unique condition of core membership may not be sufficient. We also presented an application to a randomly generated ad-hoc wireless network with many nodes, together with a computer programme in the R language [167] for the computation of the (extended) *P*-value.

#### 2.3 Generalized additive games

One of the main issues in the analysis of coalitional games is that the number of coalitions grows exponentially with respect to the number of players. Consequently, it is computationally very interesting to single out classes of games that can be described in a concise way. In the literature on coalitional games there exist several approaches for defining classes of games whose concise representation is derived by an additive pattern among coalitions. In some contexts, due to an underlying structure among the players, such as a network, an order, or a permission structure, the value of a coalition  $S \subseteq N$  can be derived additively from a collection of subcoalitions  $\{T_1, \dots, T_k\}, T_i \subseteq S \forall i \in \{1, \dots, k\}$ . Such situations are modeled, for example, by the graph-restricted games, introduced by Myerson [150] and further studied by Owen [157], the component additive games [109] and the restricted component additive games [108].

Sometimes, the procedure used to assess the worth of a coalition  $S \subseteq N$  is strongly related to the sum of the individual values over another subset  $T \subseteq N$ , not necessarily included in S. Several examples from the literature fall into this category, among them the well-known glove game, the airport games [139, 140], the connectivity game and its extensions [80, 138], the argumentation games [43] and some classes of operation research games, such as the peer games [100] and the mountain situations [26]. In these models, the value of a coalition S of players is calculated as the sum of the single values of players in a subset of S. On the other hand, in some cases the worth of a coalition might be affected by external influences and players outside the coalition might contribute, either in a positive or negative way, to the worth of the coalition itself. This is the case, for example, of the bankruptcy games [83] and the maintenance problems [134, 97].

In [70] we introduced a general class of additive TU-games where the worth of a coalition  $S \subseteq N$  is evaluated by means of an interaction filter, that is a map  $\mathcal{M}$  which returns the valuable players involved in the cooperation among players in S. More precisely, a Generalized Additive Situation (GAS) is a triple  $\langle N, v, \mathcal{M} \rangle$ , where N is the set of players,  $v : N \to \mathbb{R}$  is a map that assigns a value to each player and  $\mathcal{M} : 2^N \to 2^N$  is a coalitional map, which assigns a (possibly empty) coalition  $\mathcal{M}(S)$  to each coalition  $S \subseteq N$  of players.

Given the GAS  $\langle N, v, \mathcal{M} \rangle$ , the associated *Generalized Additive Game* (GAG) is defined as the TU-game  $(N, v^{\mathcal{M}})$  assigning to each coalition  $S \in 2^N$  the value

$$v^{\mathcal{M}}(S) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{M}(S)} v(i) \tag{2.7}$$

for each  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  and  $v^{\mathcal{M}}(\emptyset) = 0$ , as usual.

In particular, in [70] we introduced and studied the class of *basic GAGs*, which is characterized by the fact that the valuable players in a coalition S are selected on the basis of the presence, among the players in S, of their *friends* and *enemies*. For each  $i \in N$ , define  $C_i = \{F_i^1, \ldots, F_i^{m_i}, E_i\}$  as a collection of subsets of N such that  $F_i^j \cap E_i = \emptyset$  for all  $i \in N$  and for all  $j = 1, \cdots, m_i$ . Let  $C = \{C_i\}_{i \in N}$ . A *basic* GAS is the triple  $\langle N, v, C \rangle$ , associated with the coalitional map  $\mathcal{M}$  defined as:

$$\mathcal{M}(S) = \{ i \in N : S \cap F_i^1 \neq \emptyset, \dots, S \cap F_i^{m_i} \neq \emptyset, S \cap E_i = \emptyset \}.$$
(2.8)

Several of the aforementioned classes of games from the literature can be described as basic GAGs, as well as games deriving from real-world situations (see [70] for more details).

**Example 6.** (airport games [139, 140]): Let N be the set of players<sup>2</sup>. We partition N into groups  $N_1, N_2, \ldots, N_k$  such that to each  $N_j$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, k$ , is associated a positive real number  $c_j$  with  $c_1 \leq c_2 \leq \cdots \leq c_k$  (representing costs). Consider an airport game w such that  $w(S) = \max\{c_i : i \in S\}$ . This type of game (and variants) can be described by a basic GAS  $\langle N, (C_i = \{F_i, E_i\})_{i \in N}, v \rangle$  by setting for each  $i \in N_j$  and each  $j = 1, \ldots, k$ :

- the value  $v(i) = \frac{c_j}{|N_j|}$ ,
- the set of friends  $F_i = N_j$ ,

and the set of enemies  $E_i = N_{j+1} \cup \ldots \cup N_k$  for each  $i \in N_j$  and each  $j = 1, \ldots, k-1$  and  $E_l = \emptyset$  for each  $l \in N_k$ .

By using similar arguments, it is possible to show that also the maintenance games ([134], [97]), which generalize the airport games, can be represented as basic GAGs.

Moreover, it is possible to produce, for basic GAGs, results concerning important solution concepts, like the core and the semivalues. It is therefore interesting to study under which conditions a GAS can be described as a basic one. To this purpose, the following theorem provides a necessary and sufficient condition when the set of enemies of each player is empty.

**Theorem 4** ([70]). Let  $\langle N, v, \mathcal{M} \rangle$  be a GAS. The map  $\mathcal{M}$  can be obtained by relation (2.8) via collections  $C_i = \{F_i^1, \ldots, F_i^{m_i}, E_i = \emptyset\}$ , for each  $i \in N$ , if and only if  $\mathcal{M}$  is monotonic (i.e.,  $\mathcal{M}(s) \subseteq \mathcal{M}(T)$  for each S, T such that  $S \subseteq T \subseteq N$ ).

The model of basic GAG turns out to be suitable for representing an online social network, where friends and enemies of the web users are determined by their social profiles. It is well known that the problem of identifying influential users on a social networking web site plays a key role to find strategies aimed at increasing the site's overall view. The main issue is to target advertisement to the site members of the online social network whose activities' levels have a significant impact on the activity of the other site members. The overall influence of a user can be seen as the combination of two ingredients: 1) the individual ability to get the attention of other site members, and 2) the personal characteristic of the social profile, that can be represented in terms of groups or communities to which users belong. A basic GAS  $\langle N, v, C \rangle$  can represent an online social network as described above. More specifically, each player  $i \in N$  of the basic GAS is associated to a value v(i) representing her/his individual activity in a social networking web site (for instance, measured in terms of the productive time spent in uploading content files), and the participation of the individuals to the global activity of the social network is based on a coalitional structure C of friends and enemies that is determined by players' social profiles. Thus, it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In airport games the players are the *landings* that occur during the lifetime of the landing strip of an airport. Since not all players will need a landing strip of the same length, the cost of a coalition S is computed as the cost associated with a landing strip long enough to accommodate all of the landings in S.

is interesting to analyze, for this type of games, the behavior of indices aimed at measuring the influence of the players in the game: in particular we consider the Shapley value [171, 170], the Banzhaf Value [86] and other semivalues [110].

In what follows, in order to simplify the notation, we fix  $i \in N$  and denote by f the cardinality of  $F_i$  and by e the cardinality of  $E_i$  (in order to simplify the notation, if  $E_i = \emptyset$  we assume by convention that e = 0 and  $\frac{1}{e} = 0$ ). We denote by  $\langle N, v^{\mathcal{C}} \rangle$  the GAG associated to a basic GAS  $\langle N, v, \mathcal{C} \rangle$ , and we call such a game *basic* GAG. Consider a basic GAS with a *single* set of friends for each player i. The associated basic GAG  $v^{\mathcal{C}_i}$  reduces to:

$$v^{\mathcal{C}_i}(S) = \begin{cases} v(i) & \text{if} \quad S \cap F_i \neq \emptyset, S \cap E_i = \emptyset \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The following proposition holds.

**Proposition 2** ([70]). Let us consider a basic GAS on  $\langle N, v, \{C_i = \{F_i, E_i\}\}_{i \in N}$ . Then the Shapley value  $\phi(v)$  and Banzhaf value  $\beta(v)$  for the game  $v^{C_i}$  are given, respectively, by:

$$\phi_j(v^{\mathcal{C}_i}) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if} \quad j \in N \setminus (F_i \cup E_i) \\ \frac{v(i)}{f+e} & \text{if} \quad j \in F_i \\ -v(i)\frac{f}{e(f+e)} & \text{if} \quad j \in E_i \end{cases}$$

and

$$\beta_j(v^{\mathcal{C}_i}) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if} \quad j \in N \setminus (F_i \cup E_i) \\ \frac{v(i)}{2^{f+e-1}} & \text{if} & j \in F_i \\ -v(i)\frac{2^f-1}{2^{f+e-1}} & \text{if} & j \in E_i. \end{cases}$$

We comment this result with the help of the following example from [70].

**Example 7.** As a toy example, consider an online social network with four users  $N = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$  where each user spends the same amount of time T in uploading new content files and, according to her/his social profile, each user  $i \in N$  belongs to a single community  $F_i \subseteq N$  (e.g., the set of users with whom i intends to share her/his content files) which is in conflict with the complementary one  $E_i = N \setminus F_i$  (here, enemies in  $E_i$  are interpreted as those members that have no permission to access the content files of player i). Suppose, for instance, that  $F_1 = \{1, 2, 3\}, F_2 = \{2, 3\}, F_3 = \{3\}$  and  $F_4 = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ . Following the discussion about social networking web sites earlier introduced, we can represent such a situation as a basic GAS  $\langle N, v, \{C_i = \{F_i, E_i = N \setminus F_i\}\}_{i \in N} \rangle$ . How to identify the most influential users? According to Proposition 2, the influence vector provided by the Shapley value is:  $\phi(v^{\mathcal{C}}) = (\frac{T}{6}, \frac{2T}{3}, T, \frac{-5T}{6})$ . So, user 3 results the most influential one, followed by 2, then 1 and finally 4, who is the only user to get a negative index.

Suppose now that user 2 wants to improve her/his influence as measured by the Shapley value. It is worth noting that if user 2 removes 3 from her/his set of friends (and all the other sets of friends and enemies remain the same), then player 2 gets exactly the same Shapley value of user 3. Precisely, if now  $F_2 = \{2\}$  and  $E_2 = \{1, 3, 4\}$ , then  $\phi_2(v^c) = \phi_3(v^c) = \frac{2T}{3}$ . Notice that the fact that an influential player has been removed from his/her list of friends does not impact directly the influence of player 2, but it determines an important reduction of the influence of player 3.

#### 2.4 Argumentation games

A Dung Argumentation Framework (DAF) is a directed graph  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R} \rangle$ , where the set of nodes  $\mathcal{A}$  is a finite set of arguments and the set of arcs  $\mathcal{R} \subseteq \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A}$  is a binary defeat (or attack) relation (i.e,  $(i, j) \in \mathcal{R}$  means that argument  $i \in \mathcal{A}$  attacks argument  $j \in \mathcal{A}$ ). We say that a set of arguments  $S \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  (also called a coalition S) attacks another coalition  $T \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  in  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R} \rangle$  if there exists  $(s, t) \in S \times T$  with  $(s, t) \in \mathcal{R}$ , that is an attacks which originates from an argument in S and is directed against an argument in T. For each argument a we define the set of predecessors of a in  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R} \rangle$  as the set  $Pr(\mathcal{R}, a) = \{j \in \mathcal{A} : (j, a) \in \mathcal{R}\}$ , and the set of successors of a is denoted by  $Su(\mathcal{R}, a) = \{j \in \mathcal{A} : (a, j) \in \mathcal{R}\}$  (if clear from the context, we omit notation  $\mathcal{R}$  in Pr(a) and Su(a)).

The main goal of argumentation theory is to identify which arguments are rationally "acceptable" according to different notions of acceptability. Some of the most common notions of acceptability are the following ones. An argument  $a \in \mathcal{A}$  is said *acceptable w.r.t.*  $S \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  iff  $\forall b \in \mathcal{A}$ : if  $(b, a) \in \mathcal{R}$ , then  $\exists c \in S$  such that  $(c, b) \in \mathcal{R}$ . A set  $S \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  is said to be: (conflict-free) iff S does not attack itself; (stable) iff S is conflict-free and attacks every argument in  $\mathcal{A} \setminus S$ ; (admissible) iff S is conflict-free and S attacks every argument in  $\mathcal{A} \setminus S$  that attacks S; (preferred) iff it is a maximal (w.r.t.  $\subseteq$ ) admissible extension; (complete) iff  $\forall a \in \mathcal{A}$ , if a is acceptable w.r.t. S, then  $a \in S$ ; (grounded) iff S is the minimal (w.r.t.  $\subseteq$ ) complete extension.

In [43] we introduced a framework for abstract argumentation, keeping into consideration the preferences over (collections of) arguments of an agent (hereafter, called "the user"), who deals with the problem of assessing the relevance of each argument with respect to her/his own objectives, and facing the uncertainty about which combination of arguments will result from the debate. The final goal of this paper, is then to measure the relative importance of arguments for the user, taking into account both her/his own preferences - as represented by a utility function defined over the set of arguments - and the information provided by the attack relation over the arguments. In this direction, we merged the classical argumentation framework proposed in [111] into a game theoretic coalitional setting, where the "worth" of a *coalition of arguments* can be seen as the combination of the information about the preferences of the user over arguments and the information concerning the conflicts.

Precisely, in [43] we defined a *Coalitional Argumentation Framework* (CAF) as a triple  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, v \rangle$  where  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R} \rangle$ is a DAF and v is a map assigning to each coalition  $S \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  a number  $v(S) \in \mathbb{R}$ . The value v(S) represents the *worth* of the coalition S for the user (for example, it could measure the success provided by coalition Saccording to a criterion specified by the user, e.g., the overall popularity of the arguments in S). We assume that for each  $a \in \mathcal{A}$ , the worth (or *utility*) of the singleton  $\{a\}$  is given by a (cardinal) utility function on  $\mathcal{A}$ . We also assume that a CAF  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, v \rangle$  satisfies the following conditions of consistency between the map v and the DAF  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R} \rangle$ : (c.1) if  $a \in \mathcal{A}$  is such that  $Pr(a) = Su(a) = \emptyset$  (a is not connected to other arguments in  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R} \rangle$ ), then  $v(S \cup \{a\}) = v(S) + v(\{a\})$  for each coalition  $S \subseteq \mathcal{A} \setminus \{a\}$ ; (c.2) if  $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$  are such that Pr(a) = Pr(b)and Su(a) = Su(b) (i.e., a and b are symmetric in the DAF) and  $v(\{a\}) = v(\{b\})$ , then  $v(S \cup \{a\}) = v(S \cup \{b\})$ for each coalition  $S \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ .

Given a CAF  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, v \rangle$  (satisfying the consistency conditions (c.1) and (c.2) as well), we study the problem of providing a measure representing the relevance of arguments, taking into account both the structure of the DAF and the worth of coalitions as measured by v. In this direction, we focus on properties that such a measure of relevance should satisfy.

For instance, the SYM<sup>3</sup> property introduced in Section 1.2.2, states that two symmetric players in the DAF should have the same relevance, provided that their worth as singletons is the same. Analogously, rephrasing the notion of dummy player in a CAF, the DPP says that disconnected arguments in a DAF should receive as value of relevance precisely their worth as singletons. Still, the EFF property imposes un upper bound over the scale for measuring the relevance of arguments (precisely, the sum of the relevance values must be equal to  $v(\mathcal{A})$ ). Finally, an interesting reinterpretation of the ADD property suggests that the sum of the relevance values measured over two distinct CAFs  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, v_1 \rangle$  and  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, v_2 \rangle$  sharing the same DAF (for instance,  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  may represent the preference over coalitions of arguments in two distinct populations, like the population of women and the one of men), should be equal to the relevance of arguments measured on  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, v_1 + v_2 \rangle$ .

**Example 8.** Consider two CAFs,  $\langle \{1, 2, 3\}, \{(1, 2), (2, 1)\}, v \rangle$  and  $\langle \{1, 2, 3\}, \{(1, 2), (2, 1)\}, v' \rangle$  (satisfying conditions (c.1) and (c.2) as well). Consider the CAF  $\langle \{1, 2, 3\}, \{(1, 2), (2, 1)\}, \bar{v} = v + v' \rangle$ . By ADD and DPP,



Figure 2.2: The DAF corresponding to the CAFs of Example 8.

the Shapley value of argument 3 is  $\phi_3(\bar{v}) = v(\{3\}) + v'(\{3\})$ , and by SYM and EFF,  $\phi_1(\bar{v}) = \phi_2(\bar{v}) = \frac{1}{2}(v(\mathcal{A}) + v'(\mathcal{A}) - (v(\{3\}) + v'(\{3\}))).$ 

In order to *partially* take into account the argumentation system, in [43] we defined a notion of the worth of coalitions combining the preferences of the user over single arguments and a "local" information about the attacks. Precisely, consider a CAF  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, \hat{v} \rangle$  where the worth of coalitions is additive over non-attacked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Notice that, given a CAF  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, v \rangle$ , there may exist arguments a and b that are symmetric players in v (according to definition provided in Section 1.2.2) that do not necessarily satisfy the condition Pr(a) = Pr(b), Su(a) = Su(b) and  $v(\{a\}) = v(\{b\})$  introduced in condition (c.2). In a similar way, there may exist arguments  $a \in \mathcal{A}$  that are dummy players in v that do not satisfy condition  $Pr(a) = Su(a) = \emptyset$ .

arguments, i.e. if a coalition  $S \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  forms,  $\hat{v}(S)$  denotes the sum of the worth of single arguments that are not attacked within coalition S. Let  $F_S = \{i \in S : \{i\} \text{ is not attacked by } S \setminus \{i\}\}$  be the set of non-attacked arguments in S, then

$$\hat{v}(S) = \sum_{i \in F_S} \hat{v}(\{i\}), \tag{2.9}$$

for each  $S \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  (by convention,  $\hat{v}(\emptyset) = 0$ ). We denote by  $\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$  the class of CAFs  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, \hat{v} \rangle$  on  $\mathcal{A}$  introduced above, and by  $\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}}$  the class of corresponding games  $\hat{v}$  defined by relation (2.9).

**Example 9.** Consider the CAF  $\langle \{1,2,3\}, \{(1,2),(2,3)\}, \hat{v} \rangle$ , such that the preference over each argument *i* is the same and is equal to 1.



Figure 2.3: The DAF corresponding to the CAF of Example 14.

The game  $\hat{v}$  is provided in Table 2.1. The Shapley value of such a game is  $\phi_1(\hat{v}) = \phi_3(\hat{v}) = \frac{1}{2}$  and  $\phi_2(\hat{v}) = 0$ . So the greatest relevance is given to arguments 1 and 3 (note that the coalition  $\{1,3\}$  is the only stable one).

S:	{1}	$\{2\}$	{3}	$\{1, 2\}$	$\{1, 3\}$	$\{2,3\}$	$\{1, 2, 3\}$
$\hat{v}(S)$ :	1	1	1	1	2	1	1

Table 2.1: The worth of each coalition  $S \subseteq \{1, 2, 3\}$  in  $\hat{v}$ .

Alternatively, suppose that the argument 2 is preferred to the other ones, and thus the worth of the singleton coalition  $\{2\}$  is, for instance,  $\hat{v}(\{2\}) = 1$ , and  $\hat{v}(\{1\}) = \hat{v}(\{3\}) = 0$ . Now the relevance assigned by the Shapley value is  $\frac{1}{2}$  to arguments 2, 0 to argument 3, and  $-\frac{1}{2}$  to argument 1: the user would be worse off by attacking the most beneficial and non-defended argument 2, whereas she/he would receive no detriment in adopting argument 3.

In general the Shapley value is hard to calculate, since it requires a number of operations that is exponential in the number of arguments. However, for the specific class  $\mathcal{G}\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ , it is possible to calculate the Shapley value easily, as proved by the following theorem.

**Theorem 5** ([43]). Consider a CAF  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, \hat{v} \rangle \in \hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ . Then the Shapley value of game  $(\mathcal{A}, \hat{v})$  is

$$\phi_i(\hat{v}) = \frac{\hat{v}(\{i\})}{|Pr(i)|+1} - \sum_{j \in Su(i)} \frac{\hat{v}(\{j\})}{|Pr(j)|(|Pr(j)|+1)},$$
(2.10)

for each  $i \in \mathcal{A}$ .

Note that the Shapley value of an argument i in game  $\hat{v}$  does not depend only on the number of predecessors (attackers) an argument has, but also on the number of successors (arguments attacked by i), and on the number of other attackers of the arguments attacked by i. In [43] we also introduced an axiomatic characterization of a solution in the specific class of coalitional games arising from CAFs in  $\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ .

For this purpose, we define a solution as a map  $\psi : \mathcal{G}\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathbb{R}^{\mathcal{A}}$ . An interesting property for a solution is the following one.

**Property 5** (Equal Impact of an Attack). Let  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R}, \hat{v} \rangle \in \hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$  and  $i, j \in \mathcal{A}$ , with  $i \neq j$ . Consider a CAF  $\langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R} \cup \{(i, j)\}, \hat{v}_{ij} \rangle \in \hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$  with  $\hat{v}_{ij}(\{k\}) := \hat{v}(\{k\})$  for each  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ . A solution  $\psi : \mathcal{G}\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathbb{R}^{\mathcal{A}}$  satisfies (on  $\mathcal{G}\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ ) the property of Equal Impact of an Attack (EIA) iff

$$\psi_i(\hat{v}) - \psi_i(\hat{v}_{ij}) = \psi_j(\hat{v}) - \psi_j(\hat{v}_{ij}).$$

Property of EIA states that when a new attack between two argument i and j is added to (or removed from) a CAF, then the relevance of the two arguments should be affected in the same way. Differently stated, this property says that a consequence of an attack should be detrimental for both arguments involved in the defeat relation, since an attacks always decreases the worth of coalitions containing the involved nodes.

We also say that a solution  $\psi : \mathcal{G}\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathbb{R}^{\mathcal{A}}$  satisfies the property ADD\*, if and only if  $\psi(v) + \psi(w) = \psi(v+w)$  for each  $v, w \in \mathcal{G}\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$  such that  $v + w \in \mathcal{G}\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ .

An axiomatic characterization of the Shapley value on the class of the CAFs presented in [43] is the following one.

**Theorem 6** ([43]). The Shapley value is the unique solution that satisfies EFF, SYM, DPP, ADD\* and EIA properties on the class  $\mathcal{G}\hat{\mathcal{V}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ .

#### 2.5 Future directions

In Section 2.2, we have discussed connection situations where the players are often located at some nodes of a network. In many cases, however, the focus of interest of rational agents are the edges of a network. For instance, the authors of [130] recently introduced a model that can be applied to the problem where agents may require the connection between certain nodes of a network, using a single link or via longer paths, and where it is assumed that the set of implemented edges is exogenously fixed and may be "redundant" (see also [149]). A still different class of games has been studied in [84], where the players are the edges of a graph and a coalition of edges gets value one if it is a connected component in the graph, and zero otherwise. All the aforementioned approaches deal with coalitional games where the optimization problem used to compute the cost of a coalition is not based on the problem of finding a network of minimum cost in the corresponding sub-graph. Instead, a different direction is to assume that the optimal network associated to each coalition (of edges) is not fixed and follows a cost optimization procedure.

One of the goal of our future research on the models introduced in Section 2.3 is the application to the analysis of real social network data. As shown by Example 7, the information required to compute classical power indices on basic GAGs representing online social networks (like the users' activity time or the users' social profiles and social affinities) is not very demanding and can be obtained by available records and models from the literature [169]. Moreover, as it has been stressed in the same example, it would be interesting to explore the strategic issues related to the attempt of players to increase their influence (as measured by the Shapley value or by other power indices) on a social network. An interesting direction for future research is indeed that of coalition formation, since for generic basic GAGs associated to GASs with nonnegative v, where the sets of enemies are not empty, the grand coalition is not likely to form. In general, we believe that the issue about which coalitions are more likely to form in a basic GAG is not trivial and deserves to be further explored.

In Sections 2.4, a property-driven approach has been used to support the adoption of the Shapley value as a measure of the relevance of arguments. On the other hand, we may consider a multi-agent interaction protocol where arguments are introduced by agents one after the other, respecting the protocol's rule according to which an argument can be introduced at a certain stage of the debate only if it attacks or it is attacked by another argument previously introduced. According to such a protocol, assuming that all coalitions of arguments could be formed is not meaningful, and then it would be interesting to look at other semivalues engendered by probability distributions that are protocol-specific.

### Chapter 3

### Ordinal coalitional situations

#### 3.1 Overview of the chapter

This chapter focuses on models that we recently introduced in [5, 72, 46, 3, 59] to analyse coalitional situations where the "intensity" of the agents' interaction is characterized by a "qualitative" information. This kind of problems are studied in [5] (see Section 3.2.1) with the objective to generalize the notions of coalitional game and power index within an ordinal framework. Given a total preorder representing the relative strength of coalitions (namely, a *power relation*), a particular *social ranking* over the player set is provided in [5] according to a notion of *ordinal influence* strongly connected to the classical Banzhaf index of a "canonical" coalitional game. More precisely, in [5] we provided an axiomatic characterization of a *social ranking* (i.e., a map assigning to each power relation over the subsets of N a ranking over the single players in N) by means of properties dealing with the ordinal structure of power relations. A first property used in the characterization is a *coalitional dominance* axiom, which states that whatever coalition S is going to form, a player with more opportunities to form coalitions stronger than S should be ranked higher than another one with less. The second property, namely the *additivity* axiom, allows for the composition of power relations with opposite social rankings.

A similar problem has been studied in [72] (see Section 3.2.2) with the goal to characterize social rankings starting from the very basic properties of a power relation over coalitions, and without the use of any particular coalitional game or power index. The properties for social rankings that we analyse in [72] have classical interpretations, such as anonymity, saying that the ranking should not depend on the name of the players, or the dominance, saying that a player i should be ranked higher than a player j whenever i dominates j, i.e. the coalition  $S \cup \{i\}$  is stronger than coalition  $S \cup \{i\}$  for each S not containing neither i nor j. Other two properties, namely, independence from irrelevant coalitions and separability, have been also discussed in [72], and we obtained some axiomatic characterizations of social rankings satisfying combinations of the previous properties over different restricted families of power relations.

In [46] and in [3] (see Section 3.2), we address the problem of how to extend a ranking over single objects to another ranking over all possible collections of objects, taking into account the fact that objects grouped together can have mutual interaction. This problem has been carried out in the tradition of the literature on extending an order on a set N to its power set (denoted by  $2^N$ ) with the objective to axiomatically characterize families of ordinal preferences over subsets (see, for instance, [59] for a survey on this issue). More precisely, the question raised in [46, 3] is related to the extension problem under the interpretation of sets as final outcomes. Under this interpretation, if objects are goods, one could guess that to have  $\{x, y\}$  is better then to have x or y alone, because the agent will receive both y and x. But in reality, this assumption of monotonicity depends on the context. In some decision problems, the judgement depends on the nature of x and y and on possible effects of incompatibility between the two objects. Nevertheless, most of the axiomatic approaches from literature focused on properties suggesting that *interactions* among single objects should not play a relevant role in establishing the ranking among subsets. Another example is the property of *responsiveness*, which requires that a set  $S \subseteq N$  is preferred to a set  $T \subseteq N$  whenever S is obtained from T by replacing some object  $t \in T$ with another  $i \in N$  not in T which is preferred to t (according to the primitive ranking over the single elements of the set N). In other words, the responsiveness property prevents complementarity or incompatibility effects among objects within sets of the same cardinality. In [3], the idea of alignment with a probabilistic value (the Banzhaf value, the Shapley value, or, more in general, the family of *semivalues* [110]) was developed in order to have meaningful extensions of a total preorder on a finite set N to the set of its subsets, and keeping into account the possibility that objects within each subset may interact. Specifically, the fact that an extension must be *aligned* with a semivalue means that the ranking of the objects according to the semivalue must be the same and must preserve the primitive total preorder on the singletons, no matter which utility function is used to describe the preorder over the coalitions. In the most favourable situation it remains the same for the whole simplex of the semivalues (if and only if the total preorder on  $2^N$  fulfils a particular condition provided in [3]).

#### 3.2 Ordinal power

In practical situations the information concerning the strength of coalitions and their effective possibilities of cooperation is not easily accessible due to hardly quantifiable factors like bargaining abilities, moral and ethical codes and other "psychological" attributes [143]. For instance, in addition to what it can gain by itself, a coalition may obtain some more power by threatening not to cooperate with other players [143].

As an illustrative example of a situation dealing with the ordinal power of coalitions, consider a company where the employer must evaluate the job performance of some employees with the objective to award bonus shares or to decide promotions. In order to rank the employees on the basis of the quality of their past job activities, the evaluation should take into account the ability of each employee to work alone on its own initiative and with others as a team. From the analysis of the job records of three employees 1, 2 and 3, it can be derived that when employees 1 and 3 work independently by each other, the job performance of {1} as a singleton coalition is significantly lower than the job performance of {3}. In addition, because of a strong incompatibility between 2 and 3, the performance of the team {2,3} is strictly lower than the performance of any other team; instead, a complementarity effect between 1 and 2 makes {1,2} the most successful team. Summing up, the job performance of the teams turns out to be  $\{1,2\} > \{3\} > \{1\} > \{2,3\}$ , where the notation S > T means that a team S performs strictly better than a team T. Based on this evidence, who is better between 1 and 3?

We provided a first attempt to solve this kind of problems in [5], where, given a total preorder representing the relative strength of coalitions, a social ranking over the player set is provided according to a notion of *ordinal influence* and using the Banzhaf index [86] of a "canonical" coalitional game (see Section 3.2.1). In [72] we introduced an alternative approach, using general properties that are not based on coalitional games (see Section 3.2.2).

#### 3.2.1 A game theoretic approach

Adopting a marginalist approach to solve the problem illustrated in the previous section, in [5] we argued that employee 1 should be ranked higher than employee 3 whenever the probability of joining a team with two members is higher than the probability of working alone (i.e., joining an empty coalition). To be more specific, take a map v assigning to each subset  $S \subseteq \{1, 2, 3\}$  a hypothetical score v(S) measuring the job performance of a team S (assuming  $v(\emptyset) = 0$ ), and compute the expected marginal contribution  $\pi_i(v)$  of i in v and over all possible teams according to the definition of a probabilistic power index (more precisely, a semivalue [110], see also Section 1.2.2) for a 3-players coalitional game. In formula we have:

$$\pi_i(v) = p_0(v(i) - v(\emptyset)) + p_1(v(i,j) - v(j) + v(i,k) - v(k)) + p_2(v(i,j,k) - v(j,k)),$$

where i, j, k are distinct elements in  $\{1, 2, 3\}$ , and where  $p_k$ , for each k = 0, 1, 2, represents the probability that a coalition of size k forms (i.e.,  $p_0, p_1$  and  $p_2$  are positive real numbers such that  $p_0 + 2p_1 + p_2 = 1$ ). It is easy to check that the difference  $\pi_i(v) - \pi_j(v)$  for each  $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$  can be written as follows:

$$\pi_i(v) - \pi_j(v) = (p_0 + p_1)(v(i) - v(j)) + (p_1 + p_2)(v(i,k) - v(j,k)).$$

Now, taking i = 1, j = 3 and k = 2, and supposing  $p_2 > p_0$ , from the above formula we have that  $\pi_1(v) - \pi_3(v) > 0$  for all possible performance scores v such that v(1, 2) > v(3) > v(1) > v(2, 3) (which means that v is compatible with the ordinal constraint provided by the evaluation of the employees). Differently stated, according to a marginalist approach, the fact that a performance score v satisfies the constraint v(1, 2) > v(3) > v(1) > v(2, 3) implies that employee 1 is ranked higher than employee 3 (if the probability  $p_2$  of participating to a coalition with two employees is larger than the probability  $p_0$  of entering in the empty coalition). So, in this case, the probability of forming coalitions plays a key role. On the other hand, this is not always the case. Consider for instance employee 2, and suppose that, again on the basis of the past job records, the evaluation puts in evidence that the singleton coalition  $\{2\}$  works very well, strictly better than each other team, and that the job performance of team  $\{1,3\}$  is strictly higher than the job performance of each other team of precisely two

In [5], our goal is to provide an analytical method to describe how the relative strength of coalitions may influence the ranking of individuals in a society. Therefore, we define a social ranking as a map assigning to each total preorder on the set of all the coalitions, a total preorder on the set of players (actually, in [5], we simply required that  $\rho(\geq)$  is a total binary relation, i.e., we always want to express the relative comparison of two agents, but we do not exclude *a priori* the possibility of cycles in  $\rho(\geq)$ ). In other words, in the model we study in this paper we do not exclude the possibility that coalitions may be threatened by internal agents.

We call the map  $\rho : \mathcal{T}^{2^N} \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^N$ , assigning to each power relation on  $2^N$  a total preorder on N, a social ranking solution or, simply, a social ranking. Then, given a power relation  $\succcurlyeq$ , we will interpret the relation  $\rho(\succcurlyeq)$  associated to  $\succcurlyeq$  by the social ranking  $\rho$ , as the relative power of players in a society under relation  $\succcurlyeq$ . Precisely, for each  $i, j \in N$ ,  $i\rho(\succcurlyeq)j$  stands for 'i is considered at least as influential as j according to the social ranking  $\rho(\succcurlyeq)'$ , where the influence of a player is intended as her/his ability to join coalitions in the strongest positions of a power relation.

Given a power relation  $\succeq \in \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$ , consider a bijection  $\theta : \{1, \ldots, 2^n\} \to 2^N$  such that

$$S \succ T \Rightarrow \theta^{-1}(S) < \theta^{-1}(T),$$

$$(3.1)$$

for every  $S, T \in 2^N$ . Now, for each  $i \in N$ , let  $\Gamma^i(\succeq)$  be a  $2^n$ -vector of natural numbers such that the k-th component represents the number of coalitions containing i that are in relation with  $\theta(k)$ , i.e.

$$\Gamma_k^i(\succcurlyeq) = |\{S \subseteq N : i \in N \text{ and } S \succcurlyeq \theta(k)\}|$$

for each  $k = 1, ..., 2^n$ . One can see  $\theta^{-1}$  as a priority function over the subsets of N according to the power relation  $\succeq$  (that is, from priority 1 given to a strongest subset, to priority  $2^n$  assigned to a weakest subset), and  $\Gamma_k^i(\succeq)$  as the number of subsets of N containing i that are at least as strong as the subset with priority k. Note that vector  $\Gamma(\succeq)$  does not depend on the choice of the bijection  $\theta$ , since  $\Gamma_k^i(\succeq) = \Gamma_l^i(\succeq)$  for every k, l such that  $\theta(k) \succeq \theta(l)$  and  $\theta(l) \succeq \theta(k)$ .

In the following, for every  $i, j \in N$ , we will say that  $\Gamma^i(\succcurlyeq)$  dominates  $\Gamma^j(\succcurlyeq)$  (denoted by  $\Gamma^i(\succcurlyeq) \geq \Gamma^j(\succcurlyeq)$ ) iff  $\Gamma^i_k(\succcurlyeq) \geq \Gamma^j_k(\succcurlyeq)$  for each  $k = 1, ..., 2^n$ ; and we will say that  $\Gamma^i(\succcurlyeq)$  strictly dominates  $\Gamma^j(\succcurlyeq)$  (denoted by  $\Gamma^i(\succcurlyeq) > \Gamma^j(\succcurlyeq)$ ) iff  $\Gamma^i(\succcurlyeq)$  dominates  $\Gamma^j(\succcurlyeq)$  and there exists  $k \in \{1, ..., 2^n\}$  such that  $\Gamma^i_k(\succcurlyeq) > \Gamma^j_k(\succcurlyeq)$ . We can now introduce the first property for social rankings.

The first property is the *coalitional dominance axiom*, which states that a player i is ranked better than j if, for every coalition S, the number of coalitions stronger than S that contain i is larger than the number of those that contain j. The interpretation of this property is the following: whatever coalition S is going to form, a player with more opportunities to form coalitions stronger than S should be ranked higher than another one with less.

**Definition 4** (CDOM). A social ranking  $\rho$  satisfies the coalitional dominance property iff for all  $i, j \in N$  and  $\geq \mathcal{P}^{2^N}$ ,

$$\Gamma^{i}(\succcurlyeq) > \Gamma^{j}(\succcurlyeq) \Rightarrow i\rho(\succcurlyeq)j \text{ and } \neg(j\rho(\succcurlyeq)i)$$

and

$$\Gamma^i(\succcurlyeq) = \Gamma^j(\succcurlyeq) \Rightarrow i\rho(\succcurlyeq)j \text{ and } j\rho(\succcurlyeq)i$$

In [5] we show that a player  $i \in N$  dominates a player  $j \in N$  with respect to the power relation  $\succeq$  if and only if the Banzhaf value  $\beta_i(v)$  of player *i* is larger than (or equal to) the Banzhaf value  $\beta_j(v)$  of player *j*, for every characteristic function  $v \in V(\succeq)$ .

**Theorem 7** ([5]). Let  $\geq \in \mathcal{P}^{2^N}$ . Then, for each  $i, j \in N$ 

$$\Gamma^{i}(\succcurlyeq) \geq \Gamma^{j}(\succcurlyeq) \Leftrightarrow [\beta_{i}(v) \geq \beta_{j}(v) \text{ for every } v \in V(\succcurlyeq)].$$

$$(3.2)$$

**Corollary 1.** Let  $\succeq \in \mathcal{P}^{2^N}$  and let  $\rho$  be a social ranking which satisfies CDOM. Then, for each  $i, j \in N$ 

$$[\beta_i(v) \ge \beta_j(v) \text{ for every } v \in V(\succcurlyeq)] \Rightarrow i\rho(\succcurlyeq)j.$$
(3.3)

**Example 10.** After the Italian political election held on February 24<sup>th</sup> and 25<sup>th</sup>, 2013 for the determination of the 630 members of the Chamber of Deputies and the 315 members of the Senate of the Italian Republic, no political party had the majority of seats in the Senate. Precisely, the 315 seats of the Senate were distributed as follows: 123 to the Center-Left (hereafter, L) alliance, 117 to the Center-Right (hereafter, R) alliance, 54 to the the Five Star Movement (hereafter, M), and the remaining 21 seats were distributed among other minor parties. As a consequence, in order to have a simple majority in the Senate (and to proceed with the formation of a new government), a coalition of at least two major parties among L, R and M was required. Holding a clear majority of seats in the Chamber of Deputies (the other Chamber of the Italian Parliament), the L alliance was supposed to explore all the possibilities to form a majority coalition with the other political forces in the Senate. Due to constitutional constraints, formal talks to form a new government started four weeks after the election, when the President of the Italian Republic officially designated the L alliance to lead the formation of a new government. Initially, the L alliance ruled-out any possibility of a coalition with the R one and tried to form a minority government supported by M. In fact, the political program of M was characterized by issues originating from ecological themes (like sustainable mobility and protection of the territory) and other political principles inspired by a participative attitude of citizens and traditionally close to the positions of L. Therefore, immediately after the election, a coalition between L and M appeared more likely than a coalition between Land its historical antagonist R. In that moment, the most realistic representation of the relative strength of coalitions was  $\{L, M\} \succ \{L, R\} \succ \{R, M\}$ . Moreover, each coalition of at least two parties was considered more powerful than any singleton coalition. On the other hand, the comparison among individual parties still reflected the electoral consensus of individual parties in the election of the Italian Parliament, that is  $\{L\} \succ \{R\} \succ \{M\}$ .

In the light of the considerations illustrated above, a compatible representation of the relative power between coalitions of major parties in the Italian Senate after the election held on February 2013 is represented by the following power relation:  $\{L, M\} \succ \{L, R\} \succ \{L, R, M\} \succ \{R, M\} \succ \{L\} \succ \{M\} \succ \{M\} \succ \emptyset^1$ .

The vectors  $\Gamma^{i}(\succ)$ , for each  $i \in \{L, M, R\}$  are provided in Table 3.1. Note that,  $\Gamma^{L}(\succ)$  dominates both  $\Gamma^{R}(\succ)$  and  $\Gamma^{M}(\succ)$ , but no relation of dominance exists between  $\Gamma^{R}(\succ)$  and  $\Gamma^{M}(\succ)$ .

S	L, M	L, R	L, R, M	R, M	L	R	M	Ø	score
$\Gamma^{L}(\succ)$	1	2	3	3	4	4	4	4	25
$\Gamma^M(\succ)$	1	1	2	3	3	3	4	4	21
$\Gamma^{R}(\succ)$	0	1	2	3	3	4	4	4	21

Table 3.1: The  $\Gamma$  vectors and their scores for the power relations used to model the Italian election of February 2013 (curly brackets are omitted for coalitions).

In order to characterize a social ranking on the class of all power relations  $\mathcal{P}^{2^N}$ , in [5] we introduced a second property, namely the *additivity axiom* (for the analogy with the use of the homonym property in the theory of coalitional games [171]; see also Section 1.2.2), that allows for the combination of social rankings with an opposite relative comparison. More precisely, if a power relation  $P_0$  can be obtained as the intersection of two power relations  $P_1$  and  $P_2$ , such that player *i* is ranked better than player *j* in the social ranking on  $P_1$  and player *j* is ranked better than player *i* in the social ranking on  $P_2$ , then the relative social ranking of *i* and *j* in  $P_0$  is determined by the comparison of the "intensity" of the dominance of *i* over *j* and of *j* over *i* on  $P_1$  and on  $P_2$ , respectively. As a particular measure of the intensity of the dominance in opposite social rankings, we study a notion of total capacity of players to threaten coalitions, that is computed as the sum (over all possible coalitions *S*) of the number of coalitions containing *i* which are stronger than *S* (see the last column of Table 3.1 for an example). Surprisingly, on the class of all power relations, we show that a social ranking that satisfies both the dominance and the additivity axioms coincides with the ranking provided by the Banzhaf value of a particular coalitional game related to the numerical representation of the power relation (see [5] for more details).

#### 3.2.2 A social choice approach

In [72], we characterized social rankings starting from the very basic properties of a power relation over coalitions, and without the use of any particular coalitional game, that would necessarily require the conversion of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Here, the ranking of coalition  $\{L, R, M\}$  is motivated by a preliminary attempt of L to obtain a larger consensus in a government of grand coalition.

(purely ordinal) information about the relative strength of coalitions into a quantitative assessment of their power (as, in fact, we did in [5]).

Now we introduce the properties for social rankings studied in [72]. The first axiom is the *dominance* one: if each coalition S containing agent i but not j is stronger than coalition S with j in the place of i, then agent i should be ranked higher than agent j in the society, for any  $i, j \in N$ . Precisely, given a power relation  $\geq \in \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$ and  $i, j \in N$  we say that i *dominates* j in  $\geq$  if  $S \cup \{i\} \geq S \cup \{j\}$  for each  $S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i,j\}}$  (we also say that i *strictly dominates* j in  $\geq$  if i dominates j and in addition there exists  $S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i,j\}}$  such that  $S \cup \{i\} \succ S \cup \{j\}$ ).

**Definition 5** (DOM). A social ranking  $\rho : \mathcal{C}^{2^N} \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^N$  satisfies the dominance (DOM) property on  $\mathcal{C}^{2^N} \subseteq \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$  if and only if for all  $\succeq \mathcal{C}^{2^N}$  and  $i, j \in N$ , if i dominates j in  $\succeq$  then  $i\rho(\succeq)j$  [and  $\neg(j\rho(\succeq)i)$  if i strictly dominates j in  $\succeq$ ].

The following axiom states that the relative strength of two agents  $i, j \in N$  in the social ranking should only depend on their effect when they are added to each possible coalition S not containing neither i nor j, and the relative ranking of the other coalitions is irrelevant. Formally:

**Definition 6** (IIC). A social ranking  $\rho : \mathcal{C}^{2^N} \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^N$  satisfies the Independence of Irrelevant Coalitions (IIC) property on  $\mathcal{C}^{2^N} \subseteq \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$  iff

$$i\rho(\succcurlyeq)j \Leftrightarrow i\rho(\sqsupseteq)j$$

for all  $i, j \in N$  and all power relations  $\succcurlyeq, \supseteq \in \mathcal{C}^{2^N}$  such that for each  $S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i, j\}}$ 

$$S \cup \{i\} \succcurlyeq S \cup \{j\} \Leftrightarrow S \cup \{i\} \sqsupseteq S \cup \{j\}.$$

Let  $\geq \in \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$  and  $i, j, p, q \in N$  be such that, for each  $k = 0, \ldots, n-2$ , and for all coalitions S of cardinality k, the number of times that  $S \cup \{i\}$  is stronger than  $S \cup \{j\}$  equals the number of times that  $S \cup \{p\}$  is stronger than  $S \cup \{j\}$  equals the number of times that  $S \cup \{p\}$  is stronger than  $S \cup \{i\}$  equals the number of times that  $S \cup \{q\}$  is stronger than  $S \cup \{i\}$  equals the number of times that  $S \cup \{q\}$  is stronger than  $S \cup \{i\}$  equals the number of times that  $S \cup \{q\}$  is stronger than  $S \cup \{i\}$  equals the number of times that  $S \cup \{q\}$  is stronger than  $S \cup \{i\}$  equals the number of times that  $S \cup \{q\}$  between the pairs i, j and p, q.

**Definition 7** (SYM). A social ranking  $\rho : \mathcal{C}^{2^N} \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^N$  satisfies the symmetry (SYM) property on  $\mathcal{C}^{2^N} \subseteq \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$  iff

$$i\rho(\succcurlyeq)j \Leftrightarrow p\rho(\succcurlyeq)q$$

for all  $i, j, p, q \in N$  and  $\geq \mathcal{C}^{2^N}$  such that  $|D_{ij}^k| = |D_{pq}^k|$  and  $|D_{ji}^k| = |D_{qp}^k|$  for each  $k = 0, \ldots, n-2$ .

The effect of the combination of these axioms is illustrated by the following theorems from [72].

**Theorem 8** ([72]). Let |N| > 3. There is no social ranking rule  $\rho : \mathcal{T}^{2^N} \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^N$  which satisfies DOM and SYM on  $\mathcal{T}^{2^N}$ .

On the other hand, the properties of IIC and SYM in combination determine a flattening of the social ranking on power relations where the relevant information is represented by coalitions of a given cardinality.

**Theorem 9** ([72]). Let  $\rho : \mathcal{T}^{2^N} \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^N$  be a social ranking satisfying IIC and SYM. Let  $\succeq \in \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$  and  $k \in \{0, \ldots, |N| - 2\}$  be such that  $S \cup \{i\} \succeq S \cup \{j\}$  and  $S \cup \{j\} \succeq S \cup \{i\}$ , for all  $S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i,j\}}$  with  $|S| \neq k$ ,  $D_{ij}^k(\succcurlyeq) \setminus D_{ji}^k(\succcurlyeq) \neq \emptyset$  and  $D_{ji}^k(\succcurlyeq) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $i, j \in N$ . Then  $i\rho(\succcurlyeq)j$  and  $j\rho(\succcurlyeq)i$  for each  $i, j \in N$ .

Theorem 9 suggests how to deal with situations where coalitions are of a fixed size (such situations are not so eccentric in real life). For instance, let us imagine that we have committees with a given number (k) of persons and that we have a ranking on them (for instance  $N = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$  and k = 2, with  $12 \geq 13 \geq 14 \geq 34 \geq 24 \geq 23$ ). Since committees are always formed by two persons, no information is available on subsets of N with  $l \neq k$  elements (or such information is irrelevant). How to define a social ranking in this case? One solution could be to consider all the other comparisons indifferent. Then, by Theorem 9, we know that SYM and IIC properties can be used in order to support a unanimous social ranking.

**Example 11.** Consider a power relation  $\succeq \in \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$  with  $N = \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$  and

 $13 \succ 23 \succ 12 \succ 24 \succ 14 \succ 34 \succ 15 \sim 25 \succ 35 \succ 45,$ 

all the other coalitions of the same size being indifferent (i.e.,  $S \cup \{i\} \succeq S \cup \{j\}$  and  $S \cup \{j\} \succeq S \cup \{i\}$ , for all  $S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i,j\}}$  with  $|S| \neq 1$  and  $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ ). We rewrite the relevant informations about  $\succcurlyeq$  and elements 1, 2 and 3 by means of Table 11. If a social ranking  $\rho$  satisfies both SYM and DOM, then by Theorem 9, all the elements in  $\{1, 2, 3\}$  are in relation with each other in  $\rho(\succcurlyeq)$  (i.e. they are all indifferent).

1 vs. 2	2 vs. 3	1 vs. 3
$1 \sim 2$	$2\sim 3$	$1 \sim 3$
$13 \succ 23$	$12 \prec 13$	$12 \prec 23$
$14 \prec 24$	$24 \succ 34$	$14 \succ 34$
$15\sim 25$	$25 \succ 35$	$15 \succ 35$
$134\sim234$	$124 \sim 134$	$124 \sim 234$
$135\sim235$	$125 \sim 135$	$125\sim235$
$1345\sim2345$	$1245 \sim 1345$	$1245\sim2345$

Table 3.2: The relevant informations about  $\succ$  of Example 11 and the elements 1, 2 and 3.

A special class of power relations (namely, the *per size-strong dominant* relations) are also considered in [72]: theyr are characterized by the fact that a relation of dominance always exists with respect to coalitions of the same size, but the dominance may change with the cardinality (for instance, an element *i* could dominate another element *j* when coalitions of size *s* are considered, but *j* could dominate *i* over coalitions of size  $t \neq s$ ). We first need to introduce the notion of *s*-strong dominance.

**Definition 8.** Let  $\succeq \in \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$ ,  $i, j \in N$  and  $s \in \{0, \ldots, n-2\}$ . We say that i s-strong dominates j in  $\succeq$ , iff

$$S \cup \{i\} \succ S \cup \{j\} \text{ for each } S \in 2^{N \setminus \{i,j\}} \text{ with } |S| = s.$$

$$(3.4)$$

**Definition 9.** We say that  $\geq \in \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$  is per size-strong dominant (shortly, ps-sdom) iff for each  $s \in \{0, \ldots, n-2\}$  and all  $i, j \in N$ , we have either

[i s-strong dominates j in  $\geq$ ] or [j s-strong dominates i in  $\geq$ ].

The set of all ps-sdom power relations is denoted by  $\mathcal{S}^{2^N} \subseteq \mathcal{T}^{2^N}$ .

In [72] we argue that if a social ranking satisfies both DOM and IIC on the set of ps-sdom power realtions  $S^{2^N}$ , then it must exist a cardinality  $t^* \in \{0, \ldots, n-2\}$  whose relation of  $t^*$ -strong dominance (dictatorially) determines the social ranking over all power relations in  $S^{2^N}$ .

**Theorem 10** ([72]). Let  $\rho : S^{2^N} \longrightarrow T^N$  be a social ranking satisfying IIC and DOM on  $S^{2^N}$ . There exists  $t^* \in \{0, \ldots, n-2\}$  such that

 $i\rho(\succcurlyeq)j \Leftrightarrow i \ t^*$ -strong dominates  $j \ in \ \succcurlyeq$ ,

for all  $i, j \in N$  and  $\geq \in S^{2^N}$ .

**Example 12.** Consider a power relation  $\succeq \in S^{2^N}$  with  $N = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$  and such that

 $\begin{array}{l} 1\succ 2\succ 3\succ 4\\ 34\succ 24\succ 14\succ 23\succ 13\succ 12\\ 123\succ 134\succ 124\succ 234. \end{array}$ 

We rewrite the relevant informations about  $\succ$  by means of Table 12. Theorem 10 says that if a social ranking

1 vs. 2	2 vs. 3	1 vs. 3	1 vs. 4	2 vs. 4	3 vs. 4
$1 \succ 2$	$2 \succ 3$	$1 \succ 3$	$1 \succ 4$	$2 \succ 4$	$3 \succ 4$
$13 \prec 23$	$12 \prec 13$	$12 \prec 23$	$12 \prec 24$	$12 \prec 14$	$13 \prec 14$
$14 \prec 24$	$24 \prec 34$	$14 \prec 34$	$13 \prec 34$	$23 \prec 34$	$23 \prec 24$
$134 \succ 234$	$124 \prec 134$	$124 \succ 234$	$123 \succ 234$	$123 \succ 134$	$123 \succ 124$

Table 3.3: The relevant informations about  $\succeq$ .

satisfies DOM and IIC on  $S^{2^N}$ , then it must yield on  $\succeq$  one of the following three possible linear orders:  $1\rho(\succeq)2\rho(\succeq)3\rho(\succeq)4$  (corresponding to the relation of 0-strong dominance);  $4\rho(\succeq)3\rho(\succeq)2\rho(\succeq)1$  (corresponding to the relation of 1-strong dominance);  $4\rho(\succeq)1\rho(\succeq)2\rho(\succeq)2$  (corresponding to the relation of 2-strong dominance). For instance, suppose that the social ranking is  $4\rho(\geq)2\rho(\geq)3\rho(\geq)1$ . Define a new power relation  $\exists \in S^{2^N}$  such that (again, the main changes with respect to  $\geq$  are shown in bold):

$$1 \Box 2 \Box 3 \Box 4$$
  
34  $\Box 23 \Box 24 \Box 13 \Box 14 \Box 12$   
123  $\Box 134 \Box 234 \Box 124$ 

We rewrite the relevant informations about  $\supseteq$  by means of Table 12. By DOM we have that  $3\rho(\supseteq)4$  and

1 vs. 2	2 vs. 3	1 vs. 3	1 vs. 4	2 vs. 4	3 vs. 4
$1 \sqsupset 2$	$2 \sqsupset 3$	$1 \sqsupseteq 3$	$1 \sqsupset 4$	$2 \sqsupset 4$	$3 \sqsupset 4$
$13 \sqsubset 23$	$12 \sqsubset 13$	$12 \sqsubset 23$	$12 \sqsubset 24$	$12 \sqsubset 14$	$13 \sqsupseteq 14$
$14 \sqsubset 24$	$24 \sqsubset 34$	$14 \sqsubset 34$	$13 \sqsubset 34$	$23 \sqsubset 34$	$23 \sqsupseteq 24$
$134 \square 234$	$124 \sqsubset 134$	$124 \sqsubset 234$	$123 \square 234$	$123 \sqsupset 134$	$123 \sqsupset 124$

Table 3.4: The relevant informations about  $\supseteq$ .

 $\neg(4\rho(\exists)3)$ . By IIC we have  $4\rho(\exists)2$  and  $2\rho(\exists)3$  (the columns '2 vs. 4' and '2 vs. 3' are the same in the Tables 12 and 12, respectively), which yields a contradiction with the transitivity of  $\rho(\exists)$ .

#### **3.3** Preference extensions

The "inverse problem" of the one introduced in Section 3.2 is summarized by the following question: how to derive a ranking over the set of all subsets of N in a way that is "compatible" with a primitive ranking over the single elements of N? This question has been carried out in the tradition of the literature on extending an order on a set N to its *power set* (the set of all possible subsets of N) with the objective to axiomatically characterize families of ordinal preferences over subsets (see, for instance, [87, 88, 98, 99, 122, 118, 132, 135]). In this context, an order  $\succeq$  on the power set of N is required to be an *extension* of a primitive order P on N. This means that the relative ranking of any two singleton sets according to  $\succeq$  must be the same as the relative ranking of the corresponding alternatives according to P.

The different axiomatic approaches in the literature are related to the interpretation of the properties used to characterize extensions, which is deeply related to the meaning that is attributed to sets. According to the survey [88], the main contributions from the literature on ranking sets of objects may be grouped in three main classes of problems: 1) *complete uncertainty*, where a decision-maker (DM) is asked to rank sets which are considered as formed by mutually exclusive objects (i.e., only one object from a set will materialize), and taking into account that the DM cannot influence the selection of an object from a set (see, for instance, [87, 132, 154]); 2) *opportunity sets*, where sets contain again mutually exclusive objects but, in this case, a DM compares sets taking into account that he will be able to select a single element from a set (see, for example, [99, 135, 165]); 3) *sets as final outcomes*, where each set contains objects that are assumed to materialize simultaneously (if that set is selected; for instance, see [98, 118, 168]).

In [46] and [3] we focus on the problem of the third class, where sets of elements materialize simultaneously. A standard application of this kind of problems is the *college admissions problem* [168, 121], where colleges need to rank sets of students based on their ranking of individual applicants.

The model introduced in [46] (and further studied in [3]) relies on the fact that an utility function attached to a total preorder on  $2^N$  represents a coalitional game (provided we set the utility of the empty set to be equal to zero). Since probabilistic values [179, 102, 103, 142, 158] do provide a natural ranking among the elements of the set N (the players in the game theoretical context, the objects in this approach), according to [46] and [3] we can use them in the following sense: given a probabilistic value  $\pi^p$  (recall the definition provided in Section 1.2.2), a total preorder  $\geq$  on  $2^N$  will be  $\pi^p$ -aligned, provided that from  $\{i\} \geq \{j\}$  it follows that  $\pi^p$  ranks better *i* than *j* for every possible choice of the utility function representing  $\geq$ . In other terms, an extension  $\geq$ on  $2^N$  is such that it never changes the mutual positions in the rankings of the objects in N according to  $\pi^p(v)$ , whatever coalitional game v is used to numerically represent the preference relation  $\geq$  on  $2^N$ .

To be more specific, In [46], we introduce the class of *Shapley extensions*, for their attitude to preserve the ranking provided by the *Shapley value* [170, 171], whereas in [3] we are interested in extensions that are  $\pi$ -aligned to all probabilistic values, or alternatively, to subfamilies of these values.

In [46], a central property for total preorders on  $2^N$  is the *responsiveness* (RESP) property, introduced by [168] for the analysis of the college admission problem:

30

**Definition 10** (responsiveness, RESP). A total preorder  $\succeq$  on  $2^N$  satisfies the RESP property on  $2^N$  if for all  $i, j \in N$  and all  $S \in 2^N$ ,  $i, j \notin S$  we have that

$$\{i\} \succcurlyeq \{j\} \Leftrightarrow S \cup \{i\} \succcurlyeq S \cup \{j\}. \tag{3.5}$$

An extension that satisfies the RESP property does not take into account the fact that some objects together can present some form of incompatibility or, on the contrary, of mutual enforcement.

Restricted to sets A of fixed cardinality  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , representing the maximal number of students the college can admit, the RESP property was used by [98] to characterize (together with another property called *fixed-Cardinality neutrality*, saying that the labelling of the alternatives is irrelevant in establishing the ranking among sets of fixed cardinality q) the family of *lexicographic rank-ordered extensions*.

We now introduce another property for extensions, namely, the monotonicity property [135, 165].

**Definition 11** (Monotoncity, MON). A total preorder  $\geq on 2^N$  satisfies the monotonicity property iff for each  $S, T \in 2^N$  we have that

$$S \subseteq T \Rightarrow T \succcurlyeq S.$$

The MON property states that each set of objects is weakly preferred to each of its subsets. In other words, the MON property excludes the possibility that some objects in a set  $S \in 2^N$  may be incompatible with some others not in S.

Let  $\succeq$  be a total preorder on  $2^N$ . For each  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , a sub-extension  $\succeq_S$  is a relation on  $2^S$  such that for each  $U, V \in 2^S$ ,

$$U \succcurlyeq V \Leftrightarrow U \succcurlyeq_S V.$$

We may now introduce the last property of this section, namely the *sub-extendibility* property for Shapley extensions.

**Definition 12** (Sub-Extendibility, SE). A Shapley extension  $\succeq$  on  $2^N$  satisfies the sub-extendibility property iff for each  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  we have that  $\succeq_S$  is a Shapley extension on  $2^S$ .

The SE property states that the effects of interaction among objects must be "compatible" not only with the information provided by the original preference on single elements of N, but also with the information provided by all restrictions of such a preference to each non-empty subset S of N. This means that the personal attribution of importance assigned to objects, and taking into account the effects of interaction, must be consistent with the primitive ranking, independently from the size of the universal set considered.

The following definition formally introduces the notion of Shapley extension.

**Definition 13.** A total provder  $\succeq$  on  $2^N$  is a Shapley extension iff for each numerical representation  $v \in \mathcal{G}_{\succeq}^N$  of  $\succeq$  we have that

$$\{i\} \succcurlyeq \{j\} \Leftrightarrow \phi_i(v) \ge \phi_j(v)$$

for all  $i, j \in N$ .

Next theorem is important in establishing the connection between MON, SE and RESP properties.

**Theorem 11** (from [46]). Let  $\succeq$  be a total preorder on  $2^N$  which satisfies the MON property. The following two statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $\succ$  satisfies the RESP property.
- (ii)  $\succ$  is a Shapley extension and satisfies the SE property.

By Theorem 11 we have characterized a class of Shapley extensions aimed to rank subsets of objects in absence of complementarity effects. Another goal in [46] and, in particular, in [3], is to analyze properties of Shapley extensions that, due to the effects of interaction among objects, may "invert" (with respect to the conditions imposed by the RESP property) the relative ranking of a limited number of subsets. To this purpose, in [3] we required that Definition 13 holds for every semivalue where the probability distribution over the subsets S of N not containing i is a function of the cardinality of S, and it is the same for all i in N.

**Definition 14** ( $\pi^{\mathbf{p}}$ -alignement). Given a set N, a total preorder  $\succeq$  on  $2^N$  and a semivalue  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}} \in S$ , we shall say that  $\succeq$  is  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}}$ -aligned if

$$\{i\} \succcurlyeq \{j\} \Leftrightarrow \pi^{\mathbf{p}}_i(v) \ge \pi^{\mathbf{p}}_j(v)$$

for each  $v \in V(\succeq)$ .

**Definition 15** (PR). We say that a total preorder  $\succeq$  on  $2^N$  satisfies the permutational responsiveness (PR) property if for each  $i, j \in N$  we have that

$$\{i\} \succcurlyeq \{j\} \Leftrightarrow \theta(\Sigma_{ij}^s, i)_k \succcurlyeq \theta(\Sigma_{ij}^s, j)_k \tag{3.6}$$

for every  $k = 1, \ldots, |\Sigma_{ij}^s|$  and every  $s = 0, \ldots, n-2$  (see Section 1.2.1 for the definition of  $\Sigma_{ij}^s$ ).

In other terms, for each  $i, j \in N$  such that  $\{i\} \succcurlyeq \{j\}$  and for each  $s = 0, \ldots, n-2$ , the PR property admits the possibility of relative rankings which violate the conditions imposed by the RESP property (i.e.,  $S \cup \{j\}$ is preferred to  $S \cup \{i\}$ ) due to the effect of mutual interaction within the objects in S. Nevertheless, such an interaction should be compatible with the requirement that, between sets of the same cardinality, the original relative ranking between  $\{i\}$  and  $\{j\}$  should be preserved with respect to the position of subsets in  $\Sigma_{ij}^s$  and  $\Sigma_{ji}^s$ , when they are arranged in descending order of preference (i.e., the most preferred subsets in  $\Sigma_{ij}^s$  should be preferred to the most preferred subsets in  $\Sigma_{ji}^s$ , the second most preferred subsets in  $\Sigma_{ij}^k$  should be preferred to the second most preferred subsets in  $\Sigma_{ji}^s$ , etc.). So, differently from RESP, the PR property can keep into account possible interaction effects among the elements of N.

In [46] it is shown that the PR condition is sufficient to guarantee that a total preorder is aligned with all semivalues. The following example, instead, displays a total preorder on  $2^{\{1,2,3,4\}}$  which is  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}}$ -aligned for all  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}} \in \mathcal{S}$  and that does not satisfy the PR property.

**Example 13.** Let  $X = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$  and let  $\succeq$  be a total preorder such that  $\{1, 2, 3, 4\} \succ \{2, 3, 4\} \succ \{3, 4\} \succ \{4\} \succ \{3\} \succ \{2\} \succ \{2, 4\} \succ \{1, 4\} \succ \{1, 3\} \succ \{2, 3\} \succ \{1, 3, 4\} \succ \{1, 2, 4\} \succ \{1, 2, 3\} \succ \{1, 2\} \succ \{1\} \succ \emptyset$ .

Note that  $\succeq$  does not satisfy PR because  $\{2\} \succ \{1\}$ ,  $\{2,4\}$  is strictly preferred to  $\{1,4\}$  and  $\{1,3\}$  is strictly preferred to  $\{2,3\}$ . However,  $\succeq$  is  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}}$ -aligned for all semivalues  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}} \in \mathcal{S}$  (see the Appendix in [3] for the details of the proof).

In [3] we also introduce the property that is necessary and sufficient for the alignment of the preorder to all semivalues. For every  $i, j \in N$ , we set  $\mathcal{D}_{ij}^s$  to be the set  $\mathcal{D}_{ij}^s = \Sigma_{ij}^s \cup \Sigma_{ij}^{s+1}$  for  $s = 0, \ldots, n-3$ . With a little abuse of notation, set  $\mathcal{D}_{ij}^{n-2} = \Sigma_{ij}^{n-1}$ .

**Definition 16** (double permutational responsiveness, DPR). We say that a total preorder on  $2^N$  satisfies the double permutational responsiveness (DPR) property if for each  $i, j \in N$  we have that

$$\{i\} \succcurlyeq \{j\} \Leftrightarrow \theta(\mathcal{D}_{ij}^s, i)_k \succcurlyeq \theta(\mathcal{D}_{ij}^s, j)_k \tag{3.7}$$

for every  $k = 1, \ldots, |\mathcal{D}_{ij}^s|$  and every  $s = 0, \ldots, n-2$ .

Intuitive examples of the meaning of the DPR property could involve the comparison of committees whose size is not fixed *a priori* but, according to different external contingencies, may vary and differ of at most one member.

**Theorem 12** (from [3]). Let  $\succeq$  be a total preorder on  $2^N$ . The following statements are equivalent:

- 1)  $\succ$  fulfils the DPR property;
- 2)  $\succ$  is  $\pi^{\mathbf{p}}$ -aligned for all semivalues.

#### 3.4 Future directions

An interesting direction for problems discussed in Section 3.2, is the analysis of more realistic classes of power relations, where, for instance, certain relative comparisons of strength are not possible (e.g., for lack of information, or the impossibility to compare on the same scale some social and political attributes of the coalitions, etc.). Note that assuming that two coalitions S and T are not comparable does not imply that S and T cannot form or cannot be compared to other coalitions (with respect to this aspect, the model introduced in Section

For the game theoretic approach introduced in Section 3.2.1, it would be interesting to investigate alternative notions of "intensity" of coalitional dominance, other than the one of relative score considered in [5]. For instance, in the power relation  $\{1,2,3\} \succ \{2\} \succ \{1,3\} \succ \{1,2\} \succ \{3\} \succ \{1\} \succ \emptyset \succ \{2,3\}$  (where the reader may check that both players 1 and 2 coalitionally dominate player 3), one could argue that the dominance of player 2 over 3 is stronger than the one of player 1 over 3 because among the singletons coalitions it holds that  $\{2\} \succ \{3\}$  and  $\{3\} \succ \{1\}$ .

Another possible direction for future research on the topic discussed in Section 3.2.2 is the open question about which axioms could be used to characterize a social ranking over the domain of all possible power relations. In view of our results, each combination of the axioms we propose in this paper is not satisfactory. In this respect, it is worth noting that all the properties that we analysed are based on the comparison of subsets having the same number of elements. Therefore, it would be interesting to study properties based on the comparison among subsets with different cardinalities.

### Chapter 4

### Algorithmic game theory

#### 4.1 Overview of the chapter

This chapter is devoted to the discussion of algorithms for the computation and the analysis of equilibria in non-cooperative games. Classical non-cooperative situations that are considered in the domain of algorithmic game theory are those where a group of rational players share a common resource, and where the outcome of their interaction is influenced by the action taken by each single player. Typical examples are *strategic* connection situations, that are the non-cooperative counterpart of situations considered in Section 2.2. As in the cooperative framework, each player corresponds to a node of the graph and wants to be connected, directly or via other agents, with a source. Again, links are costly (e.g., due to the energy consumption needed to send a message to a remote agent), but now we suppose that each player-node is allowed to construct a single link which connects himself to another node in the network (i.e., another player or a source) and the decision on which link to construct is taken individually (i.e., it is not allowed to sign binding agreements with other agents). The cost incurred by each player depends both on the cost of the network constructed under a certain strategy profile and on the protocol used to allocate among the players the total cost of such a network. In this framework it is interesting to look at the dynamic process of improvement of each agent's payoff (i.e, the reduction of individual costs) in response to actions made by other agents, that can be modelled via a better response dynamics (BRD) (see Section 1.2.2). Do the players converge to an equilibrium via a BRD? Do we have convergence after a small number of deviations, starting fro any state? Is the state or strategy profile corresponding to an equilibrium also efficient? This kind of questions are in general (and not only on connection situations) of major importance in algorithmic game theory. Answers to questions of these type and on different strategic situations are provided in this chapter.

We start in Section 4.2, with a summary of the main results published in the article [47], where we analysed strategic games based on (non-cooperative) connection situations with the aim of coordinating rational agents (placed on the vertices of a graph) and whose objective is to construct an efficient network. In [47], we first analysed the effects of monotonicity and other basic properties on the optimality of a cost allocation protocol. Successively, we studied the problem of designing cost allocation protocols that can guarantee the convergence of a BRD in these games.

Section 4.3 deals with the model studied in [6] for *congestion situations*. Significant interest has been addressed over the last years to the analysis of practical congestion problems on Internet. Data delays and losses due to data congestions, or the network collapse as a consequence of exceeding the data flow capacity of some links or nodes, is an important issue on Internet. Several policies have been proposed to control congestion, in order to regulate and improve the availability of broadband access to the Internet. Priority rules, for instance, have been adopted to regulate the users who enter into the network, with the objective to prevent congestion and to obtain a Quality of Service (QoS) that otherwise would not be available to users. To this aim, in [6] we introduced the class of congestion games with capacitated resources, where each resource is associated both with a capacity level, representing the maximum number of users that such a resource may simultaneously accommodate, and with an ordering on the users, prescribing the priority of accommodation of the users.

Finally, Section 4.4 is based on paper [44], where we considered strategic interaction situations on *social networks*. On those social networks, the players interact only with their neighbours and the relationship between them can be modelled in terms of two-players games. More precisely, on a particular subclass of problems, in [44] we suggested how to design mechanisms that make possible to influence the players' behaviour towards a

desired direction. In other words, we studied some indirect mechanisms in which agents repeatedly play a base game and, at each time step, they are prescribed to choose the best-response to the strategies currently selected by other agents. Roughly speaking, this class of mechanisms takes advantage of the dynamic nature of many systems to induce the desired outcome. In [44], we also provided several definitions of fairness based on different aspects of the problem.

#### 4.2 Strategic games on connection situations

In Section 2.2, we have discussed a model of cost sharing on connection situations using cooperative games. Recently, several authors have studied connection situations in a non-cooperative setting [116, 93, 125], by means of games in strategic form where each player-node is allowed to construct a single edge which connects himself to another node in the network (that may be another player or the source). Like in the cooperative framework, each edge has a cost, and the cost of being disconnected from the source is supposed to be larger than any finite cost that could guarantee the connection with the source. Consequently, players want to be connected to the source at any (finite) cost, but of course they are self-interested to save their own money. Cost incurred by players depend both on the cost of the network that is constructed under a certain strategy profile, and also on the protocol used to allocate among the players the total cost of such a network.

For instance, in [125] the authors focused on a strategic game corresponding to the cost allocation protocol provided by the Bird rule [94]. As shown in [125], the Bird rule satisfies a variety of desirable properties. In particular, the associated BRD converges to a pure Nash equilibrium. However such a Nash equilibrium may not correspond to a graph of minimum cost. The question about the existence of a cost allocation protocol that guarantees the convergence of each BRD to a network of minimum cost remained open until the paper [47], where we introduced specific protocols that guarantee the convergence of the BRD.

To be more precise, using the same notations introduced in Section 1.2.1 and also in Section 2.2, given a set of nodes (and a source)  $N' = N \cup \{0\}$ , consider a graph  $\langle N', E \rangle$ , where  $E \subseteq E_{N'}$  is the set of edges. Suppose also that it is given a *weight function*  $w : E \to \mathbb{R}^+$  assigning to each edge  $\{i, j\} \in E$  a non-negative number  $w(\{i, j\})$  representing the weight or cost of edge  $\{i, j\}$ .

In the following, we describe the ingredients of a connection game, that is a strategic cost game  $\mathcal{CG}^E = \langle N, (S_i)_{i \in N}, (c_i)_{i \in N} \rangle$  on the player-set N, where each  $i \in N$  needs to be connected to the source 0, either directly or via other nodes which are connected to the source. The strategy space of every player  $i \in N$  coincides with its set of neighbours in the graph, i.e.  $S_i = \{j \in V : \{i, j\} \in E\}$ . When a player i plays a neighbour j, then edge  $\{i, j\}$  is built. Therefore, a state s is a vector  $(s_1, s_2, \dots, s_n) \in S = S_1 \times S_2 \times \ldots \times S_n$ . With a small abuse of notation, the set of edges built by the players and associated with state  $s \in S$  is denoted by  $E(s) = \{\{i, s_i\} : i \in N\}$ . For a state  $s \in S$ , con(s) and dis(s) denote the players who are connected and disconnected from the source, respectively. Finally, the last ingredient of game  $\mathcal{CG}^E$  is the cost allocation protocol (or, simply, protocol)  $c_i : S \to \mathbb{R}$ : for each strategy profile  $s \in S$ ,  $c_i(s)$  indicates the cost incurred by player  $i \in N$ . It is assumed that a player not connected to 0 has an infinite cost. Of course, it is also assumed that players want to minimize their costs.

Consider the graph  $T_s = \langle \operatorname{con}(s) \cup \{0\}, E(\operatorname{con}(s)) \cap E(s) \rangle$  (recall from Section 1.2.1, that  $E(\operatorname{con}(s)) = \{\{i, j\} \in E : i, j \in \operatorname{con}(s)\}$ ). Note that  $T_s$  is a tree, since  $T_s$  is connected by construction and contains exactly  $|\operatorname{con}(s)| + 1$ . The social cost of a state s is defined as  $\sum_{i \in N} c_i(s)$ .

A Nash equilibrium  $s \in S$  in  $C\mathcal{G}^E$  is said to be *efficient* in game  $C\mathcal{G}^E$  iff the corresponding graph  $\langle N', E(s) \rangle$  is a most for  $\langle N', E \rangle$  with respect to the map w (i.e.  $w(E(s)) = \sum_{e \in E(s)} w(e)$  equals the minimum cost over all networks connecting all nodes in N'). In the following, we provide some properties studied in [47] for cost allocation protocols. A cost allocation protocol c is said to be :

- i) Budget Balanced (BB) iff  $\sum_{i \in con(S)} c_i(s) = w(E(s))$  for every state s;
- ii) Consistent (Cons) iff every associated BRD reaches a NE;
- iii) Optimal (Opt) iff every associated BRD reaches an efficient NE;
- iv) Individual Monotonic (IM) iff for every  $s \in S$ ,  $i \in con(s)$  and  $\hat{s}_i \in S_i$ ,  $w(i, \hat{s}_i) \ge w(i, s_i) \Rightarrow c_i(\hat{s}_i, s_{-i}) \ge c_i(s)$ ;
- v) Independent from Disconnected Components (IDC) iff for every state s, for every weight vector  $w, w' \in (\mathbb{R}^+)^m$  with w(e) = w'(e) for every  $e \in E(\operatorname{con}(s)) \cap E(s)$ , then  $c_i(w, s) = c_i(w', s)$  for every  $i \in \operatorname{con}(s)$ .



Figure 4.1: A 2-player instance of the connection game.

Cons and Opt properties deal with the notion of convergence of the associated BRD. Property BB implies that the cost of the edges in the network connected to the source is fully supported by its users. Property IM states that if a player *i*, who is connected to the source in a state *s*, decides to construct a more expensive edge to another neighbour  $\hat{s}_i$ , then the protocol will charge *i* in state  $(\hat{s}_i, s_{-i})$  more than in *s*. Property IDC says that the allocation of the cost of the network  $T_s$  connected to the source in a state *s* should depend only on the edges in  $T_s$  (note that property IDC is called "State Independence" in [47]).

In [47], we proved that there is no BB protocol satisfying both IM and Opt properties, as illustrated by Figure 4.1, where w(1,2) = x, w(1,0) = y, w(2,0) = z and with z > y > x > 0. To see this, just take the suboptimal strategy profile where player 1 plays 2 while player 2 plays 0. If player 2 deviates, playing strategy 1, the network is disconnected from the source, and the cost of 2 (and of 1) would be infinite. If player 1 deviates, playing strategy 0, then the cost allocated to 1 by a protocol c that satisfies property IM in state (0,0) should be larger than in state (2,0). This means that the strategy profile (2,0) is a Nash equilibrium, but it is not efficient (by the BB property); so, c is not optimal. Similarly, there is no BB protocol which is both IDC and Opt [47]. These impossibility results imply that a large family of solutions from the literature on (cooperative) mcst games like *obligation rules* [22], which are cost monotonic, and *CC-rules* [16], which are IDC, are not optimal in the strategic framework. Nevertheless, in [47] we show that optimal and budget balanced protocols exist, as it is shortly discussed in the following.

For each state  $s \in S$ , let  $T_s^* = \langle \operatorname{con}(s)', E^* \rangle$  be one specific minimum cost spanning tree on the sub-graph  $G[\operatorname{con}(s)]$ . The state which corresponds to  $T_s^*$  is denoted by  $s^*$  and we say that a player  $i \in \operatorname{con}(s)$  follows  $T_s^*$  in s iff  $s_i = s_i^*$ : this means that the strategy of player i is his first neighbour in the unique path from i to the source 0 in  $E^*$ . We define  $\hat{V}(s)$  as the players of  $\operatorname{con}(s)$  such that  $s_i \neq s_i^*$  and  $\operatorname{con}(s) = \operatorname{con}(s_i^*, s_{-i})$ . Players in  $\hat{V}(s)$  do not follow  $T_s^*$  and are such that if they unilaterally change their strategy to follow it, then the set of connected players remains unchanged. It is possible to prove that if there exists  $i \in \operatorname{con}(s)$  such that  $s_i \neq s_i^*$ , then  $\hat{V}(s) \neq \emptyset$  (see [47] for more details).

Let M(s) be the total weight of the optimal tree  $T_s^*$ , i.e.  $M(s) = \sum_{e \in E^*} w(e)$ . The difference between the weight of the edges built by the players connected to the source and the minimal weight for connecting these players is denoted by  $\Delta(s) = \sum_{e \in E(\operatorname{con}(s)) \cap E(s)} w(e) - M(s)$ . Two protocols satisfying Opt exist.

players is denoted by  $\Delta(s) = \sum_{e \in E(\operatorname{con}(s)) \cap E(s)} w(e) - M(s)$ . Two protocols satisfying Opt exist. In the *first protocol*, denoted by  $\overline{c}$ , all connected players equally share the cost of an optimal network (namely  $\frac{M(s)}{|\operatorname{con}(s)|}$ ) except one player, denoted by f(s), who is charged  $\frac{M(s)}{|\operatorname{con}(s)|}$  plus the extra cost of the current state  $\Delta(s)$ , for each state  $s \in S$ . More precisely, let  $f(s) = \min \hat{V}(s)$  be the node of  $\hat{V}(s)$  with minimum index if  $\hat{V}(s) \neq \emptyset$  and  $f(s) = \emptyset$  otherwise. Formally, for each state  $s \in S$ , the players' costs according to  $\overline{c}$  are the following:

- if  $i \in \operatorname{con}(s) \setminus \{f(s)\}$ , then  $\bar{c}_i(s) = \frac{M(s)}{|\operatorname{con}(s)|}$
- if  $f(s) \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\bar{c}_{f(s)}(s) = \frac{M(s)}{|con(s)|} + \Delta(s)$ ,
- if  $i \in dis(s)$ , then  $\bar{c}_i(s) = +\infty$ .

In the second protocol, denoted by  $\hat{c}$ , all connected players who follow the optimal strategy profile  $T_s^*$  pay according to the Bird rule while the other connected players (who do not follow  $T_s^*$ ) pay what they should pay in  $T_s^*$  with the Bird rule plus an extra cost, for each state  $s \in S$ . We assume that this extra cost is shared equally. More precisely, for each state  $s \in S$ , according to protocol  $\hat{c}$ , the players' costs are the following:

- if  $i \in dis(s)$ , then  $\hat{c}_i(s) = +\infty$ ,
- if  $i \in \operatorname{con}(s) \setminus \hat{V}(s)$ , then  $\hat{c}_i(s) = w(i, s_i)$ ,
- if  $i \in \hat{V}(s)$ , then  $\hat{c}_i(s) = w(i, s_i^*) + \frac{\Delta(s)}{|\hat{V}(s)|}$  (actually here, it is possible to define alternative protocols using any cost function  $w(i, s_i^*) + g_i(s)$  such that  $g_i(s) > 0$  and  $\sum_{i \in \texttt{con}(s)} g_i(s) = \Delta(s)$ ).



Figure 4.2: A connection situation with only one mcst.

One can observe that the total weight of E(s), for each state  $s \in S$ , is always covered by the connected players according to both protocols  $\bar{c}$  and  $\hat{c}$ . Therefore, both protocols are BB.

**Example 14.** Consider the connection situation depicted in Figure 4.2. Note that there is a unique mcst of cost 2, that is the tree  $\{\{1,2\}, \{0,1\}\}$ . The connection games associated with protocol  $\bar{c}$  and  $\hat{c}$ , in the connection situation depicted in Figure 4.2 are shown in Table 4.1 (player 1 is the row player and player 2 is the column player).

	0	1		0	1
0	1, 5	1, 1	0	2, 4	2,0
2	3, 1	$\infty,\infty$	2	4,0	$\infty,\infty$

Table 4.1: Connection games corresponding to the graph of Figure 4.2 using protocol  $\bar{c}$  (left side) and protocol  $\hat{c}$  (right side) respectively.

In [47], we proved that the cost protocols  $\bar{c}$  and  $\hat{c}$  satisfy the properties of cons and Opt, and the BRD converges after at most  $n^3$  if all players play their *best* response under protocol  $\bar{c}$ , whereas the BRD converges after at most  $|E|n^2$  if the players play their *best* response under protocol  $\hat{c}$ .

#### 4.3 Congestion games

Congestion games [166] deal with interaction situations where the cost associated with the use of a resource or facility depends on the number of players that use it. In order to model more realistic situations, congestion games have been generalized in several directions including models where players have different weights, or when the cost of using a resource depends on the identity of the players that are using it, etc. (see, for instance, [146, 78]).

More precisely, a congestion situation is composed by a finite set of players  $N = \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , a finite set of facilities  $\mathcal{R}$  and a map  $d_r : \{0, \cdots, n\} \to \mathbb{N}$  which associates to each facility  $r \in \mathcal{R}$  the cost of facility r as a function of the number of its users. Let  $S_i \subseteq 2^{\mathcal{R}}$  be the strategy space of player  $i \in N$ . We denote by  $n_r(s)$  the number of players using the resource r according to a strategy profile  $s = (s_i)_{i \in N} \in \prod_{i \in N} S_i$ . The cost for a player i in state s is denoted by  $c_i(s)$ , and is defined as the sum of the costs of the resources used by i in s, that is  $c_i(s) = \sum_{r \in s_i} d_r(n_r(s))$ . The associated congestion game is then defined as the strategic game  $\langle N, (S_i)_{i \in N}, (c_i)_{i \in N} \rangle$ .

More precisely, in [6], we enriched the original congestion situations introduced in [166] assuming that all resources are provided with a capacity and an ordering over the players: if the number of users of a resource does not exceed its capacity then it behaves like the classical model of congestion; otherwise, if the capacity is exceeded, only a given number among the first users in the ordering are retained.

In [6] we associated with each facility  $r \in \mathcal{R}$  a capacity  $\kappa_r \in \mathbb{R}$  and a bijection  $\succ_r : N \to N$  representing the priority of the players for the facility r. According to the model we introduced in [6], the first  $\kappa_r$  users in the ordering  $\succ_r$  face a cost for using facility r equal to  $d_r(n_r(s))$  (like in the original congestion game introduced in [166]), whereas the remaining players, if any, face an infinite cost. The final goal in [6] is to provide necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of (pure) Nash equilibria of these games and to propose efficient algorithms to find them.

First, in [6] we showed that congestion games with capacities and priorities may not have a Nash equilibrium. In the game corresponding to Figure 4.3, for instance, there are two players and three facilities x, y and z. The strategy space is  $\{\{x\}, \{y, z\}\}$ . The facility x has a capacity of 1 and  $d_x(1) = 2$ . The facility y has a capacity of 2 and  $d_y(1) = 3$ ,  $d_y(2) = 0$ . The facility z has a capacity of 1 and  $d_z(1) = 0$ . The priority is always given to player 1 for all facilities.

In [6] we also proved the following results.


Figure 4.3: A situation with two players and three facilities without Nash equilibria [[6]].

**Theorem 13** ([6]). All congestion games with capacity and priorities over the facilities and with only two facilities ( $|\mathcal{R}| = 2$ ) have a Nash equilibrium that can be computed in polynomial time.

Moreover, in [6], we focused on the class of congestion games with capacities and priorities where players can use only one facility (so,  $|s_i| = 1$  for each strategy  $s_i \in S_i$  and each player  $i \in N$ ), and we provided the following theorem.

**Theorem 14** ([6]). Every congestion game with singleton strategies (and with capacities and priorities over the facilities) is a potential game.

Another interesting result shown in [6] is that the BRD of these games converges to the Nash equilibrium in at most  $\max\{|N|, |\mathcal{R}|\}$  steps.

#### 4.4 Games on social networks

Another interesting class of (non-cooperative) network games are *social coordination games*, that we studied in the paper [44]. In *social coordination games*, each player is in a node of a graph and prefers to coordinate with their *neighbours* in the graph, (i.e., to take the same action or choose the same product), rather than conflicting with them. For example, given a network  $\langle N, E \rangle$ , each player/node has at most two available strategies, say 0 and 1, and the *local coordination games*  $\mathcal{G}_e$  (see also [117]) corresponding to the edge  $e = \{u, v\} \in E$  is given by the following cost matrix:

	0	1
0	$\alpha_u^e(0), \alpha_v^e(0)$	$\beta_u^e(0), \beta_v^e(1)$
1	$\beta_u^e(1), \beta_v^e(0)$	$\alpha_u^e(1), \alpha_v^e(1)$

where the costs for agreements are smaller or equal to the costs for disagreements (even if these costs may vary depending on which strategy a player adopts), i.e.  $\beta_k^e(b) \ge \alpha_k^e(b') \ge 0$  for all  $b, b' \in \{0, 1\}$  and k = u, v.

Social coordination games have been largely adopted for modelling the spread of innovation in social networks. Here, network members have to choose between a new and an old technology, for example, a chat protocol. Clearly, each node prefers to choose the same chat protocol as her neighbours. Thus, once the number of neighbours adopting the new technology is greater than the number of users of the old technology, a node will change for the new chat protocol. It is also assumed that players prefer to use the new technology more than the previous one (that is, the old technology has a strategy cost higher than the new one) or, vice versa, that the price of the new technology is higher than the price of the old one. These strategy costs influence the threshold, making a node eager to adopt the new technology.

**Example 15.** Consider the following coordination game with two players (the row player  $i_0$  and column player  $i_1$ ) both with strategies  $\{0, 1\}$ :

	0	1
0	$0, \epsilon$	$1-\epsilon, 1-\epsilon$
1	$1-\epsilon, 1-\epsilon$	$\epsilon, 0$

Assume moreover that the row player incurs a preference cost b for playing strategy  $b \in \{0, 1\}$  while the column player has a preference cost for playing strategy b of 1 - b. The actual costs faced by the players are then as follows:

		0	1
(	0	$0, 1 + \epsilon$	$1-\epsilon, 1-\epsilon$
-	1	$2-\epsilon, 2-\epsilon$	$1 + \epsilon, 0$

Notice that for  $0 < \epsilon < \frac{1}{3}$ , the two configurations of minimal total cost are (0,0) and (1,1), but the unique Nash equilibrium of the game is (0,1). This example shows that it is often impossible to force the agents to play according to the optimal solution because the optimum may not be an equilibrium.

In [44] we focused on *incentive-compatible best-response mechanisms* [153], where a desired outcome is induced by means of a repeated playing of a *base game* where agents are prescribed to choose the best-response to the strategies currently selected by other agents. For particular classes of interaction situations, it is in fact possible to modify conveniently the players' cost functions so that players have no incentive to deviate from this prescribed behaviour and the mechanism converges to a desired equilibrium. In particular, in [44] we considered a special way of modifying a cost function in local coordination games. First, we assumed that the mechanism may assign to players playing the desired strategy special *fees* (possible negative) in place of the costs arising from social relationships. Second, we assume that the mechanism is *frugal*, which means that the mechanism can be implemented by a designer without any cost. This means that whenever inducing a player to play the target strategy has a cost for the designer, it should be possible to collect in advance the necessary amount of money from other players.

In [44] we also showed that in social coordination games, made by local coordination games where each player has two strategies as in the example above, the optimal strategy profile can be efficiently computed and it is always possible to efficiently design a frugal best-response mechanism for inducing this optimal profile. Thus, an authority can always find policies that allow to exploit the dynamical nature of a system to induce the desired outcome.

Another aspect on which we focused in [44] is the property of *collusion-resistance* for mechanisms, which means that we are interested in mechanisms such that no coalition has any incentive to leave the strategy profile induced by the mechanism, even if side-payments are allowed. Interestingly, we showed in that a frugal best-response mechanism that is collusion-resistant always exists and we provided a characterization of the property of collusion-resistance in terms of solutions of a suitable cooperative game.

#### 4.5 Future directions

The method used to define the cost allocation protocols for the strategic connection situations considered in Section 4.2 might lead to the definition of many other optimal protocols, depending on the rule according to which the cost of a most is allocated among the players. As illustrated by numerical examples in [47], the inherent limitations of the proposed optimal protocols is that symmetric players may be treated differently, depending on the choice of an a priori selected most. The question about the existence of optimal protocols which treat symmetric players in a more equitable manner remains open.

Considering congestion models discussed in Section 4.3, on a dynamic (and more realistic) perspective, it would be interesting to study an analogous model where the priorities of users depend on their timing of using resources (for routing problems, this could represent the arrival time to the starting node of an edge).

The focus of the model presented in Section 4.4 is the design of mechanisms through which an authority may influence the bargaining among the components of a social network for inducing optimal states as the result of the convergence of natural dynamics. We think that this approach can be promising for the design of mechanisms also in different settings, not necessarily based on social networks.

# Chapter 5

# Power indices and their applications

#### 5.1 Overview of the chapter

Solutions of cooperative games have been widely used to evaluate the "power" of the players (agents, political parties, nations, etc.) involved in a collective decision process, i.e. their ability to force a decision in situations like a parliament, a governing council, a management board, etc. For instance, *probabilistic power indices* [110], like the Banzhaf index [86] and the Shapley index [171], are computed using the characteristic function of a coalitional game providing the information about which coalitions of players are winning or not and, if available, taking into account additional information about the interaction possibilities of the players (see also [150, 156, 110, 129]).

Section 5.2 is devoted to the problem of reducing the energy consumption over communication networks and using power indices. Several models to solve this energy consumption problem have been proposed in the literature: for instance, an interesting "green networking" technology suggests to adapt the network topology to the traffic demand, with the objective to concentrate the traffic on a partial network obtained by allowing some network nodes or links to enter into a low-energy "sleep" mode [105]. In a similar direction, in [49] and [48], we studied the problem of reducing energy consumption in computer networks according to an energy-aware routing approach and keeping into account the contribution of devices in the network in order to provide a good level of Quality of Service (QoS). In Section 5.2 we present some methods aimed to summarize the contribution of devices in a network. These methods are based on the Shapley index of particular coalitional games defined over the set of the elements of a backbone network. Those particular coalitional games incorporate the information about the network structure (e.g., the connectivity of sub-networks), the amount of traffic that the devices are routing and the network robustness (i.e., possible failure scenarios). The ranking provided by the Shapley value of such games has been used to drive a resource consolidation process, i.e., the selection of those devices that should be switched off first in order to reduce the energy consumption.

Section 5.3 is devoted to the discussion of a recent application of power indices presented in [54] to design a weighted majority voting system in practice. More specifically, we solve an *inverse Banzhaf index problem* in order to decide the weight of "great electors" within the electoral college for the election of the members of the Administration Board and the Academic Senate of the *Paris Sciences & Lettres* University. To be more specific, the inverse Banzhaf index problem can be formulated as follows: given a vector  $P = (p_1, \ldots, p_n)$  of nreal numbers and an appropriate "metric" to evaluate the distance between real-valued vectors, find a voting system with n voters such that the distance (or *error*) between the Banzhaf index computed on such a voting system and the vector P is smaller than a predefined value (see, for instance, [85, 79] for further details).

Section 5.4 shortly introduces the problem of measuring *social capital* in coalitional situations. This part is based on the papers [4] and [8]. In [4] we considered a more advanced approach to the measurement of social capital, which builds upon the recent literature that uses concepts rooted in cooperative game theory for the analysis of social networks. With a similar objective, in [8] we studied two important families of indicators for social-ecological features, specifically, *resilience*, aimed to analyse the ability of ecosystems to absorb changes on both human and ecological variables (and where the structure of interactions between social and ecological components of the systems are taken into account) and social capital, here intended as an assessment of the set of all those human relations which are important for the sustainability issue.

# 5.2 Green networking

Telecommunication infrastructures are responsible of a large part of the carbon offprint of Information and Communications Technology (ICT) systems. As a consequence, the research community is showing an ever increasing interest in studying techniques and algorithms to reduce the energy consumption of ICT systems.

A computer network is represented by a graph  $\langle N, E \rangle$ , where N is a finite set of computer devices and E is the set of links between the devices, and is associated with a *traffic matrix*,  $TM = (t_{ij})_{i,j\in N}$ , in which an element  $t_{ij}$  represents the volume of traffic entering the network through *i* and exiting through *j*. Given a computer network  $\langle N, E \rangle$  and an associated traffic matrix TM, in [49], we modelled the resource consolidation problem as a coalitional game, called the *Green-Game* (or G-Game for short), where N is the set of devices and the value of each coalition  $S \subseteq N$  is the amount of traffic that the restriction of the network to S can transport, precisely.

$$v(S) = \sum_{i,j \in S} t_{ij} \mathbf{1}_{\{G[S]\}}(i,j),$$

where  $\mathbf{1}_{\{G[S]\}}(i,j) = 1$  whenever *i* and *j* are connected in the subgraph  $\langle S, E(S) \rangle$  (i.e. there exists a path in G[S] from *i* to *j*) and zero otherwise (as usual, by convention  $v(\emptyset) = 0$ ). The Shapley value of a node in a G-Game is interpreted as an indication of how much the node contributes in the traffic delivery process and how its absence would affect the network on "average" (i.e., over all possible network configurations). Differently stated, the Shapley value on the G-Game defines a joint topology-aware and traffic-aware ranking of the network devices, that is considered to establish which nodes can be switched off first.

In order to provide a relevant evaluation of the method based on the Shapley value, in [49] a realistic scenario has been considered as depicted in Figure 5.1 (for the technical details see [49]). The light-shaded nodes (1 to 8 in Figure 5.1) are access nodes (i.e., source and destination of traffic requests, and can not be switched off). The dark nodes (9 to 21) are transit nodes, performing only traffic transport, and can be switched off. Node T is the traffic collection point, providing access to the core network and the big Internet, with whom nodes typically exchange the majority of the traffic.



Figure 5.1: The reference topology of a computer network.

In a computer network like the one represented in Figure 5.1, the "criticality" of nodes can be evaluated relatively easily based on the sole topology, or on the sole volume of traffic routed by each node. Taking into account the topology, the most widely used rankings are based either on the connectivity of each node (Degree centrality [89]), or on the number of shortest paths passing through each node (Betweenness centrality [91]), or the average distance between each couple of nodes (Closeness centrality [95]), or even on the relative importance of neighbours nodes (Eigenvector centrality [172]). A completely different criticality criterion is the one proposed by [105] and denoted by "Load" hereafter, which merely consists in sorting nodes depending on the amount of traffic load they effectively carry in a standard network configuration. The above indexes either consider the topology (degree, betweenness, closeness, eigenvector centrality) or the traffic (Load criterion), but not both. The Shapley value used in the G-Game instead takes into account (i) the traffic expressed by the traffic matrix and (ii) the importance of the node in the routing process. In fact, the node importance is evaluated in the G-Game by taking into account the number of paths a node lies on, similarly to the betweenness centrality.

However, unlike betweenness centrality, the Shapley value takes into account failure scenarios by considering not only the shortest paths, but also longer ones that can provide alternate routes in degraded scenarios.

All the aforementioned criticality indexes have been evaluated on the reference network scenario of figure Figure 5.1. We also compared two different versions of the Shapley value: (i) a simplified index that reflects only the network topology, considering the G-Game with a uniform traffic matrix, referred to as G-Game U-TM hereafter; (ii) the full G-Game earlier defined, that considers the actual traffic matrix.

In Figure 5.2 we report the link utilization distributions for the different rankings when the first less critical nodes are switched off and the baseline configuration, where no node is switched off. Notice that the Shapley value yields to excellent performances, as the link distribution is roughly equivalent to the baseline configuration.



Figure 5.2: Distribution of the link utilization, considering different ranks and in the Baseline configuration.

In particular, the maximum link utilization does not increase under G-Game with respect to the full network configuration: this means that energy saving is obtained without compromising the expected QoS. Conversely, some links reach an utilization higher than 90% for the U-TM and Load strategies. The Load strategy results in worse link distribution since it passes through longer alternate paths (i.e., ignores fault cases), while the worse QoS results of the U-TM strategy are due to its traffic unawareness (i.e., it takes into account only the topology). In contrast, the approach based on G-Games explicitly considers different nodes combinations, which means that it explores configurations where some nodes are excluded (i.e., which is precisely what happens when nodes are switched off in the resource consolidation process).

A similar approach has been studied in [48], this time computing the *importance* of links in a network: the players in the game considered in [48] are the links of a computer network and a coalition corresponds to a network partition (subgraph) formed by the combination of all these links. The surplus of a coalition is defined as the amount of traffic that can be accommodated by the corresponding network partition, and the "importance" of a link is again measured according to the Shapley value of such a game, and thus measures the (average) additional traffic that can be accommodated thanks to the addition of a link.

# 5.3 An application of the inverse Banzhaf index problem

Paris Sciences & Lettres (PSL) is a federal university that brings together 25 education and research institutions in Paris (to be hereafter denominated the PSL Institution Members or, simply, the Institutions). Founded in

2010, the organisation of PSL is based on two main bodies<sup>1</sup>: the PSL Foundation for Scientific Cooperation (Fondation de Coopération scientifique), which is mainly responsible for the management of key actions of the PSL project (e.g., the recruitment of chairs of excellence, the development of strategic international partnerships, the implementation of innovative programs in research and training, etc.) and the Community of Universities and Institutions (Communauté d'Universités et Etablissements, also denominated ComUE) which is responsible of the decisions concerning the training and graduation policy of PSL, and of other decisions over the common actions related with the educational and research community (e.g., the joint coordination of research policies and international projects for knowledge dissemination, the activation of digital actions, the implementation of joint strategies concerning students' life, etc.).

The *ComUE* is governed by an Administration Board (AB) (*Conseil d'Administration*) of 30 members, assisted by an Academic Senate (AS) (*Conseil Académique*) of 120 members with a consultative role. The members of the AB and the AS of the ComUE are representatives of the different Institutions but, for statutory reasons, only 16 Institutions (see Table 5.1) out of the 25 of PSL participate to the electoral process for their designation. Notice that the PSL Foundation and the *ComUE* itself are both represented as independent establishments within the AB and the AS of the *ComUE*.

The members of the AB and the AS are indirectly elected, among the candidates of the different Institutions, by a college of "great electors" designated by the Institutions according to their own statutes (usually, via general elections within their respective Institutions). Moreover, the members of the AB and the AS must be appointed in the respect of their professional categories (e.g., teachers, researchers, administrative and technical staff, etc.) according to the proportion specified in the Internal Regulations [164], which addresses the general recommendations of the relevant national legislation. The same internal rules also specify that the "great electors" must have different amounts of say (weight) and should appoint candidates members for the AB and the AS using a simple majority mechanism.

The ComUE is also provided with a Steering Committee (SC) (Comité des Membres) formed by the PSL institutions heads, the president and the vice-president of PSL, and the deans of the main departments. The objective of the SC is to ensure the proper functioning of PSL and to address the implementation of the guidelines provided by the Internal Regulations [164].

	Institution	Short name
1	École nationale supérieure de chimie de Paris	Chimie ParisTech
2	Centre national de la recherche scientifique	CNRS
3	Conservatoire national supérieur d'art dramatique	CNSAD
4	Conservatoire national supérieur de musique et de	
	danse de Paris	CNSMDP
5	Communauté d'universités et établissements PSL	ComUE PSL
6	École normale supérieure	ENS
7	École nationale supérieure des arts décoratifs	ENSAD
8	École nationale supérieure des beaux-arts	ENSBA
9	École supérieure de physique et de chimie industrielles	
	de la ville de Paris	ESPCI
10	Fondation de coopération scientifique PSL	FCS PSL
11	Institut national de recherche en informatique et en	
	automatique	INRIA
12	Institut Curie	Institut Curie
13	Fondation européenne des métiers de l'image et du son	La Fémis
14	École Nationale Supérieure des Mines de Paris	Mines ParisTech
15	Observatoire de Paris	Observatoire
16	Université Paris-Dauphine	Paris-Dauphine

Table 5.1: The 16 Institutions taking part to the electoral college for the appointment of the AB and AS members.

In [54], we shortly introduced an approach based on coalitional games and on power indices to establish a "fair" distribution of the weights among the "great electors" within the PSL electoral college for the appointment of the AB and the AS members. More precisely, the weight system we propose is the result of an *inverse power* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For a more detailed description of the governance bodies of PSL, see the PSL official website: https://www.univ-psl.fr/fr

*index problem*: if a vector of desired individual powers is given (for instance, as the outcome of a negotiation process), can we determine a voting method where a certain power index yields a good approximation of the desired vector?

According to the recommendation of the SC [174], an "ideal" voting system should take into account the following three criteria: 1) all the Institutions should participate with a non-negligible power to the process of taking decisions in the AB and the AS of the ComUE; 2) larger Institutions (in terms of number of staff employed) should play a more relevant role; 3) Institutions with a major academic offer should be fairly represented. Because of an important disproportion of students over the different Institutions (many Institutions have no student at all), the SC of the ComUE considers this last principle less relevant than the first two, in order not to destabilise the "global economy" of the decision-making process within PSL. According to this "ideal" triple-majority rule recommended by the SC [174] a subset of the 16 Institutions of the ComUE shown in Table 5.1 is a winning coalition if it satisfies the following three criteria:

- i) it is formed by a simple majority (> 50%) of the Institutions of the *ComUE*, all in favour;
- ii) it represents a qualified majority (> 66%) of the total number of employees working in the Institutions of the ComUE;
- iii) it represents at least one-fourth (> 25%) of the entire population of students enrolled in the Institutions of the *ComUE*;

A simple game  $(N, v^t)$ , with  $N = \{1, \ldots, 16\}$  as the set of players representing the 16 Institutions Members of PSL, was defined according to the above triple majority mechanism. Precisely, let  $e_i$  and  $s_i$ , be, respectively, the number of employees and of students of each Institution  $i \in N$ , and take a coalition of Institutions  $S \subseteq N$ ,  $S \neq \{\emptyset\}$ , then we have that:

$$v^{t}(S) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |S| > 8 \text{ and } \sum_{i \in S} e_i > \frac{2}{3}\rho \text{ and } \sum_{i \in S} s_i > \frac{1}{4}\sigma, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where  $\rho = \sum_{i \in N} e_i$  is the total size of personnel affiliated to the 16 Institutions of the *ComUE* and  $\sigma = \sum_{i \in N} s_i$  is the total number of enrolled students. The normalized Banzhaf index  $\bar{\beta}(v^t)$  of game  $v^t$  has been computed according to relation (1.7) and by means of the computer program introduced in [137] and the *Mathematica* [180] functions introduced in [90]. The vector  $\bar{\beta}(v^t)$  is shown in the second column of Table 5.2.

Our goal in [54] is then to solve an *inverse Banzaf index problem* [79] with the objective to compute the weights of the "great electors" of PSL such that the Banzhaf index of the electoral college (based on a simple majority mechanism) is as close as possible to the Banzhaf index computed on the "ideal" triple majority system recommended by the SC [174] and yielding the game  $v^t$ . We consider the inverse Banzhaf index problem as introduced in the next definition.

**Definition 17** (Inverse Banzhaf index problem). Let  $N = \{1, ..., n\}$  be a finite set of players, let  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$  be a predefined quota (expressed as a fraction of the total weight) and let  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$  be the maximum tolerated error.

Given another vector  $P = (p_1, ..., p_n) \in [0, 1]^N$  of n real numbers on the interval [0, 1] and such that  $\sum_{i \in N} p_i = 1$  (i.e., P is normalized), find a vector of non-negative integer numbers  $w = (w_1, ..., w_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^N$  with  $w_i \ge 0$  for each  $i \in N$  and such that

$$\sum_{i \in N} |\bar{\beta}_i(v^w) - p_i| < \epsilon, \tag{5.2}$$

where  $v^w$  is the weighted majority game on N defined according to relation (1.6) with weights w and a quota  $q = \lambda \sum_{i \in N} w_i$ , and  $|\bar{\beta}_i(v^w) - p_i|$  is the absolute value of the difference between the normalized Banzhaf index  $\bar{\beta}_i(v^w)$  of player  $i \in N$  in game  $v^w$  and the "ideal" value  $p_i$ .

Notice that in the above definition, it is asked to find a vector of integer weights and the quota is provided *a priori* (for different formulations of the inverse Banzhaf index problem see [85, 79]).

In order to find a solution of the previously introduced instance of the inverse Banzhaf index problem (specifically, the one introduced in Definition 17 with  $P := \bar{\beta}(v^t)$ ,  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$  and  $\epsilon = 0.05$ ), we apply a trial-anderror procedure (see [54] for more details). This procedure yielded the vector of integer weights shown in the last column of Table 5.2 together with the Banzhaf value  $\bar{\beta}_i(v^w)$  of the corresponding weighted majority game (see also Figure 5.3 for a comparison between  $\bar{\beta}_i(v^w)$  and  $\bar{\beta}_i(v^t)$  of PSL members ordered according to their Banzhaf index in the AB).

Institution	$\bar{\beta}(v^t)$	$\bar{\beta}(v^w)$	$ \bar{\beta}(v^w) - \bar{\beta}(v^t) $	Weight
Chimie ParisTech	0.039	0.037	0.002	3
CNRS	0.023	0.024	0.001	2
CNSAD	0.016	0.013	0.003	1
CNSMDP	0.073	0.076	0.003	6
ComUE PSL	0.018	0.013	0.005	1
ENS	0.213	0.208	0.005	15
ENSAD	0.041	0.037	0.004	3
ENSBA	0.042	0.037	0.005	3
ESPCI	0.049	0.050	0.001	4
FCS PSL	0.011	0.013	0.002	1
INRIA	0.013	0.013	0	1
Institut Curie	0.088	0.090	0.002	7
La Fémis	0.039	0.037	0.002	3
Mines ParisTech	0.079	0.090	0.011	7
Observatoire de Paris	0.071	0.076	0.005	6
Université Paris-Dauphine	0.186	0.186	0	14
Total	1	1	0.049	77

Table 5.2: Normalized Banzhaf index of the "ideal" triple-majority game  $v^t$  and of the weighted majority game  $v^w$ . The absolute value of the differences between the two Banzhaf indices  $|\bar{\beta}(v^w) - \bar{\beta}(v^t)|$  is shown in the third column (notice that the total error is less than the maximum tolerated one  $\epsilon = 0.05$ ). The vector of weights is shown in the last column (the quota is then fixed at  $q = \frac{77}{2}$ ).



Figure 5.3: Comparison of the normalized Banzhaf index of the "ideal" triple-majority game  $v^t$  (left column) and the Banzhaf index of the weighted majority game  $v^w$  (right column) for each Institution of the *ComUE*.

The method proposed in [54] for the design of the electoral college of the ComUE should be seen as an

attempt to provide an objective basis for the negotiation of the weights among the PSL Institutions. This is, at least, how it has been perceived by the members of the SC of the ComUE [174], where our proposition has been debated and finally approved under few modifications during the PSL-SC meeting held in Paris on April 21st, 2015.

## 5.4 Social capital

Although power indices are able to capture some aspects related to the ability of players to influence collective decisions, in general they fail to capture other aspects more related to the social interaction. For instance, *social capital* is one of the fundamental concepts in sociology [107]. Intuitively, we can think of social capital as the ability of individuals to gain benefits by utilizing their position in the society or, in other words, their connections in a social network [112]. Although it has been extensively studied in various bodies of the literature, there is no single definition or measure that exactly captures all facets of this concept.

Social capital is understood in the literature in two conceptually different way [96], called *group* and *individual* social capital. The former interprets social capital as the quality or performance of a given group of individuals in a social network and the latter interprets social capital as the value of an individual's social connections, which are seen as potential sources of information, power, or opportunities. While existing measures quantify each of the above types of social capital separately, most of them are limited to the aspects of social capital related solely to network topology and none of them sheds light on the interactions between the two types (group vs. individual) of social capital.

In [4] and [8] we provided an analysis from the literature of some models based on coalitional games that can be used to measure social capital on a micro scale, and that have proved their feasibility and efficiency even on macro situations where the number of nodes of a social network scales up dramatically. Basically, we start from the consideration that in order to evaluate and compare the effects of social capital, it is first necessary to define analytical methods for measuring characteristics related to social capital, like collective efficacy, psychological sense of community, neighbourhood cohesion and community competence [141].

In [8], we presented several applications from the literature that illustrate the fact that coalitional games allow for a richer description of agents relationships in a social network, where it is quite realistic to figure out the mutual influence of individuals in producing a certain social outcome. In network analysis, classical centrality measures [89, 91, 95, 172] are quite appropriate to compute the "importance" of nodes in situations where it is justified to make the assumption that nodes failures occur independently. Another strong assumption that justifies the use of classical centrality measures is that the consequence of the failure of each node in the system is important (for, instance it determines the collapse of the system) and it is the same for all nodes. On the contrary, in real-world social networks, assuming that the actions of the agents on the nodes are independent is not realistic at all. Similarly, the consequences of an action on the social system can be appreciated only if a consistent number of possibly connected agents take the same action. These important aspects of social interaction are taken into account by alternative game theoretic notions of centrality [145, 4].

For example, the Myerson value [150] (i.e. the Shapley value of the graph-restriced game) has been used in [124] to asses the social capital of individuals in a social network. Specifically, given a society of N individuals, in [124], the social influence of each coalition  $S \subseteq N$  is represented as a coalitional game (N, v), and all possible relations among individuals by a social network  $\langle N, E \rangle$ . The authors in [124] compute the restricted game  $w_E^v$  and consider the Shapley value of the difference  $w_E^v - v$  as an index to reveal the influence of players on the outcome of the game. In other words, they interpret the Shapley value difference  $\phi(w_E^v) - \phi(v)$  as a social capital index representing the differential power of players between the graph-restricted game  $w_E^v$  and the game v where all communication possibilities among players are feasible: the higher the difference  $\phi(w_E^v) - \phi(v)$ , the higher the social capital of individuals due to the existing possibilities of interaction in the social network.

#### 5.5 Future directions

In future work related to the consolidation procedure for computer networks discussed in Section 5.2, it would be interesting to broaden our experimental studies over a wider set of network topologies and traffic matrices. In particular, it would be useful to further study the correlation between the criticality of nodes and different traffic matrices for any given topology. Another open point that deserves more attention, is the evaluation of the robustness, by considering the impact of unexpected faults or changes in the traffic conditions to an already consolidated network. Dealing with the inverse Banzhaf index problem considered in Section 5.3, an interesting open question is related to the problem of measuring the loss of information in the transformation of a multiple majority weighted game (original game) into a new weighted voting game with the same voting powers. How "far" the new simple game is from the original one? is it possible to guarantee that certain *a priori*-selected winning coalitions in the original game remain winning also in the new one?

With respect to the problem of measuring the social capital in coalitional games as illustrated in Section 5.4, we are currently studying different notions of criticality for players. For instance, in [1] we look at a player i that is not critical for a winning coalition  $S \subseteq N$ ,  $i \in S$  (that is, S and  $S \setminus \{i\}$  are both winning coalitions), but there exists in S another player j, different from i, s.t. S becomes losing when both the players leave. This "second order" notion of criticality of players in simple games is useful to better understand blackmail power of players in simple games, which is the possibility of players of threatening coalitions to cause them loss using arguments that are (only apparently) not justified.

# Chapter 6

# Bioinformatics and statistical analysis of biological data

#### 6.1 Overview of the chapter

In this chapter, we introduce some of our recent contributions on the application of coalitional games and their solutions to measure the importance of biological factors/variables in producing certain biological or epidemiological effects, and, more in general, to the analysis of gene expression data.

The starting point of this research is the variety of innovative experimental technologies in medical research that in the last few decades has permitted the collection of a large amount of biological data, markers and other relevant factors at once. In the papers [15, 37, 21, 17, 19, 14, 13], we introduced and applied alternative coalitional games to the analysis of large data-sets of gene expression data. Gene expression data may be collected, for instance, by means of *microarray* technology [159, 123]. Within a single experiment of this sophisticated technology, the level of expression of thousands of genes can be estimated in a sample of cells under given conditions (genetic diseases, environmental expositions, pharmacologic treatments, etc.). Many different approaches have been proposed in literature to discover "central" genes in the huge amount of information provided by this technology.

In Section 6.2 we introduce and discuss *microarray games* [21, 15], a class of coalitional games aimed to asses the relevance of genes in regulating or provoking a condition of interest, and taking into account the observed relationships in all subgroups of genes. Via a dichotomization technique applied to gene expression data, it is constructed a game whose characteristic function takes values in the interval [0, 1]. The objective of such a game is to stress the relevance ("sufficiency") of groups of genes in relation to a specific condition. The definition of relevance index for genes is provided in terms of the Shapley value [170, 18], that is contextualized and justified as a relevance index by means of an axiomatic approach.

In Section 6.3, we introduce a method based on coalitional games (and published in [11]) to evaluate the "centrality" of genes in *co-expression networks*. The Myerson value for coalitional games is used to express the power of each gene in interaction with the others and to stress the centrality of certain hub-genes in the regulation of biological pathways of interest. The main improvement of this contribution, with respect the model discussed in Section 6.2, consists in a finer resolution of the genes' interaction, which is based on pairwise relationships of genes in a co-expression network. In addition, the new approach allows for the integration of *a priori* knowledge about genes playing a key function on a certain biological process.

Finally, in Section 6.4, we briefly introduce some of our recent papers in the domain of the statistical analysis of biological data of human RNA (Ribonucleic acid), mainly based on the publications [36, 38, 39, 40, 35] and, more recently, on [33, 31, 29, 32, 34, 30, 28, 27].

## 6.2 Microarray games

By means of modern technologies it is possible to consistently generate a matrix of *gene expression* data, in which the rows index the genes (i.e., the variable) and the columns index the study samples/experiments (e.g. several patients with a genetic disease), which are the observations or effects (for example, see [159] for a general introduction to the technology of *microarrays* and related statistical aspects).

In [21] and [65] we introduced a method based on coalitional games where the Shapley value has been proposed for inferring, from a matrix of gene expression data, the relevance of genes keeping into account their individual behaviours and their interactions when the biological system is studied under a condition of interest (e.g. a disease state, the exposure to environmental or therapeutic agents, etc.). According to this method, the frequency of *associations* of each subset of genes with a *condition* of interest has been described by means of a coalitional game (namely, a *microarray game*) where players are genes. The relevance of genes is assessed by means of the Shapley value of a microarray game: the higher the number attributed by the Shapley value to a certain gene in a given microarray game, the higher the relevance of that gene for the mechanisms governing the genomic effects of the condition under study.

We briefly introduce here the model introduced in [21]. Let  $N = \{1, \ldots, n\}$  be a set of genes. On a single microarray experiment on N, a sufficient requirement to realize in a subset (a *coalition of genes*)  $S \subseteq N$  the association between a condition and an expression property is that all the genes showing that expression property belong to coalition S (sufficiency principle). Different expression properties for genes might be considered (e.g., abnormal expression, up- or down-regulation, etc). Moving to  $k \geq 1$  microarray experiments on N, we refer to a Boolean matrix  $\mathbf{B} \in \{0, 1\}^{n \times k}$ , where the Boolean values 0 - 1 represent two complementary expression properties, for example the property of normal expression (coded by 0) and the property of abnormal expression (coded by 1). Let  $\mathbf{B}_{\cdot j}$  be the *j*-th column of  $\mathbf{B}$ . We define the support of  $\mathbf{B}_{\cdot j}$ , denoted by  $sp(\mathbf{B}_{\cdot j})$ , as the set  $sp(\mathbf{B}_{\cdot j}) = \{i \in N \mid \mathbf{B}_{ij} = 1\}$ . The microarray game corresponding to  $\mathbf{B}$  is the coalitional game (N, v), where  $v : 2^N \to \mathbb{R}_+$  is such that v(T) is the rate of occurrences of the coalition T as a superset of supports in  $\mathbf{B}$ ; in formula, we define v(T), for each  $T \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , as the value

$$v(T) = \frac{|\Theta(T)|}{k},\tag{6.1}$$

where  $\Theta(T) = \{j \in K \mid sp(\mathbf{B}_{j}) \subseteq T, sp(\mathbf{B}_{j}) \neq \emptyset\}$ , with  $K = \{1, \ldots, k\}$  and where  $|\Theta(T)|$  is the cardinality of  $\Theta(T)$ . Finally, we define  $v(\emptyset) = 0$ .

**Example 16.** Consider the boolean matrix  $\mathbf{B} \in \{0,1\}^{4 \times 3}$  such that

$$\mathbf{B} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then  $sp(\mathbf{B}_1) = \{2,3\}$ ,  $sp(\mathbf{B}_2) = \{1,3\}$  and  $sp(\mathbf{B}_3) = \{1,2,4\}$ . By equation (6.1), the corresponding microarray game  $(\{1,2,3,4\},v)$  is such that  $v(\emptyset) = v(\{1\}) = v(\{2\}) = v(\{3\}) = v(\{4\}) = v(\{1,4\}) = v(\{2,4\}) = v(\{1,2\}) = v(\{3,4\}) = 0; v(\{1,3\}) = v(\{2,3\}) = v(\{1,3,4\}) = v(\{2,3,4\}) = v(\{1,2,4\}) = \frac{1}{3}; v(\{1,2,3\}) = \frac{2}{3}, v(\{1,2,3,4\}) = 1$ . The Shapley value of the microarray game  $(\{1,2,3,4\},v)$  is  $(\frac{5}{18},\frac{5}{18},\frac{1}{3},\frac{1}{9})$ .

One of the main objectives of the applications of coalitional games to biological problems, is the contextualization of the basic model of coalitional games in the biological domain, and the justification of game theoretic solutions as measures of the importance of the variables governing the biological system. For example, in [21] we provided an axiomatic characterization of the Shapley value on the class of microarray games, using five axioms with a genetic interpretation: 1) the *null gene* property says that a relevance index should attribute null relevance to genes that are never up- or down- regulated under a certain condition; 2) in order to bring smaller gene pathways into prominence, another reasonable property is that if two disjoint sets of genes are up- or down-regulated in a same rate of samples, then genes in the smaller set should receive a higher relevance index than genes in the bigger one (*Partnership Monotonicity* property); 3) The *partnership rationality* property and the 4) *partnership feasibility* property determine, respectively, a lower and an upper bound of the power of "partnerships" of genes; 5) finally, a special version of additivity, namely the *equal splitting* property, is used with a natural interpretation of giving the same reliability to different microarray experiments. In [21], we proved that the Shapley value is the unique relevance index which satisfies the five properties listed above on the class of microarray games.

In [37] we presented the first biological validation for the use of the Shapley value of microarray games as a relevance index for genes. Precisely, a set of genes involved in the pathogenesis of *neuroblastic tumors* has been selected in [37] according to the Shapley value of a microarray game defined on gene expression data from *neuroblastoma cells*. In [19] we presented and discussed an application of the method to a gene expression dataset concerning blood cells of 23 children from the region of Teplice (Czech Republic), a mining district characterized by high levels of airborne pollutants including carcinogens. For other applications on real data-sets see also [113, 176, 114].

The problem to compare the relevance of genes under two different conditions has been also studied in [19] and in [14]. In these papers we considered two groups of microarray experiments on the same set of genes  $N = \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , collected under two different conditions 1 and 2. A statistical procedure to test the null hypothesis that each gene in N has the same Shapley value between the two conditions 1 and 2 is presented in [19] and is further discussed in [14]. Such a test procedure is based on a non-parametric Bootstrap method of re-sampling with replacement that we called in [19] *Comparative Analysis of Shapley value*.

Other game theoretic relevance indices for genes have been proposed in the literature. For example, in [13] we provided a characterization of the Banzhaf value [86] on the class of microarray games, and compared the results given by the Banzhaf and the Shapley value when they are applied to real data. The ranking of the genes according to the two values are, in general, significantly different and it can happen that the Banzhaf value divides the list of genes in very few classes of equal relevance [13, 142]. This happens because the relevance computed according to the Banzhaf value for a single player decreases exponentially (and not linearly, as in the Shapley's case) with respect to the size of the support of a certain column (see relation (6.1)); consequently, due to round off-errors, the contribution of large supports to the Banzhaf value of single genes is practically null.

Another application of coalitional games deals with the machine learning technique called *feature selection* (also known as *variable selection*), which denotes a family of algorithms aimed to select a subset of relevant variables (or *features*) for building robust learning models. In the computational biology domain, the technique is also called *gene selection*, and it is usually applied to detect genes with high discriminative power (e.g., genes that can successfully be used to generate *classification rules* which are able to predict, as accurately as possible, the true class of biological samples). In [17], we introduced *classification games* to estimate the contribution of a feature for the classification task. Using the classification games in [17], where genes are again in the role of players, we represented the power of groups of genes to classify samples into the right classes (for instance, the class of normal tissues or the class of tumour tissues). Classification games turn out to be closely related to microarray games and, on some numerical examples, the Shapley value and the *Interaction Index* (see, for instance, [126, 127]) have been studied as criteria for gene selection.

## 6.3 Game centrality on biological networks

Another interesting field related to the analysis of genetic data deals with gene networks, that are increasingly used to explore the system-level functionality of proteins and genes [131]. In [11] we introduced a new method based on coalitional games to evaluate the centrality of genes in *co-expression networks*<sup>1</sup> keeping into account the interactions among genes.

Following the approach introduced in [11], an association game (N, v) is first defined, where N is the set of genes under study (for instance, analysed by means of a gene expression data-set) and the characteristic function v assigns a worth to each coalition of genes  $S \subseteq N$  representing the overall magnitude of the "interaction" between the genes in S and a given set of key-genes (e.g., a set of genes known a priori to be involved in biological pathways related to chromosome damage). More precisely, suppose to have a set K of key-genes and let  $I \subseteq \{\{i, k\} | i \in N, k \in K\}$  be the set of interactions between genes in N and the key-genes in K. Given a set of genes  $S \subseteq N$ , the higher the number of key-genes which interact with genes in S, the higher the likelihood that genes in S are also involved in the regulation of the biological process of interest. The map  $v : 2^N \to \mathbb{N}$  assigning to each coalition  $S \in 2^N \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  the number v(S) of key-genes in K which only interact (in I) with genes in S (again, by convention,  $v(\emptyset) = 0$ ) is the association game corresponding to (N, K, I).

**Example 17.** Consider a set of genes  $N = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ , a set of key-genes  $K = \{a, b, c\}$  and a set of interactions  $I = \{\{1, a\}, \{1, b\}, \{3, b\}, \{3, c\}, \{4, c\}\}$ , as depicted in Figure 6.1. This information is sufficient to calculate the corresponding association game: if  $S = \{1, 2, 3\}$ , for example, we have that key-genes a and b only interact with genes in S, whereas the key-gene c interact with gene 3 but also with gene 4, which is not in S; so v(1, 2, 3) = 2. Similarly, we can define the entire characteristic function of the association game (N, v), which is such that  $v(\emptyset) = v(2) = v(3) = v(4) = v(2, 3) = v(2, 4) = 0$ , v(1, 3) = v(1, 2, 3) = 2, v(1, 3, 4) = v(1, 2, 3, 4) = 3 and v(S) = 1 for all the remaining coalitions.

In order to study the cascade of activation/deactivation among genes, in [11] we considered a second game, where gene interaction is restricted to the connections within an associated undirected graph  $\langle N, E \rangle$ , the nodes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Roughly speaking, a co-expression network is a network where the node correspond to the genes, and a link between two genes is established if they are simultaneously expressed in a dataset (see, for instance, [175] for more details on co-expression networks).



Figure 6.1: A set of genes  $N = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$  and their interactions with a set of key-genes  $K = \{a, b, c\}$  (red nodes).

of the graph being the genes. The set of edges E indicates interaction ties between pairs of genes, i.e. a set  $\{i, j\} \subseteq N$  is an element of E if and only if i and j have an interaction (for instance, they are significantly co-expressed). Following the approach in [150], in [11] we used the structure of network  $\langle N, E \rangle$  to define the graph-restricted game  $(N, w_E^{\nu})$  (see Section 1.2.2).

**Example 18.** Consider the association game (N, v) introduced in Example 17 and the gene network (N, E) where  $E = \{\{1, 2\}, \{2, 3\}, \{2, 4\}, \{3, 4\}\}.$ 



Figure 6.2: The situation of Example 17 with the interaction among the genes 1, 2, 3 and 4.

If we consider coalition  $S = \{1, 3\}$ , for example, we have that key-genes a and b only interact with genes in S, but node 1 is not connected to 3 in  $\langle S, E(S) \rangle$ ; so,  $w_E^v(1,3) = v(1) + v(3) = 1$ .

The graph-restricted game  $(N, w_E^v)$  is such that  $w_E^v(3, 4) = w_E^v(2, 3, 4) = 1$ ,  $w_E^v(1) = w_E^v(1, 2) = w_E^v(1, 4) = w_E^v(1, 2, 4) = w_E^v(1, 3) = 1$ ,  $w_E^v(1, 2, 3) = w_E^v(1, 3, 4) = 2$ ,  $w_E^v(1, 2, 3, 4) = 3$  and  $w_E^v(S) = 0$  for all the remaining coalitions.

The difference of the Shapley values computed on the two coalitional games (N, v) and  $(N, w_E^v)$  is considered in [11] as a gene *centrality measure*. Precisely, the *gamma value*  $\gamma(v, E)$  is defined by

$$\gamma_i(v, E) = \phi_i(w_E^v) - \phi_i(v), \tag{6.2}$$

for each  $i \in N$ , where  $\phi(v)$  is the Shapley value of the association game v and  $\phi(w^v)$  is the Shapley value of the corresponding graph-restricted game  $w_E^v$  (i.e., the Myerson value). According to relation (6.2), genes with strictly positive  $\gamma$  represent those genes with a positive differential power between the graph-restricted game and the association game.

**Example 19.** Consider the association game (N, v) introduced in Example 17 and the gene network of Example 18. According to relation (1.3), we can compute the Shapley value in the two games  $\phi(v) = (\frac{3}{2}, 0, 1, \frac{1}{2})$  and  $\phi(w_E^v) = (\frac{4}{3}, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{5}{6}, \frac{1}{2})$ . Thus, by relation (6.2), the gamma value is  $\gamma(v, E) = (-\frac{1}{6}, \frac{1}{3}, -\frac{1}{6}, 0)$ . Note that gene 2 is the unique gene with strictly positive centrality according to  $\gamma$ .

An important issue in the analysis of gene data using coalitional games and power indices is the computational one. In some cases, the calculation of the Shapley value can be easy, independently from the number of genes involved in the analysis. This is the case, for instance, of microarray games. In fact, a microarray game (N, v)defined by relation (6.1) can be equivalently formulated via the following relation

$$\bar{v}(T) = \sum_{j=1,\dots,k} \frac{u_{sp(\mathbf{B}_j)}(T)}{k}, \qquad T \in 2^N \setminus \emptyset,$$
(6.3)

where  $(N, u_{sp(\mathbf{B}_j)})$  is the unanimity game on the set  $sp(\mathbf{B}_j)$ , and the Shapley value of game v can be easily calculated in view of relation (1.5) (see [21] for more details). The very simple formulation of the Shapley value for microarray games follows from the particular definition of the worth of a coalition of genes, which is based on the underlying assumption behind the aforementioned sufficiency principle, which says that all the abnormally expressed genes are, as a whole, equally responsible for the "disease" (or another condition of interest) in each experiment. An extension of microarray games, which allows for using weighted majority games in order to differentiate the role of genes within the group of abnormally expressed ones, has been presented in [142].

In other cases, the problem of understanding whether an efficient algorithm to compute the exact Shapley value exists remains open, and the only possibility so far is adopting approximation methods. This is the case, for instance, of the method introduced in [11] and shortly discussed in this section. For gene networks, in fact, it is easy to show that the characteristic function v of an association game can be written as a sum of unanimity games according to the following relation,

$$v = \sum_{k \in K, N_k \neq \emptyset} u_{N_k},\tag{6.4}$$

where  $N_k = \{i \in N | \{i, k\} \in I\}$  denotes the set of genes in N which have a strong interaction with a key-gene  $k \in K$ . A natural decomposition of a graph-restricted game based on the reformulation of the association game given in (6.4) can be also provided (see [11] for further details), but it requires to consider all minimal components containing  $N_k$ , for each key-gene  $k \in K$ , and all of their combinations (see equation (6) in [11]). However, as the number of minimal components in a graph can be very large (especially for graphs generated from realistic data-sets with thousands of variables) this option is computationally too expensive. For practical computational reasons, in [11] we limited the decomposition of the graph-restricted game to the "smallest" minimal components connecting the most associated genes (i.e., genes that directly interact with key-genes) on a graph, which are those minimal components where the most associated genes are connected to each other by a shortest path. This procedure was used to calculate an approximate  $\gamma$  centrality for a large gene network with 201 nodes and 2083 edges. Of course, the price for using the method based on shortest paths was that genes outside those particular paths received a null value of approximate  $\gamma$  centrality, even if their exact  $\gamma$  value was not null.

Looking at the axiomatic approach for applications to gene networks, in [11] we noticed that both the gamma value and its approximated version satisfy the intuitive property requiring that smaller pathways of genes are more central, since they provide a less complex explanation of the observed network of interactions (this property has been named in [11] *Total Aggregation Monotonicity*).

# 6.4 Statistical analysis of biological data

A non-negligible part of my research has been devoted to the statistical analysis of biological data in a framework of international collaborations with different cancer research laboratories. The majority of our contributions in the domain of the statistical analysis of biological data deals with the analysis of data of human RNA (Ribonucleic acid). More precisely, most of the papers we published in this domain, focus on the statistical analysis, the design and the quality control of gene expression data from experiments concerning the study of genetic disorders, and in particular the research on genetic mechanisms regulating the neuroblastoma, a rare malignant tumour, and the most common solid extra-cranial cancer in childhood [36, 38, 39, 40, 35].

More recently, our goal in [33] was to identify proteins expressed by the metastatic cells of neuroblastoma, which may be relevant to prognostic and therapeutic purposes. Metastases in the bone marrow, are important prognostic factors in patients with neuroblastoma. Sixty-six children over 18 months, with a diagnosis of "stage 4 neuroblastoma" were included in the study presented in [33]. Among other results, we have shown that the *calprotectin*, a potent inflammatory protein, and another protein called *HLA-G* may represent new biomarkers and/or targets for intervention therapy in patients with high-risk neuroblastoma. In [31], we compared the expression data of thousands of genes of children with localized and metastatic neuroblastoma against the data of healthy children. Among the genes analysed, we found that the expression of *CXCL12* gene is almost completely cancelled in patients with a metastatic disease. To investigate the role of patients' age in tumour aggressiveness in [29] we performed array-CGH (roughly speaking, an experimental technique aimed at finding aberrations in the DNA) and expression profiles of three groups of metastatic neuroblastoma. In [32] we tried to identify new molecular prognostic markers with the objective to better predict relapse risk estimate for children with high-risk metastatic neuroblastoma and we have shown that patients with a high probability of survival number aberrations in their tumors represent a molecular subgroup defined with a high probability of survival defined with a high probability of survival survival de

observed in the patients group. In the article [34], we studied *multipotent migratory cells* of the *embryonic* neural crest.

We also elaborated biological studies related to other diseases different from the neuroblastoma. In [30], we evaluated the effects of a certain treatment (*leftunomide* combined with a low dose of *prednisone*), on the expression of genes responsible for inflammation in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, a chronic inflammatory degenerative disease. In [28], we analysed the relationship between the the downregulation of a specific gene (namely, the *DKK3* gene) and the *medulloblastoma*, an highly malignant embryonic tumour of the cerebellum which accounts for 20% of all intracranial tumours of childhood. We showed for the first time that *DKK3* gene is significantly downregulated on different groups of Medulloblastoma patients as compared to normal cerebellum. More recently, in [27], we studied the storage time impact on the transcriptome (i.e., the set of all RNA molecules, including non-coding RNA) transcribed in one cell or a population of cells of slowly frozen cryopreserved human oocytes. Oocyte cryopreservation is a largely-used technique for storage of surplus oocytes in vitro fertilization (IVF) cycles or to allow flexibility if an IVF cycle has to be halted, as well as for fertility preservation (i.e., women at risk of losing fertility because of endometriosis, premature ovarian failure, or gonadotoxic therapies) and oocyte donation programs. For the first time, in [27], we demonstrated that the length of cryostorage has no effect on the gene expression profile of human oocytes.

#### 6.5 Future directions

With respect the models discussed in Section 6.2, an interesting question concerns the statistical significance of the Shapley value of microarray games computed on real data-sets. In risk attributions, [133] proposed a measure of the uncertainty of the Shapley value based on its probabilistic interpretation, defining the corresponding uncertainty as the variance of the marginal contributions. Moreover, making the assumption that the marginal contributions are distributed approximately normally (which is likely to happen in large games), then the statistical results for normal distributions are applicable together with the standard test of significance. However, these aspects, with the exception of the examples provided in [133], seem to be neglected from the literature of coalitional games based on real and large data-sets.

The problem of understanding whether an efficient algorithm to compute the exact Shapley value of gene networks presented in Section 6.3 remains open, and the only possibility so far is adopting approximation methods. We are also exploring a different approach to the problem of computing the relevance of genes on networks using the idea of game theoretic centrality generalizing classical notions of centrality as recently introduced in [145].

We want to stress the fact that some of the approaches illustrated in this chapter still need an extensive comparative analysis of their performance with respect to other methods already in use in the literature of reference. This is the case, for example, of classification games [17], where it would be interesting to compare the Shapley value and the Interaction Index with more classical feature selection methods for classification problems.

# Bibliography

# List of my publications

#### Peer-reviewed international journals

#### Game Theory

- M. Dall'Aglio, V. Fragnelli, S. Moretti (2016) Orders of criticality in voting games. Operations Research and Decisions, 26(2).
- [2] S. Moretti, F. Patrone, A. Dinar, S. Abdel-Dayem (2016) Sharing the Costs of Complex Water Projects: Application to the West Delta Water Conservation and Irrigation Rehabilitation Project, Egypt. Games, 7(3), 18.
- [3] R. Lucchetti, S. Moretti, F. Patrone (2015) Ranking sets of interacting objects via semivalues. Top, 23(2): 567-590.
- [4] T.P. Michalak, T. Rahwan, S. Moretti, R. Narayanam, O. Skibski, P. Szczepanski, M. Wooldridge (2015) A New Approach to Measure Social Capital using Game-Theoretic Techniques. *SIGecom Exchanges*, 14(1): 95-100.
- [5] S. Moretti (2015) An axiomatic approach to social ranking under coalitional power relations. Homo Oeconomicus, 32(2): 183-208.
- [6] L. Gourvès, J. Monnot, S. Moretti, and N. Thang. (2014) Congestion Games with Capacitated Resources. Theory of Computing Systems, 1-19. DOI=10.1007/s00224-014-9541-0.
- [7] S. Moretti (2014) On the role of coalitional network games in modelling the social dimension in ecosystem management. Strategic Behavior and the Environment, 4(2): 155-186.
- [8] S. Moretti, F. Patrone (2014) ICT-based Strategies for Environmental Conflicts. Strategic Behavior and the Environment 4(2): 89-98.
- [9] S. Moretti (2013) On some open problems arising from the application of coalitional games in medicine. International Game Theory Review, 15(3):1340020-1-1340020-18.
- [10] S. Moretti, S. Zeynep Alparslan Gök, R. Branzei, and S. Tijs (2011) Connection situations under uncertainty and cost monotonic solutions. *Computers & Operations Research*, 38(11):1638–1645.
- [11] S. Moretti, V. Fragnelli, F. Patrone, and S. Bonassi (2010) Using coalitional games on biological networks to measure centrality and power of genes. *Bioinformatics*, 26(21):2721.
- [12] S. Moretti and A. Vasilakos (2010) An overview of recent applications of game theory to bioinformatics. Information Sciences, 180(22):4312–4322.
- [13] R. Lucchetti, S. Moretti, F. Patrone, and P. Radrizzani (2010) The shapley and banzhaf values in microarray games, Computers & Operations Research, 37(8):1406–1412.
- [14] S. Moretti (2010) Statistical analysis of the Shapley value for microarray games, Computers & Operations Research, 37(8):1413–1418.

- [15] S. Moretti (2009) Game theory applied to gene expression analysis, 4OR: A Quarterly Journal of Operations Research, 7(2):195–198.
- [16] S. Moretti, S. Tijs, R. Branzei, and H. Norde. (2009) Cost allocation protocols for supply contract design in network situations, *Mathematical Methods of Operations Research*, 69(1):181–202.
- [17] V. Fragnelli and S. Moretti (2008) A game theoretical approach to the classification problem in gene expression data analysis, *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, 55(5):950–959.
- [18] S. Moretti and F. Patrone (2008) Transversality of the shapley value, Top, 16(1):1-41.
- [19] S. Moretti, D. Van Leeuwen, H. Gmuender, S. Bonassi, J. Van Delft, J. Kleinjans, F. Patrone, and D. Merlo (2008) Combining shapley value and statistics to the analysis of gene expression data in children exposed to air pollution, *BMC bioinformatics*, 9(1):361.
- [20] L. Sacconi and S. Moretti (2008) A fuzzy logic and default reasoning model of social norms and equilibrium selection in games under unforeseen contingencies, *International Journal of Uncertainty, Fuzziness and Knowledge Based Systems*, 16(1):59.
- [21] S. Moretti, F. Patrone, S. Bonassi (2007) The class of microarray games and the relevance index for genes, *Top*, 15(), pages 256-280.
- [22] 33. S. Tijs, R. Branzei, S. Moretti, H. Norde (2006) Obligation rules for minimum cost spanning tree situations and their monotonicity properties, *European Journal of Operational Research*, 175: 121–134.
- [23] R. Branzei, S. Moretti, H. Norde, S. Tijs (2004) The P-value for cost sharing in minimum cost spanning tree situations, *Theory and Decision*, 56: 47-61.
- [24] H. Norde, S. Moretti, S. Tijs (2004) Minimum cost spanning tree games and population monotonic allocation schemes, European Journal of Operational Research, 154(1): 84-97.
- [25] S. Moretti, F. Patrone (2004) Cost Allocation Games with Information Costs, Mathematical Methods of Operations Research, 59(3): 419 - 434.
- [26] S. Moretti, H. Norde, K.H. Pham Do, S. Tijs (2002) Connection problems in mountains and monotonic allocation schemes, *Top*, 10(1): 83–99.

#### Statistical analysis of biological data

- [27] S. Stigliani, S. Moretti, P. Anserini1, I. Casciano1, P.L. Venturini, P. Scaruffi (2015) Storage time does not modify the gene expression profile of cryopreserved human metaphase II oocytes. *Human Reproduction* 30(11):2519-26.
- [28] F. Valdora, B. Banelli, S. Stigliani, S.M. Pfister, S. Moretti S, M. Kool, M. Remke, A.H. Bai, C. Brigati, T. Hielscher, M. Romani, T. Servidei, M. Zollo, G. Cinalli, A. Oberthuer, G.P.. Tonini, S. Coco (2013) Epigenetic Silencing of DKK3 in Medulloblastoma, *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14(4):7492– 7505.
- [29] S. Coco, J. Theissen, P. Scaruffi, S. Stigliani, S. Moretti, A. Oberthuer, F. Valdora, M. Fischer, F. Gallo, B. Hero, S. Bonassi, F. Berthold, and G. Tonini (2012) Age-dependent accumulation of genomic aberrations and deregulation of cell cycle and telomerase genes in metastatic neuroblastoma, *International Journal of Cancer*, 131(7):1591–1600.
- [30] M. Cutolo, B. Villaggio, R. Brizzolara, P. Montagna, F. Gallo, S. Moretti, S. Bonassi, A. Sulli, and S. Soldano (2011) Identification and quantification of selected inflammatory genes modulated by leflunomide and prednisone treatment in early rheumatoid arthritis patients, *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*, 29(1):72-79.
- [31] P. Scaruffi, F. Morandi, F. Gallo, S. Stigliani, S. Parodi, S. Moretti, S. Bonassi, P. Fardin, A. Garaventa, G. Zanazzo, V. Pistoia, G. Tonini, and M.V. Corrias Bone marrow of neuroblastoma patients shows downregulation of cxcl12 expression and presence of ifn signature, *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 59(1):44–51.

- [32] S. Stigliani, S. Coco, S. Moretti, A. Oberthuer, M. Fischer, J. Theissen, F. Gallo, A. Garaventa, F. Berthold, S. Bonassi, G. Tonini, and P. Scaruffi (2012) High genomic instability predicts survival in metastatic high-risk neuroblastoma, *Neoplasia*, 14:823–832.
- [33] F. Morandi, P. Scaruffi, F. Gallo, S. Stigliani, S. Moretti, S. Bonassi, C. Gambini, K. Mazzocco, P. Fardin, R. Haupt, G. Arcamone, V. Pistoia, G. Tonini, and M.V. Corrias (2012) Bone marrow-infiltrating human neuroblastoma cells express high levels of calprotectin and hla-g proteins, *PloS one*, 7(1):e29922.
- [34] D. Albino, A. Brizzolara, S. Moretti, C. Falugi, V. Mirisola, P. Scaruffi, M. Di Candia, M. Truini, S. Coco, S. Bonassi, G.P. Tonini (2011) Gene expression profiling identifies eleven dna repair genes down-regulated during mouse neural crest cell migration, *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, 55(1):65–72.
- [35] M. Cutolo, B. Villaggio, C. Pizzorni, S. Paolino, S. Moretti, F. Gallo, S. Bonassi, A. Sulli, B. Seriolo, P. Montagna, S. Soldano (2010) Inflammatory gene profile in early rheumatoid arthritis and modulation by leflunomide and prednisone treatment, Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1193(1):15-21.
- [36] P. Scaruffi, S. Stigliani, S. Moretti, S. Coco, C. De Vecchi, F. Valdora, A. Garaventa, S. Bonassi, and G. Tonini (2009) Transcribed-ultra conserved region expression is associated with outcome in high-risk neuroblastoma, *BMC cancer*, 9(1):441.
- [37] D. Albino, P. Scaruffi, S. Moretti, S. Coco, M. Truini, C. Di Cristofano, A. Cavazzana, S. Stigliani, S. Bonassi, G.P. Tonini (2008) Identification of low intratumoral gene expression heterogeneity in neuroblastic tumors by genome-wide expression analysis and game theory, *Cancer*, 113(6):1412–1422.
- [38] P. Fardin, S. Moretti, B. Biasotti, A. Ricciardi, S. Bonassi, L. Varesio (2007) Normalization of lowdensity microarray using external spike-in controls: analysis of macrophage cell lines expression profile, *BMC Genomics* 8(17), 2007.
- [39] P. Scaruffi, S. Moretti, S. Coco, K. Mazzocco, Raffaella Deferrrari, Domenico Albino, S. Bonassi, Gian P. Tonini (2006) Oligonucleotide array-based Comparative Genomic Hybridization profiling in primary neuroblastoma tumours, *Cancer Genomics and Proteomics*, 3, 245–252.
- [40] S. Coco, Raffaella Deferrrari, P. Scaruffi, Andrea Cavazzana, L. Longo, K. Mazzocco, Patrizia Perri, Gambini Claudio, S. Moretti, S. Bonassi, Gian P. Tonini (2005) Genome analysis and gene expression profiling of neuroblastoma (Schwannian stroma-poor) and ganglioneuroblastoma intermixed (Schwannian stroma-rich) cell subpopulations reveal a different degree of DN, Journal of Pathology, 207: 346–357.
- [41] P. Forcheri, M.T. Molfino, S. Moretti, A. Quarati (2003) Designing ICT-based training systems for the water industry, *Innovations in Education and Training International*, 40(3): 291–302.
- [42] S. Moretti (2001) Many strange faecal pellets crowd the Antarctic Sea water. A biomathematical approach to explain the mystery, International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology, 32(5): 661–675, 2001.

#### International Conference Proceedings (Peer-reviewed)

- [43] E. Bonzon, N. Maudet, S. Moretti (2014) Coalitional games for abstract argumentation. In Proceedings International Conference on Computational Models of Argument (COMMA'14).
- [44] B. Escoffier, D. Ferraioli, L. Gourvès, and S. Moretti. (2013). Designing Budget-Balanced Best-Response Mechanisms for Network Coordination Games. In Proceedings of the 6th International Symposium on Algorithmic Game Theory (SAGT 2013), Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 207–218.
- [45] X. Misseri, S. Moretti, and J.L. Rougier (2013) Auction-type framework for selling inter-domain paths. In Advanced Internet Charging and QoS Technology (ICQT 2013), Associated Workshop of IEEE CNSM 2013, Zurich, Switzerland, pp. 8. pdf version available here
- [46] S. Moretti and A. Tsoukiàs (2012) Ranking sets of possibly interacting objects using shapley extensions. In G. Brewka, T. Eiter, and S. A. McIlraith, editors, 13th International Conference on Principles of Knowledge Representation and Reasoning (KR 2012). AAAI Press, 199–209.

- [47] B. Escoffier, L. Gourves, J. Monnot, and S. Moretti (2012) Cost allocation protocols for network formation on connection situations. In *Performance Evaluation Methodologies and Tools (VALUETOOLS)*, 2012 6th International Conference on, pages 228-234. pdf version available here
- [48] A. Bianzino, C. Chaudet, S. Moretti, J. Rougier, L. Chiaraviglio, and E. Le Rouzic (2012) Enabling sleep mode in backbone ip-networks: a criticality-driven tradeoff. In *IEEE ICC'12 Workshop on Green Communications and Networking.* pdf version available here
- [49] A. Bianzino, C. Chaudet, D. Rossi, J. Rougier, and S. Moretti (2011) The green-game: striking a balance between qos and energy saving In *Proceedings of the 23rd International Teletraffic Congress*, pages 262–269. ITCP. pdf version available here
- [50] S. Moretti (2006) Minimum cost spanning tree games and gene expression data analysis, ACM International Conference Proceeding Series.
- [51] S. Tijs, S. Moretti, R. Branzei, H. Norde (2006) The Bird core for minimum cost spanning tree problems revisited: monotonicity and additivity aspects, Recent Advances in Optimization, *Lectures Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems*, 563(), pages 305–322.
- [52] G. Dettori, P. Forcheri, M.T. Molfino, S. Moretti, A. Quarati (2002) Shaping teacher preparation content according to emerging pedagogical paradigms, In *Proceedings International Conference on Computers in Education*, 1044–1050.
- [53] P. Forcheri, M.T. Molfino, S. Moretti, A. Quarati (2001) Building reusable and adaptable web-based courses, *Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence series*, 2198, 562–567.

#### National journals and conferences

- [54] S. Moretti (2016) An application of the inverse power index problem to the design of the PSL electoral college. Actes des 10eme Journées d'Intelligence Artificielle Fondamentale (IAF 2016)
- [55] G. Lortal, S. Deparis, C. Laudy, S. Moretti, J. Mattioli (2013) Un bouquet de théories pour une plateforme de décision stratégique à base de réseaux sociaux Proceedings Plateforme IA - IC2013.
- [56] S. Moretti and F. Patrone (2009) Il metodo assiomatico in teoria dei giochi. Lettera Matematica Pristem, (70-71):33-44.
- [57] G.P. Tonini, S. Moretti, Così la Teoria dei Giochi stana i neuroblastomi (2009) Il sole 24 ore, inserto Sanità. Anno XI, 39, 12-13. (Papier en Italien).

#### **Books chapters**

- [58] D. Ferraioli, L. Gourvès, S. Moretti, F. Pascual, O. Spanjaard (2014) Combinatorial Optimization with Competing Agents, 675-706. *Paradigms of Combinatorial Optimization*, 2nd Edition, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., editor(s)
- [59] S. Moretti, M. Öztürk, and A. Tsoukiàs (2016) Preference modelling. Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis: State of the Art Surveys, 43-95.
- [60] L. Gourvès and S. Moretti (2012) Combinatorial optimization problems arising from interactive congestion situations, In R. Mahjoub, editor, Progress in Combinatorial Optimization, 223–233. Addison Wesley.
- [61] A. Dinar, S. Moretti, F. Patrone, S. Zara (2006) Application of Stochastic Cooperative Games in Water Resources, In: Frontiers in Water Resource Economics, Natural Resource Management and Policy, 29: 1–20.
- [62] S. Moretti (2004) A model for cooperative inter-municipal waste collection: cost evaluation toward fair cost allocation, Game Practice and Environment, Edward Elgar Publishing. C.Carraro and V.Fragnelli, editor(s), 125–144.
- [63] S. Moretti, F. Patrone (2002) Teoria dei Giochi e Indici di Potere, (in Italian) "Matematica e innovazione curricolare nella scuola superiore - Ricerca e Formazione", Istituto Regionale di Ricerca Educativa (IRRE), P. Gentilini, editor(s), 69–108.

#### Dissertations

- [64] S. Moretti (2008) Cost Allocation Problems Arising from Connection Situations in an Interactive Cooperative Setting. PhD Thesis, CentER, Tilburg University. (ISBN 978 90 5668 218 7).
- [65] S. Moretti (2006) Game Theory applied to gene expression analysis, PhD Dissertation, University of Genoa, Italy.

#### Working papers

- [66] G. Cesari, E. Algaba, S. Moretti, J.A. Nepomuceno (2016) A game theoretic neighborhood-based relevance index to evaluate nodes in gene co-expression networks (submitted to an international journal).
- [67] F. Fossati, S. Moretti, S. Secci (2016) Mood Value: A Game-Theoretic Fair Resource Allocation Concept (submitted to an international conference).
- [68] G. Cesari, F. Fossati, S. Moretti (2016) A conflict index for arguments in an argumentation graph, Working paper.
- [69] S.Moretti (2016) On the core of coalitional games arising from cooperative link situations. Working paper.
- [70] G. Cesari, R. Lucchetti, S. Moretti (2015) Generalized Additive Games. Cahier du Lamsade n. 364, 18 pp.
- [71] G. Cesari, R. Lucchetti, S. Moretti (2016) Solutions for Generalized Additive Games, working paper.
- [72] S. Moretti, K. Öztürk (2015) On social rankings and their properties. Cahier du Lamsade n. 368, 15 pp.
- [73] M. De Mariano, S. Stigliani, S. Moretti, G.P. Tonini, L. Longo (2015) Identification of miRNAs involved in the regulation of ALK expression in neuroblastoma, working paper.
- [74] S. Moretti, S. Tijs, R. Branzei, H. Norde 2005) Cost monotonic 'construct and charge' rules for connection situations, CentER for Economic Research Discussion Papers, Tilburg University, The Netherlands n.104.
- [75] P. Forcheri, M.T. Molfino, S. Moretti (2003) Supporting innovation in the water industry training via collaboration between universities, research institutions, industries: the MAQUA project, 2003 XXX IHAR conference, Thessaloniki, Greece, August 24-29 2003.
- [76] A. Bianzino, C. Chaudet, D. Rossi, J. Rougier, and S. Moretti (2010) The Green-Game: Further Results and Discussions. Technical Report, Telecom ParisTECH.
- [77] L. Sacconi, S. Moretti (2002) Fuzzy Norms, Default Reasoning and Equilibrium Selection in Games under Unforeseen Contingencies and Incomplete Knowledge, Liuc Papers, Serie Etica, Diritto ed Economia, n.104.

# Other papers cited in this monograph (and not co-authored by me)

- [78] Ackermann H., Goldberg P., Mirrokni V., Röglin H., Vöcking B. (2008) A unified approach to congestion games and two-sided markets. *Internet Mathematics*, 5(4):439-457, 2008.
- [79] Alon N., Edelman P.H. (2010) The inverse Banzhaf problem. Social Choice and Welfare, 34(3), 371-377.
- [80] Amer R., Giménez J. M. (2004) A connectivity game for graphs. Mathematical Methods of Operations Research, 60(3), 453-470.
- [81] Angel E., Bampis E., Blin L., Gourvès L. (2006) Fair cost-sharing methods for the minimum spanning tree game. *Information Processing Letters*, 100, 29-35.
- [82] Aumann R.J., Hart S. (1992) Handbook of game theory with economic applications. Elsevier.
- [83] Aumann R.J., Maschler M. (1985). Game theoretic analysis of a bankruptcy problem from the Talmud. Journal of Economic Theory, 36(2), 195-213.

- [84] Aziz H., Lachish O., Paterson M., Savani R. (2009) Wiretapping a hidden network. In: Internet and Network Economics, pp. 438-446. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [85] Aziz H., Paterson M., Leech D. (2007) Efficient algorithm for designing weighted voting games. In: Multitopic Conference (INMIC 2007) IEEE International, pp. 1-6.
- [86] Banzhaf III J.F. (1964) Weighted voting doesn't work: A mathematical analysis. Rutgers Law Review, 19, 317.
- [87] Barberà S., Barrett C.R., Pattanaik P.K. (1984) On some axioms for ranking sets of alternatives. Journal of Economic Theory, 33, 301-308.
- [88] Barberà S., Bossert W., Pattanaik P. K. (2004) Ranking sets of objects, in S. Barberà, P.J. Hammond, Ch. Seidl (eds.), Handbook of Utility Theory, Vol. 2, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- [89] Bavelas A. (1948) A mathematical model for small group structures. Human Organization, 7, 16-30.
- [90] Bilbao J.M., Fernandez Garcia J.R., Lopez J.J. (2001) Nice rules and voting power in the 27-European Union, Notebook available at: http://www.esi2.us.es/mbilbao/notebook/eu27nice.pdf
- [91] Beauchamp M. (1965) An improved index of centrality. Behavioral Science, 10, 161-163.
- [92] Bergañtinos G., Vidal-Puga J.J. (2007) The optimistic TU game in minimum cost spanning tree problems. International Journal of Game Theory, 36, 223-239.
- [93] Bergantiños G., Lorenzo L. (2004). A non-cooperative approach to the cost spanning tree problem. Mathematical Methods of Operations Research, 59(3), 393-403.
- [94] Bird C.G. (1976) On cost allocation for a spanning tree: a game theoretic approach. Networks, 6, 335-350.
- [95] Bonacich P. (1972) Factoring and weighting approaches to status scores and clique identification. Journal of Mathematical Sociology, 2, 113-120.
- [96] Borgatti S., Jones C., Everett M. (1998) Network Measures of Social Capital. Connections, 21(2), 27-36
- [97] Borm, P., Hamers, H., Hendrickx, R. (2001) Operations research games: A survey. Top, 9(2), 139-199.
- [98] Bossert W. (1995) Preference extension rules for ranking sets of alternatives with a fixed cardinality. Theory and Decision, 39, 301-317.
- [99] Bossert W., Pattanaik P.K., Xu Y. (1994) Ranking opportunity sets: an axiomatic approach. Journal of Economic Theory, 63, 326-345.
- [100] Branzei, R., Fragnelli V., Tijs S. (2002) Tree-connected peer group situations and peer group games. Mathematical Methods of Operations Research, 55(1), 93-106.
- [101] Branzei R., Solymosi T., Tijs S. (2002) Type monotonic allocation schemes for multi-glove games. CentER DP 2002-117, Tilburg University, The Netherlands.
- [102] Carreras F., Freixas J. (1999) Some theoretical reasons for using (regular) semivalues. In: H. de Swart, editor, Logic, Game Theory and Social Choice, pp. 140-154. Tilburg University Press, 1999.
- [103] Carreras F., Freixas J. (2000) A note on regular semivalues. International Game Theory Review, 2(4):345-352.
- [104] Carreras F, Freixas J. (2009) On ordinal equivalence of power measures given by regular semivalues. Mathematical Social Sciences, 55(2):221-234.
- [105] Chiaraviglio L., Mellia M., Neri F. (2009) Reducing Power Consumption in Backbone Networks. In: IEEE ICC'09, Dresden.
- [106] Claus A., Kleitman D.J. (1973) Cost allocation for a spanning tree. Networks, 3, 289-304.
- [107] Coleman J.S. (1990) Foundations of Social Theory. Harvard University Press, Cambridge MA, USA.

- [108] Curiel I., Hamers H., Tijs S., Potters J. (1997) Restricted component additive games. Mathematical methods of operations research, 45(2), 213-220.
- [109] Curiel I., Potters J., Prasad R., Tijs S., Veltman B. (1993) Cooperation in one machine scheduling. Zeitschrift fur Operations Research, 38(2), 113-129.
- [110] Dubey P., Neyman A., Weber R.J. (1981) Value theory without efficiency. Mathematics of Operations Research 6(1): 122-128.
- [111] Dung P.M. (1995) On the acceptability of arguments and its fundamental role in nonmonotonic reasoning, logic programming and n-person games. Artificial Intelligence, 77, 321–357.
- [112] Easley D., Kleinberg J. (2010) Networks, Crowds, and Markets: Reasoning about a Highly Connected World. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- [113] Esteban F.J., Wall D.P. (2011). Using game theory to detect genes involved in Autism Spectrum Disorder. Top, 19(1), 121-129.
- [114] Fagnocchi L., Bottini S., Golfieri G., Fantappiè L., Ferlicca F., Antunes A., Guadagnuolo S., Del Tordello E., Siena E., Serruto D., Scarlato V., Muzzi A., Delany I. (2015). Global Transcriptome Analysis Reveals Small RNAs Affecting Neisseria meningitidis Bacteremia. *PloS one*, 10(5), e0126325.
- [115] Feltkamp, V. (1995) Cooperation in controlled network structures, PhD Dissertation, Tilburg University, The Netherlands.
- [116] Feltkamp V., Tijs S., Muto S. (2000) Bird's tree allocations revisited. Game Practice: Contributions from Applied Game Theory. Springer US. 75-89.
- [117] Ferraioli D., Goldberg P.W., Ventre C. (2012) Decentralized dynamics for finite opinion games. In: Algorithmic Game Theory (pp. 144-155). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [118] Fishburn P.C. (1992) Signed orders and power set extensions. Journal of Economic Theory, 56, 1-19.
- [119] Freeman L.C. (1977) A Set of Measures of Centrality Based on Betweenness. Sociometry 40, 35–41.
- [120] Freixas J. (2010) On ordinal equivalence of the Shapley and Banzhaf values for cooperative games. International Journal of Game Theory, 39(4):513-527, 2010.
- [121] Gale D., Shapley L. S. (1962). College admissions and the stability of marriage. American mathematical monthly, 9-15.
- [122] Geist C., Endriss U. (2011) Automated Search for Impossibility Theorems in Social Choice Theory: Ranking Sets of Objects. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, 40, 143-174.
- [123] Golub T., Slonim D., Tamayo P., Huard C., Gaasenbeek M., Mesirov J., Coller H., Loh M., Downing J., Caligiuri M., Bloomfield C., Lander E. (1999) Molecular classification of cancer: class discovery and class prediction by gene expression monitoring. *Science*, 286, 531-537.
- [124] González-Arangüena E., Khmelnitskaya A.B., Manuel C., del Pozo M. (2011) A social capital index. In Numerical analysis and applied mathematics ICNAAM, AIP Conference Proceedings, pages 2041-2043.
- [125] Gourvès L., Monnot J. (2008) Three selfish spanning tree games. Internet and Network Economics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. 465-476.
- [126] Grabisch M. (2000) Fuzzy integral for classification and feature extraction, In: Grabisch, M., Murofushi, T. and Sugeno, M. (eds), *Fuzzy measures and integrals: theory and applications*, Physica-Verlag, New York, 415-434.
- [127] Grabisch M., Roubens M. (1999) An axiomatic approach to the concept of interaction among players in cooperative games, *International Journal of Game Theory* 28, 547–565.
- [128] Granot D., Huberman G. (1981) On minimum cost spanning tree games. Mathematical Programming, 21, 1-18.

- [129] Holler M.J. (1982) Forming coalitions and measuring voting power. *Political studies* 30(2): 262-271.
- [130] Hougaard J.L., Moulin H. (2014) Sharing the cost of redundant items. Games and Economic Behavior, 87: 339-352.
- [131] Jeong H., Mason S.P., Barabási A.-L., Oltvai Z.N. (2001) Lethality and centrality in protein networks. *Nature*, 411, 41-42.
- [132] Kannai Y., Peleg B. (1981) A note on the extension of an order on a set to the power set. Journal of Economic Theory, 32, 172-175.
- [133] Kargin, V. (2005) Uncertainty of the Shapley value. International Game Theory Review, 33, 959-976.
- [134] Koster M. (1999) Cost sharing in production situations and network exploitation. Ph. D. thesis, Tilburg University, Tilburg, The Netherlands.
- [135] Kreps D.M. (1979) A representation theorem for preference for flexibility. *Econometrica*, 47, 565-577.
- [136] Kruskal J.B. (1956) On the shortest spanning subtree of a graph and the traveling salesman problem. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 7, 48-50.
- [137] Leech D., Leech R. (2005). Computer Algorithms for Voting Power Analysis. Program *ipnice*. University of Warwick, http://www. warwick. ac. uk/ecaae.
- [138] Lindelauf R.H.A., Hamers H.J.M., Husslage B.G.M. (2013) Cooperative game theoretic centrality analysis of terrorist networks: The cases of jemaah islamiyah and al qaeda. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 229(1), 230-238.
- [139] Littlechild S.C., Owen G. (1973) A simple expression for the Shapley value in a special case. Management Science, 20, 370-372.
- [140] Littlechild S.C., Thompson G.F. (1977). Aircraft landing fees: a game theory approach. Bell Journal of Economics, 8, 186-204.
- [141] Lochner K., Kawachi I., Kennedy B. P. (1999) Social capital: a guide to its measurement. Health & place, 5(4), 259-270.
- [142] Lucchetti R., Radrizzani P., Munarini E. (2010) A new family of regular semivalues and applications. International Journal of Game Theory, 40(4):1-21.
- [143] Maschler M. (1963) The power of a coalition. Management Science, 10,8-29.
- [144] Maschler M., Solan E., Zamir S. (2013) Game Theory. Cambridge University press.
- [145] Michalak, T.P., Aadithya K. V., Szczepanski P. L., Ravindran B., Jennings N.R. (2013). Efficient computation of the Shapley value for game-theoretic network centrality. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, 607-650.
- [146] Milchtaich I. (1996) Congestion games with player-specific payoff functions. Games and Economic Behavior, 13(1):111-124.
- [147] Monderer D., Shapley L. (1996) Potential games. Games and Economic Behavior, 14:124-143.
- [148] Moulin H. (1991) Axioms of cooperative decision making. Cambridge University Press.
- [149] Moulin H., Laigret F. (2011) Equal-need sharing of a network under connectivity constraints. Games and Economic Behavior, 72(1), 314-320.
- [150] Myerson R.B. (1977) Graphs and cooperation in games. Mathematics of operations research, 2(3), 225-229.
- [151] Myerson R.B. (2013) Game theory. Harvard university press.
- [152] Nisan N., Roughgarden T., Tardos E., Vazirani V.V., eds. (2007) Algorithmic game theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- [153] Nisan N., Schapira M., Valiant G., Zohar A. (2011). Best-Response Mechanisms. In: Proceedings of the 2nd Symp. on Innovations in Computer Science (ICS), pp. 155-165.
- [154] Nitzan S., Pattanaik P.K. (1984) Median-based extensions of an ordering over a set to the power set: an axiomatic characterization. *Journal of Economic Theory*, 34, 1984, 252-261.
- [155] Osborne M.J., Rubinstein A. (1994) A course in game theory. MIT press.
- [156] Owen G. (1977) Values of games with a priori unions. In: Mathematical economics and game theory, pp. 76-88, Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [157] Owen G. (1986). Values of graph-restricted games. SIAM Journal on Algebraic Discrete Methods, 7(2), 210-220.
- [158] Owen, G. (1995) *Game Theory*. 3rd edn. Academic Press.
- [159] Parmigiani G., Garret E.S., Irizarry R.A., Scott S.L. (2003) The analysis of gene expression data: an overview of Methods and Software. In: The analysis of gene expression data: methods and software, G. Parmigiani, E.S. Garrett, R.A. Irizarry, S.L. Zeger. Springer (ed.), New York.
- [160] Peters H. (2015). Game theory: A Multi-leveled approach. Springer.
- [161] Petrosjan L.A., Zaccour G. (2003) Time-consistent Shapley Value Allocation of Pollution Cost Reduction. Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, 27, 381-398.
- [162] Piccione M., Razin R. (2009) Coalition formation under power relations. Theoretical Economics, 4(1), 1-15.
- [163] Prim R.C. (1957) Shortest connection networks and some generalizations. Bell Systems Technical Journal, 36, 1389-1401.
- [164] PSL (2015) Internal Regulations of the ComUE (Reglement Interieur de la ComUE), Université de Recherche Paris Sciences & Lettres - PSL Research University. https://www.univpsl.fr/sites/psl.service/files/psl-reglement-interieur.pdf
- [165] Puppe C. (1996) An axiomatic approach for preferences for freedom of choice. Journal of Economic Theory, 68, 174-199.
- [166] Rosenthal R. (1973) A class of games possessing pure-strategy Nash equilibria. International Journal of Game Theory, 2, 65-67.
- [167] R Development Core Team (2008). R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- [168] Roth A.E. (1985) The college admissions problem is not equivalent to the marriage problem. Journal of Economic Theory, 36, 277-288.
- [169] Rybski D., Buldyrev S.V., Havlin S., Liljeros F., Makse H.A. (2009) Scaling laws of human interaction activity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(31), 12640-12645
- [170] Shapley L.S. (1953). A Value for n-Person Games. In: Contributions to the Theory of Games II (Annals of Mathematics Studies 28), H. W. Kuhn and A. W. Tucker (ed.), Princeton University Press, 307-317.
- [171] Shapley L.S., Shubik M. (1954). A method for evaluating the distribution of power in a committee system. American Political Science Review, 48(03), 787-792.
- [172] Shaw M.E. (1954) Group structure and the behaviour of individuals in small groups. *Journal of Psychology*, 38, 139-149.
- [173] Sprumont Y. (1990) Population monotonic allocation schemes for cooperative games with transferable utility. Games and Economic Behavior, 2, 378-394.
- [174] Steering Committee PSL (2015) Reporting of the PSL Steering Committee meeting held on 21 April 2015. (compte rendu de la réunion du Comité de Pilotage de la ComUE PSL du 21 Avril 2015).

- [175] Stuart J. M., Segal E., Koller D., Kim S. K. (2003) A gene-coexpression network for global discovery of conserved genetic modules. *Science*, 302(5643), 249-255.
- [176] Szabó P.M., Pintér M., Szabó D. R., Zsippai A., Patócs A., Falus A., Rácz K., Iga, P. (2012) Integrative analysis of neuroblastoma and pheochromocytoma genomics data. BMC medical genomics, 5(1), 1.
- [177] Voorneveld M., Tijs S., Grahn S. (2002) Monotonic allocation schemes in clan games. Mathematical Methods of Operations Research, 56, 439-449.
- [178] Voß S., Schneidereit G. (2002) Interdependencies between Supply Contracts and Transaction Costs. Cost Management in Supply Chains, S. Seuring and M. Goldbach (Eds.), Springer, Berlin, pp. 255-274.
- [179] Weber R. (1988) Probabilistic values for games. In C. U. Press, editor, The Shapley Value. Essays in Honor of Lloyd S. Shapley, pages 101-119.
- [180] Wolfram Research, Inc. (2015) Mathematica, Version 10.3, Champaign, IL.
- [181] Yaman H., Karasan O.E., Pinar M. (2001) The robust spanning tree problem with interval data. Operations Research Letters, 29, 31-40.